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Court File No.

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF
SANDVINE CORPORATION, SANDVINE HOLDINGS UK LIMITED, PROCERA
NETWORKS, INC., PROCERA HOLDING, INC., NEW PROCERA GP COMPANY, and
SANDVINE OP (UK) LTD.

Applicants

NOTICE OF APPLICATION
TO THE RESPONDENT(S):

A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED by the Applicants. The claim
made by the Applicants appear on the following page.

THIS APPLICATION will come on for a hearing

[ ] In writing

[]In person

[] By telephone conference
X By video conference

at the following location:

https://ca01web.zoom.us/j/659798759397pwd=VVRIJZHVVRWQ1cGdkRERtTGpRajN
FUTO09

on November 7, 2024 at 8:00AM EST.

IF YOU WISH TO OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION, to receive notice of any step in the
application or to be served with any documents in the application, you or an Ontario lawyer acting
for you must forthwith prepare a notice of appearance in Form 38A prescribed by the Rules of
Civil Procedure, serve it on the Applicants’ lawyer or, where the Applicants do not have a lawyer,
serve it on the Applicants, and file it, with proof of service, in this court office, and you or your
lawyer must appear at the hearing.


https://ca01web.zoom.us/j/65979875939?pwd=VVRJZHVVRWQ1cGdkRERtTGpRajNFUT09
https://ca01web.zoom.us/j/65979875939?pwd=VVRJZHVVRWQ1cGdkRERtTGpRajNFUT09

12

IF YOU WISH TO PRESENT AFFIDAVIT OR OTHER DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE
TO THE COURT OR TO EXAMINE OR CROSS-EXAMINE WITNESSES ON THE
APPLICATION, you or your lawyer must, in addition to serving your notice of appearance, serve
a copy of the evidence on the Applicants’ lawyer or, where the Applicants do not have a lawyer,
serve it on the Applicants, and file it, with proof of service, in the court office where the application
is to be heard as soon as possible, but at least four days before the hearing.

IF YOU FAIL TO APPEAR AT THE HEARING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN IN
YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU. IF YOU WISH TO
OPPOSE THIS APPLICATION BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL FEES, LEGAL AID
MAY BE AVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCAL LEGAL AID OFFICE.

Date Issued by

Local Registrar
Address of  Superior Court of Justice
court office: 330 University Avenue, 9th Floor
Toronto ON MS5G IR7

TO: SERVICE LIST
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APPLICATION

1. The Applicants make application for an Order substantially in the form attached as Tab 2

of the Application Record (the “Initial Order”’), among other things:

(2)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

abridging the time for service of this notice of application and dispensing with

service on any person other than those served;

declaring that the Applicants are parties to which the Companies’ Creditors

Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the “CCAA”) applies;

appointing KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”) as an officer of this Court to monitor
the assets, businesses and affairs of the Applicants (in such capacity, the

“Monitor”);

staying all proceedings against the Applicants, the Monitor, and their respective
employees, advisors and representatives acting in such capacities, staying all
proceedings against the Applicants’ and Procera II LP’s directors, officers and
managers, and extending the benefit of the stay of proceedings and the protections
and authorizations of the Initial Order to Procera II LP (collectively with the
Applicants and certain non-filing entities, “Sandvine” or the “Company”), for an

initial 10-day period (the “Initial Stay Period”);

extending the stay of proceedings and certain other protections of the Initial Order

to the Non-Applicant Stay Parties (defined below);



®

(2

(h)
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approving the engagement of GLC Advisors & Co., LLC and GLC Securities, LLC

(collectively, “GLC”) as the independent financial advisor to the Company;

approving (i) Amendment No. 1 to the Super Senior Credit Agreement, dated as of
November 6, 2024, by and among Sandvine Corporation (“Sandvine Canada™)
and Procera Networks, Inc. (“Procera US”), as borrowers, and the lenders party
thereto (the “First DDTL Amendment”) and (ii) the Super-Senior Debtor-in-
Possession Credit Agreement between Sandvine Canada and Procera US, as
borrowers, Procera II LP, as ultimate parent, the Specified Term Lenders (as
defined in the DIP Credit Agreement), the Delayed Draw DIP Term Lenders (as
defined in the DIP Credit Agreement) (the “DIP Lenders”), Seaport Loan Products
LLC, as co-administrative agent, and Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as co-
administrative agent and collateral agent, dated as of October 2, 2024 and amended
by the First DDTL Amendment on November 6, 2024 (the “DIP Credit

Agreement”);

granting the following priority charges over the Property (as defined in the Initial

Order), listed in order of priority:

(1) a charge as security for the respective fees and disbursements of the
proposed Monitor, its Canadian and U.S. counsel, Canadian and U.S.
counsel to the Applicants and GLC (in respect of GLC, solely to the extent
of the Monthly Advisory Fees, as defined in GLC’s engagement letter), in

the maximum amount of US $2.5 million (the “Administration Charge”);



(1)

W)

(k)
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(i1) a charge in favour of the directors, managers and officers of the Applicants
and Procera II LP in the amount of US $4.4 million (the “Directors’

Charge”); and

(iii)  a charge in favour of the DIP Lenders as security for the DIP Facility
(defined below) in the aggregate amount of the DIP Obligations (as defined
in the Initial Order), although the Applicants will not be permitted to draw

down on the DIP Facility until after the Comeback Hearing;

authorizing, but not requiring, the Applicants and Procera II LP to pay certain pre-
filing amounts, with the consent of the Monitor, to the Applicants’ and Procera 11

LP’s critical suppliers;

authorizing Sandvine Canada to act as the foreign representative of the Applicants
in respect of the within proceeding for the purpose of having these CCAA
proceedings recognized and approved in a jurisdiction outside of Canada and
authorizing Sandvine Canada to apply for recognition of these proceedings and
related relief, as necessary, in any jurisdiction outside of Canada, including in the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas (Dallas Division)
pursuant to chapter 15 of title 11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy

Code”), 11 U.S.C. §§ 101-1532; and

such further and other relief as this Honourable Court may deem just.
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2. The grounds for the application are:'
General

(a) the Applicants are insolvent;

(b) the Applicants are companies to which the CCAA applies;

(©) the claims against the Applicants exceed $5 million;

(d) Sandvine is a Canadian application and network optimization company that
provides quality of experience analysis and performance optimization software
applications to its customers. Sandvine’s software products allow its customers to
understand the applications (“apps”), app categories and content categories that its
customers’ end users are engaging with, without decrypting user content.
Sandvine’s customers use that metadata to classify network traffic, enhance
network connectivity, counter threats to network security, and optimize app
“quality of experience”;

(e) Sandvine’s technology facilitates internet access for hundreds of millions of people

1

around the world, and any interruption in Sandvine’s services would have serious
implications for the continuity and security of services provided by Sandvine’s
customers, which include many of the largest internet service providers in Canada

and around the world;

Capitalized terms not otherwise defined have the meanings given to them in the Initial Affidavit of Jeffrey A.

Kupp sworn on November 6, 2024.
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Sandvine Canada is a private company incorporated under the laws of the Province
of British Columbia and headquartered in Waterloo, Ontario. The other Applicants

include corporations located in the UK, the United States and the Cayman Islands;

Sandvine Canada holds the majority of the Company’s assets (including its crucial
IP assets), employs the majority of the Company’s North American employees,
generates approximately two thirds of the Company’s revenue, contracts with
approximately 69% of the Company’s customers, issues all customer invoices for
the Company, and receives the majority of the Company’s customer receipts into
its Canadian bank accounts. The majority of the Company’s Accounting and A/R
team (which team is shared globally) and the Company’s general counsel are

located in Canada;

Procera II LP, a limited partnership registered in the Cayman Islands, is a guarantor
under Sandvine’s credit facilities and the ultimate parent company of the Sandvine

operating entities;

all of the Applicants are either borrowers or guarantors under Sandvine’s credit

facilities (or general partners of such guarantors);

on February 27, 2024, Sandvine Canada, certain of the other Applicants and Non-
Applicant Stay Parties were designated on the U.S. Department of Commerce’s
Entity List (the “Entity List”), which restricted Sandvine’s ability to procure from
its vendors and suppliers the hardware, software, and technology critical to its core

business operations;



(k)

)

(m)
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immediately after the Entity List designation, Sandvine applied for, and on March
28, 2024 was granted, emergency authorization by the U.S. Department of
Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security (“BIS”), which provided interim
relief from certain impacts of the Entity List designation so that Sandvine could
receive software and technology that was subject to export restrictions. The
emergency authorization was due to expire on September 30, 2024, and was

subsequently extended to December 31, 2024;

on May 1, 2024, Sandvine submitted a proposal for removal from the Entity List;

in conjunction with these requests and ongoing discussions with BIS, the Company
has reoriented its business model and will cease to operate in non-democratic

countries or countries where the threat to digital rights is too high;

Sandvine has exited over 30 countries and is in the process of over 20 more that it
has deemed as high-risk jurisdictions, and is making several other significant
changes to its governance and business model, in consultation with BIS and other

interagency partners of the U.S. government;

on October 23, 2024, Sandvine was removed from the Entity List;

Sandvine’s business has been materially impacted by the Entity List designation,
as (1) the countries that Sandvine has exited and is in the process of exiting represent
approximately 45% of Sandvine’s 2023 revenue and (ii) certain customers in
jurisdictions with a strong record of internet freedom and rule of law protections

have paused new orders as a result of the Entity List designation. Overall Sandvine
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(1)

19

projects its top line to be reduced by approximately 50% compared to its 2023
revenue due to the impact of country exits and estimated customer attrition related

to the Entity List dynamic;

in light of certain potential defaults in its debt documents stemming from the Entity
List designation and related adverse impacts, earlier this year Sandvine negotiated
a reorganization with its Lenders pursuant to which the Lenders: (i) became the
indirect owners of Sandvine and (ii) agreed to significantly reduce Sandvine’s
funded debt obligations by approximately US $92 million (the “June 2024

Reorganization”);

despite the June 2024 Reorganization, the Company remained overleveraged and
required additional funding in the short term, as well as a plan to address the
significant and necessary operational restructuring of its business. As such, the
Company and the Existing Loan Lenders negotiated agreements regarding the

further financing and restructuring of the Company which provide for:

(1) US $45 million in new money financing under a DDTL Facility, plus a
commitment to provide any undrawn portion of such financing in the event
of any court-supervised restructuring proceedings as a debtor-in-possession

facility (the “DIP Facility”);

11 a restructuring support agreement with approximate o of the
(i1) ing support ag (“RSA”) with approximately 97% of th

Existing Loan Lenders (the “Consenting Stakeholders”);
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(iii)  such Existing Loan Lenders’ agreement to forbear from exercising any
rights to enforce default remedies under Sandvine’s First Lien Credit

Agreement and other debt documents; and

(iv)  aproposed transaction, to be tested through a sale process as part of these
CCAA Proceedings, that would (i) convert all of the Company’s funded
debt obligations upon emergence into 50% equity of the restructured
company and approximately US $125 million in new first lien financing,
and (i1) pay the Existing Loan Lenders that provided new money
commitments 50% equity of the restructured company as consideration for

such commitments;

on October 2, 2024, the Company drew US $20 million (US $15 million net of

commitment fees) under the DDTL Facility;

the RSA requires that the Company commence a restructuring proceeding by

November 15, 2024;

if this milestone is not met, the requisite Consenting Stakeholders could terminate
the RSA and the forbearance granted by the Consenting Stakeholders thereunder
and cause an “Event of Default” under the DDTL Credit Agreement, such that the
Consenting Stakeholders, in their capacity as lenders under the DDTL Credit
Agreement, could accelerate and take enforcement steps with respect to all

outstanding principal and interest amounts under the DDTL Credit Agreement;
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such a default would also constitute an Event of Default under the First Lien Credit
Agreement and the Existing Loan Lenders could then accelerate and take
enforcement steps with respect to all outstanding principal and interest amounts

under the First Lien Credit Agreement;

Sandvine would not be able to pay or otherwise satisfy the amounts due under the

DDTL Facility or the First Lien Credit Agreement and is therefore insolvent;

in light of their current financial crisis, the Applicants urgently require the
protections afforded by the CCAA, including a stay of proceedings and related
relief, in order to allow the Applicants to continue as a going concern, provide
crucial services to their customers, maintain employment for their approximately
500 employees and independent contractors, and preserve enterprise value for the

benefit of all stakeholders;

Stay of Proceedings

)

(2)

the Applicants are insolvent and urgently require a broad stay of proceedings and
other protections provided by the CCAA so that they will have the breathing space
to complete the last step of their balance sheet restructuring, implement orderly
exits from the high-risk jurisdictions, and restructure their operations to account for

Sandvine’s reduced international footprint;

it is necessary and in the best interests of the Applicants and their stakeholders that

the benefits of the stay and the protections and authorizations of the Initial Order
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be extended to Procera II LP, as it is the ultimate parent of the operating entities

and a guarantor under the credit facilities;

(aa)  itis necessary and in the best interests of the Applicants and their stakeholders that
the stay of proceedings and certain other protections of the Initial Order be extended
to Sandvine Sweden AB, Sandvine Technologies Malaysa SDN BHD, Sandvine
Australia Pty Ltd., Sandvine Technologies (India) Private Limited, Sandvine Japan
K.K. and Sandvine Singapore Pte. Ltd. (the “Non-Applicant Stay Parties”) as the
functions of these entities are integral to, and deeply intertwined with, the global

business of the Applicants;

(bb) the Non-Applicant Stay Parties provide critical research and development, sales,
customer success, and marketing services and collectively employ more than half

of Sandvine’s global workforce;

(cc) itwould be detrimental to the Applicants and their stakeholders if proceedings were
commenced or rights or remedies executed against the Applicants, Procera II LP or

the Non-Applicant Stay Parties;

DIP Financing

(dd) the Applicants require interim financing to provide stability and to restructure their
business, through the committed exit transaction or a superior transaction generated

from a sale process, as part of these CCAA proceedings;
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the DIP Lenders have agreed to provide the proposed DIP Facility up to the amount

of US $30 million, in accordance with their commitments under the RSA;

Court-approval of the DIP Facility and the DIP Charge would allow Sandvine to
provide assurance to its key stakeholders, including their vendors and customers,

that it will continue to have access to necessary financing during these proceedings;

the Applicants do not intend to draw on the DIP Facility before the Comeback
Hearing, but are seeking approval of the DIP Charge in conjunction with the
approval of the DIP Credit Agreement at the initial hearing to ensure that all of the
authorizations required to access the DIP Facility are put in place at commencement
of these CCAA proceedings and the Applicants can seek to have the DIP Charge

recognized in a timely manner in the concurrent Chapter 15 proceedings;

Chapter 15 Proceedings

(hh)

(i)

because the Applicants have operations, assets and valuable business in the U.S.,
the Applicants intend to initiate a case under Chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy Code
seeking an order to recognize and enforce these CCAA proceedings in the U.S. and
protect against any potential adverse action taken by the Applicants’ U.S.-based

creditors (the “Chapter 15 Proceedings”);

the Applicants run a consolidated business, with operations in Canada, the U.S.,
and around the world. Those operations are functionally and operationally

integrated such that the U.S. business cannot operate independently of the Canadian
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business and the key services provided by the Applicants are for the benefit of all

the Applicants, including the U.S. entities;

Other Grounds

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

the granting of the Administration Charge, the Directors’ Charge and the DIP
Charge is appropriate in the circumstances and will facilitate the active involvement

of the beneficiaries of the charges during these CCAA proceedings;

KSYV has consented to act as the Monitor;

GLC was instrumental in assisting with the negotiations that led to the execution of
the RSA and the preparations for these CCAA proceedings, and its continued
involvement will be critical to the successful completion of a going concern
restructuring transaction as part of these CCAA proceedings that will maximize
value for stakeholders, including running the proposed sale process on behalf of

Sandvine;

the provisions of the CCAA and the inherent and equitable jurisdiction of this

Honourable Court;

Rules 2.03, 3.02, 14.05(2) and 16 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990,
Reg. 194, as amended, and sections 106 and 137 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O.

1990, c. C.43, as amended; and

such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court

may permit.
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The following documentary evidence will be used at the hearing of the application:

(a) the Initial Affidavit of Jeffery A. Kupp sworn November 6, 2024 and the exhibits

attached thereto;

(b) consent of the proposed Monitor;

(©) the Pre-Filing Report of KSV as proposed monitor, to be filed; and

(d) such further and other evidence as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court

may permit.

November 6, 2024 OSLER, HOSKIN & HARCOURT LLP
100 King Street West
1 First Canadian Place
Suite 6200, P.O. Box 50
Toronto ON M5X 1B8

Marc Wasserman (LSO# 44066M)
Tel:  416.862.4908
Email: mwasserman@osler.com

Jeremy Dacks (LSO# 41851R)
Tel:  416.862.4923
Email: jdacks@osler.com

Martino Calvaruso (LSO# 57359Q)
Tel:  416.862.6665
Email: mcalvaruso@osler.com

Karin Sachar (LSO# 59944E )
Tel:  416.862.5949

Email: ksachar@osler.com

Fax:  416.862.6666

Lawyers for the Applicants
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IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED Court File No:

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF SANDVINE CORPORATION, SANDVINE HOLDINGS UK LIMITED, PROCERA
NETWORKS, INC., PROCERA HOLDING, INC., NEW PROCERA GP COMPANY, and SANDVINE OP (UK) LTD.
Applicants

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT TORONTO

NOTICE OF APPLICATION

OSLER, HOSKIN & HARCOURT LLP
100 King Street West

1 First Canadian Place

Suite 6200, P.O. Box 50

Toronto ON M5X 1BS8

Marc Wasserman (LSO# 44066M)
Tel:  416.862.4908
Email: mwasserman(@osler.com

Jeremy Dacks (LSO# 41851R)
Tel:  416.862.4923
Email: jdacks@osler.com

Martino Calvaruso (LSO# 57359Q)
Tel:  416.862.6665
Email: mcalvaruso@osler.com

Karin Sachar (LSO# 59944E )
Tel:  416.862.5949
Email: ksachar@osler.com

Fax:  416.862.6666

Lawyers for the Applicants
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Court File No. [@®]

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

THE HONOURABLE ) THURSDAY, THE 7TH

)
JUSTICE OSBORNE ) DAY OF NOVEMBER 2024

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR
ARRANGEMENT OF SANDVINE CORPORATION,
SANDVINE HOLDINGS UK LIMITED, PROCERA
NETWORKS, INC., PROCERA HOLDING, INC., NEW
PROCERA GP COMPANY AND SANDVINE OP (UK) LTD
(collectively, the “Applicants”)

INITIAL ORDER

THIS APPLICATION, made by the Applicants for an initial order (this “Order”)
pursuant to the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended (the

“CCAA”), was heard this day by videoconference at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of Jeffrey A. Kupp sworn November 6, 2024 and the Exhibits
thereto (the “Kupp Affidavit”), the pre-filing report of the proposed monitor, KSV Restructuring
Inc. (“KSV”), dated November 6, 2024, and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the
Applicants and Procera II LP (collectively, the “Sandvine Entities”), counsel for KSV as proposed
monitor and such other counsel that were present, and on reading the consent of KSV to act as the

monitor (in such capacity, the “Monitor”),
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SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the
Application Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this Application is properly returnable

today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

DEFINED TERMS

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms that are

used in this Order shall have the meaning given to them in the Kupp Affidavit.

APPLICATION

3. THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Applicants are companies to which
the CCAA applies. Although not an Applicant, Procera II LP shall enjoy the benefits of the

protections and authorizations provided by this Order.

POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities shall remain in possession and control
of their respective current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind
whatsoever, and wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the “Property”). Subject to
further Order of this Court, the Sandvine Entities shall continue to carry on business in a manner
consistent with the preservation of their business (the “Business”) and the Property. The Sandvine
Entities are each authorized and empowered to continue to retain and employ the employees,
contractors, consultants, agents, experts, accountants, advisors, counsel and such other persons

(collectively “Assistants”) currently retained or employed by them, with liberty to retain such
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further Assistants as they deem reasonably necessary or desirable in the ordinary course of

business or for the carrying out of the terms of this Order.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities shall be entitled to continue to utilize
the central cash management system currently in place as described in the Kupp Affidavit or
replace it with another substantially similar central cash management system with the consent of
the Monitor (the “Cash Management System’) and that any present or future bank providing the
Cash Management System shall not be under any obligation whatsoever to inquire into the
propriety, validity or legality of any transfer, payment, collection or other action taken under the
Cash Management System, or as to the use or application by the Sandvine Entities of funds
transferred, paid, collected or otherwise dealt with in the Cash Management System, shall be
entitled to provide the Cash Management System without any liability in respect thereof to any
Person (as hereinafter defined) other than the Sandvine Entities, pursuant to the terms of the
documentation applicable to the Cash Management System, and shall be, in its capacity as provider
of the Cash Management System, an unaffected creditor under any plan of compromise or
arrangement (a “Plan”) with regard to any claims or expenses it may suffer or incur in connection

with the provision of the Cash Management System.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities shall be entitled but not required to

pay the following amounts whether incurred prior to, on, or after the date of this Order:

(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, commissions, retention payments,
employee benefits (including, without limitation, employee medical, dental and
similar benefit plans or arrangements), amounts owing under corporate credit cards

issued to management and employees of the Sandvine Entities, any director fees



(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)
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and expenses, termination and severance pay (or other analogous amounts),
vacation pay and expenses payable on or after the date of this Order, in each case
incurred in the ordinary course of business and consistent with existing practices,
compensation policies and arrangements, and all other payroll processing and

servicing expenses;

all outstanding and future amounts owing to or in respect of other workers and
independent contractors providing services in connection with the Business and
payable on or after the date of this Order, incurred in the ordinary course of business

and consistent with existing practices and arrangements;

the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the Sandvine
Entities or the Agent (as hereinafter defined) in respect of these proceedings, at

their standard rates and charges;

with the consent of the Monitor, amounts owing for goods or services actually

provided to the Sandvine Entities prior to the date of this Order by:

(1) vendors providing hardware or software or similar products and services to
the Sandvine Entities that are essential to the products and services sold and
distributed by the Sandvine Entities to their customers;

(i1) distributors and resellers of the Sandvine Entities’ products and services;
and

(iii)  other third parties up to a maximum amount of USD$250,000, if, in the
opinion of the Sandvine Entities, such third party is critical to the Business
and ongoing operations of the Sandvine Entities;

any taxes (including, without limitation, sales, use, withholding, unemployment,

and excise) not covered by paragraph 8 of this Order, and whereby the nonpayment
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of which by any of the Sandvine Entities could result in a responsible person
associated with any of the Sandvine Entities being held personally liable for such

nonpayment; and

taxes related to revenue, State income or operations incurred or collected by any

Sandvine Entities in the ordinary course of business.

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein, the

Sandvine Entities shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses incurred by the

Sandvine Entities in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course after the date of this Order,

and in carrying out the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall include, without limitation:

(a)

(b)

all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of
the Property or the Business including, without limitation, payments on account of
insurance (including directors’ and officers’ insurance and any tail insurance

coverage), maintenance and security services; and

payment for goods or services actually supplied to the Sandvine Entities following

the date of this Order.

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities shall remit, in accordance with legal

requirements, or pay:

(a)

any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or of
any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be
deducted from the Sandvine Entities’ employees’ wages, including, without

limitation, amounts in respect of (i) employment insurance; (ii) Canada Pension



33

Plan; (ii1) income taxes; (iv) statutory deductions in the United States; and (v)

401(k) contributions in respect of employees domiciled in the United States;

(b) all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, “Sales Taxes™)
required to be remitted by the Sandvine Entities in connection with the sale of goods
and services by the Sandvine Entities, but only where such Sales Taxes are accrued
or collected after the date of this Order, or where such Sales Taxes were accrued or
collected prior to the date of this Order but not required to be remitted until on or

after the date of this Order; and

(©) any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or
any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of
municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any
nature or kind which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured
creditors and which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the

Business by the Sandvine Entities.

0. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Sandvine
Entities are hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no payments of principal,
interest thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the Sandvine Entities to any of their
creditors as of this date; (b) to grant no security interests, trust, liens, charges or encumbrances
upon or in respect of any of the Property; and (c) to not grant credit or incur liabilities except in

the ordinary course of the Sandvine Entities’ Business.
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NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE SANDVINE ENTITIES, THE NON-APPLICANT
STAY PARTIES OR THE PROPERTY

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including November 17, 2024 or such later date
as this Court may order (the “Stay Period”), no proceeding or enforcement process in any court
or tribunal (each, a “Proceeding”) shall be commenced or continued against or in respect of any
of the Sandvine Entities or the Monitor or their respective employees, advisors or representatives
acting in such capacities, or affecting the Business or the Property, except with the prior written
consent of the Sandvine Entities and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court, and any and all
Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of any Sandvine Entity or their employees,
advisors and representatives acting in such capacities or affecting the Business or the Property are

hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Proceeding shall be commenced
or continuing against or in respect of Sandvine Sweden AB, Sandvine Technologies Malaysia Sdn
Bhd, Sandvine Australia Pty Ltd., Sandvine Singapore Pte. Ltd., Sandvine Japan K.K. and
Sandvine Technologies (India) Private Limited (collectively, the “Non-Applicant Stay Parties”),
or their respective directors, managers, officers, advisors or representatives acting in such
capacities, or against or in respect of any of the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ current and future
assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate, and
including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the “Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ Property”) except
with the written consent of the Sandvine Entities and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court, and
any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the Non-Applicant Stay Parties

or affecting the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ Property or the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ business
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are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court or the written consent of the

Sandvine Entities and the Monitor.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any
individual, firm, corporation, governmental, body or agency, or any other entities (all of the
foregoing, collectively being “Persons” and each being a “Person’) against or in respect of any
of the Sandvine Entities or the Monitor, or their respective employees, advisors and representatives
acting in such capacities, or affecting the Business (including any leasehold or equity interests) or
the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the prior written consent of the
Sandvine Entities and the Monitor, or leave of this Court, provided that nothing in this Order shall:
(1) empower any of the Sandvine Entities to carry on any business which they are not lawfully
entitled to carry on; (ii) affect such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory
body as are permitted by Section 11.1 of the CCAA; (iii) prevent the filing of any registration to

preserve or perfect a security interest; or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any
Person against or in respect of the Non-Applicant Stay Parties, or their respective directors,
managers, officers, employees, advisors and representatives acting in such capacities, or affecting
the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ Property and the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ business, are hereby
stayed and suspended except with the prior written consent of the Sandvine Entities and the
Monitor, or leave of this Court, provided that nothing in this Order shall: (i) empower the Non-
Applicant Stay Parties to carry on any business which they are not lawfully entitled to carry on;

(11) affect such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by regulatory body are permitted by
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Section 11.1 of the CCAA,; (iii) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a

security interest; or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall accelerate, suspend,
discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, rescind, terminate or cease to perform
any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, lease, sublease, licence, authorization or permit in
favour of or held by any of the Sandvine Entities or the Non-Applicant Stay Parties except with

the written consent of the Sandvine Entities and the Monitor, or leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or written
agreements with any of the Sandvine Entities or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of
goods and/or services, including without limitation all computer software, hardware and support
services, communication and other data services, centralized banking services, payroll services,
insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to any of the Sandvine Entities or the
Business, are hereby restrained until further order of this Court from discontinuing, altering,
interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by any of
the Sandvine Entities, and that the Sandvine Entities shall be entitled to the continued use of their
current premises, telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names,
provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after
the date of this Order are paid by the Sandvine Entities in accordance with normal payment

practices of the Sandvine Entities or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or
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service provider and the applicable Sandvine Entity and the Monitor, or as may be ordered by this

Court.

NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no Person
shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of leased or licensed
property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of this Order, nor shall any
Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to advance or re-advance any
monies or otherwise extend any credit to any of the Sandvine Entities. Nothing in this Order shall

derogate from the rights conferred and obligations imposed by the CCAA.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by
subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against any of
the former, current or future directors, managers or officers of any of the Sandvine Entities with
respect to any claim against the directors, managers or officers that arose before the date hereof
and that relates to any obligations of any of the Sandvine Entities whereby the directors, managers
or officers are alleged under any law to be liable in their capacity as directors, managers or officers

for the payment or performance of such obligations.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities shall indemnify each of their
respective directors, managers and officers against obligations and liabilities that they may incur
as directors, managers or officers of any of the Sandvine Entities after the commencement of the

within proceedings, except to the extent that, with respect to any director, manager or officer, the
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obligation or liability was incurred as a result of the director’s, manager’s or officer’s gross

negligence or wilful misconduct.

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors, managers and officers of the Sandvine
Entities shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the “Directors’
Charge”) on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of USD$4,440,000,
as security for the indemnity provided in paragraph 18 of this Order. The Directors’ Charge shall

have the priority set out in paragraphs 36-38 herein.

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable insurance
policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim the benefit of
the Directors’ Charge, and (b) the Sandvine Entities’ directors, managers and officers shall only
be entitled to the benefit of the Directors’ Charge to the extent that they do not have coverage
under any directors’, managers’ and officers’ insurance policy, or to the extent that such coverage

is insufficient to pay amounts indemnified in accordance with paragraph 18 of this Order.

APPOINTMENT OF FINANCIAL ADVISOR

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that the agreement dated as of June 29, 2024, engaging GLC
Advisors & Co., LLC and GLC Securities, LLC (collectively, the “Financial Advisor”) as
independent financial advisor to the Sandvine Entities, in the form attached as Exhibit “X” to the
Kupp Affidavit (the “GLC Engagement Letter”), and the retention of the Financial Advisor
pursuant to the terms thereof, is hereby ratified and approved, nunc pro tunc, and the Sandvine
Entities are authorized and directed to make the payments contemplated thereunder in accordance

with the terms and conditions of the GLC Engagement Letter.
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22. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Financial Advisor shall incur no liability or obligation
as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of the GLC Engagement Letter,

save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part.

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that KSV is hereby appointed pursuant to the CCAA as the
Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business and financial affairs of the Sandvine
Entities with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or set forth herein and that the
Sandvine Entities and their shareholders, officers, directors, managers, and Assistants shall advise
the Monitor of all material steps taken by the Sandvine Entities pursuant to this Order, and shall
co-operate fully with the Monitor in the exercise of its powers and discharge of its obligations and
provide the Monitor with the assistance that is necessary to enable the Monitor to adequately carry

out the Monitor’s functions.

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to:

(a) monitor the Sandvine Entities’ receipts and disbursements;

(b) report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem appropriate
with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business, and such other matters

as may be relevant to the proceedings herein;

(©) assist the Sandvine Entities, to the extent required by the Sandvine Entities, in their
dissemination to the DIP Secured Parties (as hereinafter defined) of financial and

other information in accordance with the Definitive Documents (as defined below),
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or as may otherwise be agreed between the Sandvine Entities and the DIP Secured
Parties, which may be used in these proceedings including reporting on a basis to

be agreed with the DIP Secured Parties;

advise the Sandvine Entities in their preparation of the Sandvine Entities’ cash flow
statements and reporting required by the DIP Secured Parties under the Definitive
Documents, which information shall be reviewed with the Monitor and delivered

to the DIP Secured Parties in accordance with the Definitive Documents;

have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books,
records, data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of
the Sandvine Entities, wherever located and to the extent that is necessary to
adequately assess the Sandvine Entities’ business and financial affairs or to perform

its duties arising under this Order;

be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the
Monitor deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and

performance of its obligations under this Order; and

perform such other duties as are required by this Order, such other orders of the

Court, or as otherwise required by this Court from time to time.

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property and

shall take no part whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of the Business

and shall not, by fulfilling its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or maintained

possession or control of the Business or Property, or any part thereof.
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26. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to
occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively,
“Possession”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, might be a
pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of
a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the protection, conservation,
enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste
or other contamination including, without limitation, the Canadian Environmental Protection Act,
the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Water Resources Act, or the Ontario
Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder (collectively, the “Environmental
Legislation”), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the Monitor from any duty to
report or make disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental Legislation. The Monitor shall
not, as a result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the Monitor’s duties and powers
under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any

Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in possession.

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the Sandvine
Entities, including without limitation, the DIP Secured Parties, with information provided by the
Sandvine Entities in response to reasonable requests for information made in writing by such
creditor addressed to the Monitor. The Monitor shall not have any responsibility or liability with
respect to the information disseminated by it pursuant to this paragraph. In the case of information
that the Monitor has been advised by the Sandvine Entities is confidential, the Monitor shall not
provide such information to creditors unless otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as

the Monitor and the Sandvine Entities may agree.
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28. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the
Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, neither the Monitor nor its respective
employees, advisors and representatives acting in such capacities shall incur any liability or
obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, save
and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part. Nothing in this Order shall

derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the CCAA or any applicable legislation.

29. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor in Canada and the
United States (collectively, the “Monitor Counsel”), counsel to the Sandvine Entities in Canada
and the United States (collectively, the “Sandvine Counsel”) and counsel to the Agent in Canada
and the United States (collectively, the “Agent Counsel”) shall be paid their reasonable fees and
disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges, whether incurred prior to, on, or
after the date of this Order, by the Sandvine Entities as part of the costs of these proceedings. The
Sandvine Entities are hereby authorized and directed to pay the accounts of the Monitor, the
Monitor Counsel, the Sandvine Counsel and the Agent Counsel on a bi-weekly basis or pursuant
to such other arrangements agreed to between the Sandvine Entities and such parties and, in
addition, the Sandvine Entities are hereby authorized to pay the Monitor, the Monitor Counsel and
Sandvine Counsel’s retainers, nunc pro tunc, to be held by them as security for payment of their

respective fees and disbursements outstanding from time to time.

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its Canadian legal counsel shall pass their
accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its Canadian legal
counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of

Justice.
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ADMINISTRATION CHARGE

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, the Monitor Counsel, the Sandvine Counsel,
and the Financial Advisor (solely to the extent of the Financial Advisor’s Monthly Advisory Fees,
as defined in the GLC Engagement Letter) shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted
a charge (the “Administration Charge”) on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an
aggregate amount of USD$2,500,000, as security for their professional fees and disbursements
incurred at their standard rates and charges, both before and after the making of this Order in
respect of these proceedings. The Administration Charge shall have the priority set out in

paragraphs 36-38 herein.

DIP FINANCING

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Amendment No. 1 to Super Senior Credit Agreement,
dated as of November 6, 2024, by and among Sandvine Corporation and Procera Networks, Inc.,
as borrowers, and the lenders party thereto (the “First Amendment”), which amended the DDTL
Credit Agreement and re-titled it as “Super-Senior Debtor-in-Possession Credit Agreement” (as
further amended, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time,
the “DIP Credit Agreement”), by and among Sandvine Corporation and Procera Networks, Inc.,
as borrowers, Procera II LP, as ultimate parent, the Specified Term Lenders (as defined in the DIP
Credit Agreement), the Delayed Draw DIP Term Lenders (as defined in the DIP Credit Agreement)
(the “DIP Lenders”), Seaport Loan Products LLC, as co-administrative agent, and Acquiom
Agency Services LLC, as co-administrative agent and collateral agent (collectively, the “Agent”,
and together and collectively with the DIP Lenders, the “DIP Secured Parties™), attached as
Exhibits “U” and “V” to the Kupp Affidavit, is hereby approved, in respect of the Delayed Draw

DIP Term Loan Obligations (as defined in the DIP Credit Agreement). For the avoidance of doubt,
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no draws are permitted under the Delayed Draw DIP Term Facility (as defined in the DIP Credit

Agreement) without further Order of the Court.

33. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities are hereby authorized and empowered
to execute and deliver such amendments, credit agreements, mortgages, charges, hypothecs and
security documents, guarantees and other definitive documents (collectively with the First
Amendment and the DIP Credit Agreement, the “Definitive Documents™), as are contemplated
by the DIP Credit Agreement or as may be reasonably required by the DIP Secured Parties pursuant

to the terms thereof, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order.

34. THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP Secured Parties shall be entitled to the benefit of
and are hereby granted a charge (the “DIP Charge”) on the Property, as security for any and all
post-filing obligations of the Sandvine Entities in respect of the Delayed Draw DIP Term Facility
and the Definitive Documents (including on account of post-filing principal, interest, fees,
expenses and other liabilities) (the aggregate of all such obligations being the “DIP Obligations™),
which DIP Charge shall be in the aggregate amount of the outstanding DIP Obligations. The DIP
Charge shall not secure an obligation that exists before this Order is made. The DIP Charge shall

have the priority set out in paragraphs 36-38 hereof.

35. THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order, the DIP
Secured Parties may take such steps from time to time as they may deem necessary or appropriate

to file, register, record or perfect the DIP Charge or any of the Definitive Documents.

VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER

36. THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Administration Charge, the Directors’

Charge and the DIP Charge (collectively, the “Charges”) and the Encumbrances securing the
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Specified Term Loan Obligations (as defined in the DIP Credit Agreement) (the “Specified Term

Loan Security”) as among them, shall be as follows:

(a) First — Administration Charge (to the maximum amount of USD$2,500,000);

(b) Second — Directors’ Charge (to the maximum amount of USD$4,440,000); and

(©) Third — DIP Charge (to the maximum amount of the outstanding DIP Obligations)
and Specified Term Loan Security (to the maximum amount of the outstanding

Specified Term Loan Obligations), on a pari passu basis.

37. THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Charges shall not
be required, and that the Charges shall be effective as against the Property and shall be valid and
enforceable for all purposes, including as against any right, title or interest filed, registered,
recorded or perfected subsequent to the Charges coming into existence, notwithstanding any such

failure to file, register, record or perfect.

38. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Charges shall constitute a charge on the
Property and such Charges shall, except as otherwise set out in paragraph 36 hereof, rank in priority
to all other security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, claims of secured creditors,
statutory or otherwise (collectively, “Encumbrances”) in favour of any Person, other than any
Person with a properly perfected purchase money security interest under the Personal Property
Security Act (Ontario) or such other applicable legislation that has not been served with notice of
this Order. The Sandvine Entities and the beneficiaries of the Charges shall be entitled to seek
priority of the Charges ahead of such Encumbrances on a subsequent motion on notice to those

parties.
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39. THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or as
may be approved by this Court, the Sandvine Entities shall not grant any Encumbrances over any
Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Charges unless the Sandvine Entities
also obtain the prior written consent of the Monitor and the beneficiaries of the affected Charges,

or further order of this Court.

40. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Charges and Definitive Documents shall not be
rendered invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the chargees entitled to the benefit
of the Charges (collectively, the “Chargees”) shall not otherwise be limited or impaired in any
way by (a) the pendency of these proceedings and the declarations of insolvency made herein; (b)
any application(s) for bankruptcy order(s) issued pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(the “BIA”), or any bankruptcy order made pursuant to such applications; (c) the filing of any
assignments for the general benefit of creditors made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the provisions of
any federal or provincial statutes; or (e) any negative covenants, prohibitions or other similar
provisions with respect to borrowings, incurring debt or the creation of Encumbrances, contained
in any existing loan document, lease, sublease, offer to lease or other agreement (collectively, an
“Agreement”) which binds any of the Sandvine Entities and notwithstanding any provision to the

contrary in any Agreement:

(a) neither the creation of the Charges nor the execution, delivery, perfection,
registration or performance of the Definitive Documents shall create or be deemed
to constitute a breach by any of the Sandvine Entities of any Agreement to which

they are a party;
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(b) none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result
of any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the Sandvine Entities
entering into the Definitive Documents the creation of the Charges or the execution,

delivery or performance of any of the other Definitive Documents; and

(©) the payments made by the Sandvine Entities pursuant to this Order or the Definitive
Documents, and the granting of the Charges, do not and will not constitute
preferences, fraudulent conveyances, transfers at undervalue, oppressive conduct,

or other challengeable or voidable transactions under any applicable law.

41. THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real
property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the applicable Sandvine Entity’s interest in such real

property leases.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

42. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in The Globe
and Mail (National Edition) and The New York Times a notice containing the information
prescribed under the CCAA, (ii) within five days after the date of this Order, (A) make this Order
publicly available in the manner prescribed under the CCAA, (B) send, or cause to be sent, in the
prescribed manner or by electronic message to the e-mail addresses as last shown on the records
of the Sandvine Entities, a notice to every known creditor who has a claim against any of the
Sandvine Entities of more than $1,000, and (C) prepare a list showing the names and addresses of
those creditors and the estimated amounts of those claims, and make it publicly available in the

prescribed manner, all in accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of the CCAA and the regulations made
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thereunder, provided that the Monitor shall not make the claim amounts, names and addresses of

any individuals who are creditors publicly available.

43. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall create, maintain and update as necessary
a list of all Persons appearing in person or by counsel in this proceeding (the “Service List”). The
Monitor shall post the Service List, as may be updated from time to time, on the Monitor’s website
as part of the public materials to be recorded thereon in relation to this proceeding.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Monitor shall haven no liability in respect of the accuracy of

or the timeliness of making any changes to the Service List.

44. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the
“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of
documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List

website at https://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/regional-practice-directions/eservice-

commercial/) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute
an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to
Rule 3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of
documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further
orders that a case website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the following

URL: https://www.ksvadvisory.com/experience/case/sandvine.

45. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities and the Monitor and their respective
counsel are at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders as may be
reasonably required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other correspondence, by

forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery, facsimile or


https://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/regional-practice-directions/eservice-commercial/
https://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/regional-practice-directions/eservice-commercial/
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other electronic transmission to the Sandvine Entities’ creditors at their address as last shown on
the records of the Sandvine Entities or other interested parties and their advisors and that any such
service, distribution or notice shall be deemed to be received: (a) if delivered by personal delivery
or facsimile or other electronic transmission, on the day so delivered, (b) if sent by courier, on the
next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, and (c) if sent by ordinary mail, on the
third business day after mailing. Any such distribution or service shall be deemed to be in
satisfaction of a legal or judicial obligation, and notice requirements within the meaning of clause

3(c) of the Electronic Commerce Protection Regulations, Reg. 81000-2-175 (SOR/DORS).

CHAPTER 15 PROCEEDINGS

46. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant, Sandvine Corporation, is hereby authorized
and empowered, but not required, to act as the foreign representative (in such capacity, the
“Foreign Representative”) in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these

proceedings recognized and approved in a jurisdiction outside of Canada.

47. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Foreign Representative is hereby authorized to apply
for recognition of these proceedings, as necessary, in any jurisdiction outside of Canada, including
in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas (Dallas Division) (the
“Foreign Bankruptcy Court”) pursuant to chapter 15 of title 11 of the United States Code, 11

U.S.C. §§ 101-1532.

48. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,
regulatory or administrative body or agency having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States,
including the Foreign Bankruptcy Court, to give effect to this Order and to assist the Sandvine

Entities, the Monitor and their respective agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts,
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tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies and agencies are hereby respectfully requested to
make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Foreign Representative, the Sandvine
Entities and to the Monitor, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give
effect to this Order, to grant foreign representative status to Sandvine Corporation, in any foreign
proceeding, or to assist the Sandvine Entities and the Monitor and their respective agents in

carrying out the terms of this Order.

COMEBACK HEARING

49. THIS COURT ORDERS that the comeback motion in these proceedings shall be heard

on November 15, 2024 (the “Comeback Hearing”).

GENERAL

50. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Sandvine Entities and
the Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order at the Comeback Hearing on not
less than five (5) calendar days’ notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by the
order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may order; provided, however, that
the Chargees shall be entitled to rely on this Order as issued and entered and on the Charges and
priorities set out in paragraphs 36-38 hereof, including with respect to any fees, expenses and
disbursements incurred and in respect of advances made under the Definitive Documents until the

date this Order may be amended, varied or stayed.

51. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities or the Monitor may from time to time
apply to this Court to amend, vary or supplement this Order or for advice and directions in the
discharge of their powers and duties under this Order or in the interpretation or application of this

Order.
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52. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from acting
as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy of any of the

Sandvine Entities, the Business or the Property.

53. THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Sandvine Entities and the Monitor be at liberty
and are hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or
administrative body or agency, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for
assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and that Sandvine Corporation is authorized and
empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having

these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada.

54. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of
12:01 a.m. Eastern Standard/Daylight Time on the date of this Order, and is enforceable without

any need for entry and filing.

(to be completed by registrar) (Signature of judge, officer or registrar)
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Court File No. —[ @]

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)
THE HONOURABLE ) THURSDAY, THE 7TH
)
THE HONOURABLE ) WEEKDAY. THE #
)
JUSTICE —OSBORNE ) DAY OF MONTH. 20YRNOVEMBER

2024

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES" CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, ¢. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR
ARRANGEMENT OF fAPPHCANTF- S NAMEHTHE-
TAPPEICANT"SANDVINE CORPORATION, SANDVINE
HOLDINGS UK LIMITED, PROCERA NETWORKS, INC.,
PROCERA HOLDING, INC., NEW PROCERA GP
COMPANY AND SANDVINE OP (UK) LTD (collectively,
the “Applicants™)

INITIAL ORDER

THIS APPLICATION, made by the Appleant;Applicants for an initial order (this

“Order”) pursuant to the Companies'’ Creditors Arrangement Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as

amended (the ““CCAA"”), was heard this day by videoconference at 330 University Avenue,

Toronto, Ontario.

ON READING the affidavit of INAME}Jeffrey A. Kupp sworn fBATE{November 6

2024 and the Exhibits thereto—asn

(the “Kupp Affidavit”), the

pre-filing report of the proposed monitor, KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV?”), dated November 6,
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2024, and on hearing the submissions of counsel for PNAMES]—no—ene—appearing—for

BATFE}the Applicants and Procera I LP (collectively, the “Sandvine Entities™), counsel for

KSV as proposed monitor and such other counsel that were present, and on reading the consent

of PMONIFORTS NAMELKSV to act as the monitor (in such capacity, the “Monitor”),

SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the
Application Record is hereby abridged and validated® so that this Application is properly

returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

DEFINED TERMS

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms that are

used in this Order shall have the meaning given to them in the Kupp Affidavit.

APPLICATION

3. 2—THIS COURT ORDERS AND DECLARES that the Appheant—is—a-

companyApplicants are companies to which the CCAA applies. Although not an Applicant,
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Procera II LP shall enjoy the benefits of the protections and authorizations provided by this

Order.

POSSESSION OF PROPERTY AND OPERATIONS

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that the ApplieantSandvine Entities shall remain in possession

and control of #stheir respective current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every

nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever situate including all proceeds thereof (the

““Property"”). Subject to further Order of this Court, the AppheantSandvine Entities shall

continue to carry on business in a manner consistent with the preservation of #stheir business

(the “‘Business"”) and the Property. The ApplieantisSandvine Entities are each authorized and

empowered to continue to retain and employ the employees, contractors, consultants, agents,

experts, accountants, advisors, counsel and such other persons (collectively ““‘Assistants*”)

currently retained or employed by #them, with liberty to retain such further Assistants as ##-

deemsthey deem reasonably necessary or desirable in the ordinary course of business or for the

carrying out of the terms of this Order.

5. fTHIS COURT ORDERS that the AppheantSandvine Entities shall be entitled to

continue to utilize the central cash management system® currently in place as described in the
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Kupp Affidavit efNAME}-swoern—fDATE}-or replace it with another substantially similar

central cash management system with the consent of the Monitor (the “‘Cash Management

199

System™”) and that any present or future bank providing the Cash Management System shall not
be under any obligation whatsoever to inquire into the propriety, validity or legality of any

transfer, payment, collection or other action taken under the Cash Management System, or as to

the use or application by the ApplieantSandvine Entities of funds transferred, paid, collected or

otherwise dealt with in the Cash Management System, shall be entitled to provide the Cash
Management System without any liability in respect thereof to any Person (as hereinafter

defined) other than the AppheantSandvine Entities, pursuant to the terms of the documentation

applicable to the Cash Management System, and shall be, in its capacity as provider of the Cash

Management System, an unaffected creditor under the-any plan of compromise or arrangement (a

“Plan”) with regard to any claims or expenses it may suffer or incur in connection with the

provision of the Cash Management System.}

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the ApplicantSandvine Entities shall be entitled but not

required to pay the following expensesamounts whether incurred prior to, on, or after the date of

this Order:

(a) all outstanding and future wages, salaries, employee—and—pension

benefitscommissions, retention payments, employee benefits (including, without

limitation, employee medical, dental and similar benefit plans or arrangements),

amounts owing under corporate credit cards issued to management and employees

of the Sandvine Entities, any director fees and expenses, termination and

severance pay (or other analogous amounts), vacation pay and expenses payable
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on or after the date of this Order, in each case incurred in the ordinary course of
business and consistent with existing practices, compensation policies and

arrangements:, and all other payroll processing and servicing expenses;

all outstanding and future amounts owing to or in respect of other workers and

independent contractors providing services in connection with the Business and

payable on or after the date of this Order, incurred in the ordinary course of

business and consistent with existing practices and arrangements;

tb)-the fees and disbursements of any Assistants retained or employed by the

ApphieantSandvine Entities or the Agent (as hereinafter defined) in respect of

these proceedings, at their standard rates and charges:;

with the consent of the Monitor, amounts owing for goods or services actually

provided to the Sandvine Entities prior to the date of this Order by:

(1) vendors providing hardware or software or similar products and services
to the Sandvine Entities that are essential to the products and services sold
and distributed by the Sandvine Entities to their customers;

(11) distributors and resellers of the Sandvine Entities’ products and services;
and

(ii1))  other third parties up to a maximum amount of USD$250,000, if, in the

opinion of the Sandvine Entities, such third party is critical to the Business

and ongoing operations of the Sandvine Entities;

any taxes (including, without limitation, sales, use, withholding, unemployment,

and excise) not covered by paragraph 8 of this Order, and whereby the

nonpayment of which by any of the Sandvine Entities could result in a responsible
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| person associated with any of the Sandvine Entities being held personally liable

| for such nonpayment; and

| ) taxes related to revenue, State income or operations incurred or collected by any

| Sandvine Entities in the ordinary course of business. _

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as otherwise provided to the contrary herein, the

| ApphieantSandvine Entities shall be entitled but not required to pay all reasonable expenses

| incurred by the ApplieantSandvine Entities in carrying on the Business in the ordinary course

| after the date of this Order, and in carrying out the provisions of this Order, which expenses shall

include, without limitation:

(a) all expenses and capital expenditures reasonably necessary for the preservation of

of insurance (including directors’ and officers’ insurance and any tail insurance

{* the Property or the Business including, without limitation, payments on account

coverage), maintenance and security services; and

(b) payment for goods or services actually supplied to the ApphieantSandvine Entities

following the date of this Order.

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that the ApplicantSandvine Entities shall remit, in accordance

with legal requirements, or pay:

(a) any statutory deemed trust amounts in favour of the Crown in right of Canada or

of any Province thereof or any other taxation authority which are required to be

deducted from the Sandvine Entities’ employees” wages, including, without
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limitation, amounts in respect of (i) employment insurances; (i1) Canada Pension

Plan;; (iii) QuebeePensionPlan—and{(+v)-income taxes; (iv) statutory deductions

in the United States: and (v) 401(k) contributions in respect of employees

domiciled in the United States;

all goods and services or other applicable sales taxes (collectively, ““‘Sales

Taxes"”) required to be remitted by the ApplicantSandvine Entities in connection

with the sale of goods and services by the ApplicantSandvine Entities, but only

where such Sales Taxes are accrued or collected after the date of this Order, or
where such Sales Taxes were accrued or collected prior to the date of this Order

but not required to be remitted until on or after the date of this Order;; and

any amount payable to the Crown in right of Canada or of any Province thereof or
any political subdivision thereof or any other taxation authority in respect of
municipal realty, municipal business or other taxes, assessments or levies of any
nature or kind which are entitled at law to be paid in priority to claims of secured

creditors and which are attributable to or in respect of the carrying on of the

Business by the ApplicantSandvine Entities.
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9. +0-THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as specifically permitted herein, the Appheant

isSandvine Entities are hereby directed, until further Order of this Court: (a) to make no

payments of principal, interest thereon or otherwise on account of amounts owing by the

AppheantSandvine Entities to any of #stheir creditors as of this date; (b) to grant no security

interests, trust, liens, charges or encumbrances upon or in respect of any of #sthe Property; and

(c) to not grant credit or incur liabilities except in the ordinary course of the Sandvine Entities’

Business.
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NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE APPEICANTSANDVINE ENTITIES, THE
NON-APPLICANT STAY PARTIES OR THE PROPERTY

10.  +4—THIS COURT ORDERS that until and including PBPATE—MAX—30-

BAYSHNovember 17, 2024 or such later date as this Court may order (the ““Stay Period"”), no

1ee

proceeding or enforcement process in any court or tribunal (each, a “‘Proceeding™”) shall be

commenced or continued against or in respect of any of the AppheantSandvine Entities or the

Monitor or their respective employees, advisors or representatives acting in such capacities, or

affecting the Business or the Property, except with the prior written consent of the

ApplieantSandvine Entities and the Monitor, or with leave of this Court, and any and all

Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the-Appliecantany Sandvine Entity or

their employees, advisors and representatives acting in such capacities or affecting the Business

or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Proceeding shall be

commenced or continuing against or in respect of Sandvine Sweden AB, Sandvine Technologies

Malaysia Sdn Bhd, Sandvine Australia Pty Ltd., Sandvine Singapore Pte. Ltd., Sandvine Japan

K.K. and Sandvine Technologies (India) Private Limited (collectively, the “Non-Applicant Stay

Parties”), or their respective directors, managers, officers, advisors or representatives acting in

such capacities, or against or in respect of any of the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ current and

future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever, and wherever

situate, and including all proceeds thereof (collectively, the “Non-Applicant Stay Parties’

Property”) except with the written consent of the Sandvine Entities and the Monitor, or with

leave of this Court, and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the

Non-Applicant Stay Parties or affecting the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ Property or the
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Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ business are hereby stayved and suspended pending further Order of

this Court or the written consent of the Sandvine Entities and the Monitor.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

12. +5-THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any

individual, firm, corporation, governmental, body or agency, or any other entities (all of the

1199 1199

foregoing, collectively being “*“Persons"” and each being a ““Person*") against or in respect of

any of the ApphieantSandvine Entities or the Monitor, or their respective employees, advisors

and representatives acting in such capacities, or affecting the Business ex(including any

leasehold or equity interests) or the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the

prior written consent of the AppheantSandvine Entities and the Monitor, or leave of this Court,

provided that nothing in this Order shall: (i) empower any of the AppheantSandvine Entities to

carry on any business which the-Applieantisthey are not lawfully entitled to carry ons; (i1) affect
such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by a regulatory body as are permitted by
Section 11.1 of the CCAA;; (ii1) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a

security interest;; or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all rights and remedies of any

Person against or in respect of the Non-Applicant Stay Parties, or their respective directors,

managers, officers, employees, advisors and representatives acting in such capacities, or

affecting the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ Property and the Non-Applicant Stay Parties’ business,

are hereby stayed and suspended except with the prior written consent of the Sandvine Entities

and the Monitor, or leave of this Court, provided that nothing in this Order shall: (1) empower the

Non-Applicant Stay Parties to carry on any business which they are not lawfully entitled to carry
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on; (ii) affect such investigations, actions, suits or proceedings by regulatory body are permitted

by Section 11.1 of the CCAA; (ii1) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a

security interest; or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHTS

14. +6-THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, no Person shall accelerate,

suspend, discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, rescind, terminate or cease to

perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, lease, sublease, licence, authorization or

permit in favour of or held by the-Apphieant-any of the Sandvine Entities or the Non-Applicant

Stay Parties except with the written consent of the ApphieantSandvine Entities and the Monitor,

or leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

15.  +7-THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, all Persons having oral or

written agreements with any of the ApplieantSandvine Entities or statutory or regulatory

mandates for the supply of goods and/or services, including without limitation all computer

software, hardware and support services, communication and other data services, centralized

banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to

any of the BusinessSandvine Entities or the AppheantBusiness, are hereby restrained until

further Orderorder of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the

supply of such goods or services as may be required by any of the AppheantSandvine Entities,

and that the AppheantSandvine Entities shall be entitled to the continued use of itstheir current

premises, telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided

in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such goods or services received after the
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date of this Order are paid by the ApplicantSandvine Entities in accordance with normal payment

practices of the ApphieantSandvine Entities or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the

supplier or service provider and each-efthe-Applieantthe applicable Sandvine Entity and the

Monitor, or as may be ordered by this Court.

NON-DEROGATION OF RIGHTS

16. +8—THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding anything else in this Order, no

Person shall be prohibited from requiring immediate payment for goods, services, use of

feaseleased or licensed property or other valuable consideration provided on or after the date of

this Order, nor shall any Person be under any obligation on or after the date of this Order to

advance or re-advance any monies or otherwise extend any credit to any of the

AppheantSandvine Entities. Nothing in this Order shall derogate from the rights conferred and

obligations imposed by the CCAA.°

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

17.  19-THIS COURT ORDERS that during the Stay Period, and except as permitted by

subsection 11.03(2) of the CCAA, no Proceeding may be commenced or continued against any
of the former, current or future directors, managers or officers of any of the ApplieantSandvine

Entities with respect to any claim against the directors, managers or officers that arose before the

date hereof and that relates to any obligations of the-Applicantany of the Sandvine Entities

whereby the directors, managers or officers are alleged under any law to be liable in their
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capacity as directors, managers or officers for the payment or performance of such obligations;-

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INDEMNIFICATION AND CHARGE

18. 20—THIS COURT ORDERS that the ApphieantSandvine Entities shall indemnify its-

each of their respective directors, managers and officers against obligations and liabilities that

they may incur as directors, managers or officers of any of the ApplieantSandvine Entities after

the commencement of the within proceedings,” except to the extent that, with respect to any

offieer-er-director, manager or officer, the obligation or liability was incurred as a result of the

direetor's-or-officer'sdirector’s, manager’s or officer’s gross negligence or wilful misconduct.

19. 2+—THIS COURT ORDERS that the directors, managers and officers of the

AppheantSandvine Entities shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the

"“Directors’ Charge"”)* on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of

USD$®4,440,000, as security for the indemnity provided in paragraph {20418 of this Order. The

Directors’ Charge shall have the priority set out in paragraphs {38}-and{46}-36-38 herein.

20. 22-THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any language in any applicable

insurance policy to the contrary, (a) no insurer shall be entitled to be subrogated to or claim the
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benefit of the Directors” Charge, and (b) the Apphieant'sSandvine Entities’ directors, managers

and officers shall only be entitled to the benefit of the Directors” Charge to the extent that they
do not have coverage under any directors*’, managers’ and officers” insurance policy, or to the
extent that such coverage is insufficient to pay amounts indemnified in accordance with

paragraph {20418 of this Order.

APPOINTMENT OF FINANCIAL ADVISOR

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that the agreement dated as of June 29, 2024, engaging GLC

Advisors & Co., LLC and GLC Securities, LLC (collectively, the “Financial Advisor”) as

independent financial advisor to the Sandvine Entities, in the form attached as Exhibit “X” to the

Kupp Affidavit (the “GLC Engagement Letter”). and the retention of the Financial Advisor

pursuant to the terms thereof, is hereby ratified and approved, nunc pro tunc, and the Sandvine

Entities are authorized and directed to make the payments contemplated thereunder in

accordance with the terms and conditions of the GLC Engagement Letter.

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Financial Advisor shall incur no liability or obligation

as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of the GLC Engagement

Letter, save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part.

APPOINTMENT OF MONITOR

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that f[MONITOR S NAMEJKSV is hereby appointed pursuant
to the CCAA as the Monitor, an officer of this Court, to monitor the business and financial

affairs of the ApplieantSandvine Entities with the powers and obligations set out in the CCAA or

set forth herein and that the Applicant-and-itsSandvine Entities and their shareholders, officers,
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directors, managers, and Assistants shall advise the Monitor of all material steps taken by the

ApplieantSandvine Entities pursuant to this Order, and shall co-operate fully with the Monitor in

the exercise of its powers and discharge of its obligations and provide the Monitor with the

assistance that is necessary to enable the Monitor to adequately carry out the Meniter'sMonitor’s

functions.

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, in addition to its prescribed rights and

obligations under the CCAA, is hereby directed and empowered to:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

monitor the Appheant'sSandvine Entities’ receipts and disbursements;

report to this Court at such times and intervals as the Monitor may deem
appropriate with respect to matters relating to the Property, the Business, and such

other matters as may be relevant to the proceedings herein;

assist the ApplieantSandvine Entities, to the extent required by the Applicantin-

#tsSandvine Entities, in their dissemination;- to the DIP Lender-and-its-counsel-on-

a T HFIME-INTER VAL basisSecured Parties (as hereinafter defined) of financial

and other information as-in accordance with the Definitive Documents (as defined

below), or as may otherwise be agreed te-between the ApplicantSandvine Entities

and the DIP LenderSecured Parties, which may be used in these proceedings

including reporting on a basis to be agreed with the DIP EenderSecured Parties;

advise the Applieant—n—itsSandvine Entities in their preparation of the

Apphieant’sSandvine Entities’ cash flow statements and reporting required by the

DIP LenderSecured Parties under the Definitive Documents, which information
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shall be reviewed with the Monitor and delivered to the DIP Lender—andits-

agreed—to—by-the DIPLenderSecured Parties in accordance with the Definitive

Documents;

(e) f=y-have full and complete access to the Property, including the premises, books,

records, data, including data in electronic form, and other financial documents of

the Appheant;Sandvine Entities, wherever located and to the extent that is

necessary to adequately assess the Applieant'sSandvine Entities’ business and

financial affairs or to perform its duties arising under this Order;

C

)-be at liberty to engage independent legal counsel or such other persons as the
Monitor deems necessary or advisable respecting the exercise of its powers and

performance of its obligations under this Order; and

(2) H-perform such other duties as are required by this Order-ex, such other orders of

the Court, or as otherwise required by this Court from time to time.

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall not take possession of the Property and
shall take no part whatsoever in the management or supervision of the management of the
Business and shall not, by fulfilling its obligations hereunder, be deemed to have taken or

maintained possession or control of the Business or Property, or any part thereof.
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26. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Monitor to
occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or

199

collectively, ““Possession™”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated,
might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release
or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the
protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or
relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the
Canadian Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario Environmental Protection Act, the Ontario
Water Resources Act, or the Ontario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations

199

thereunder (collectively, the ““Environmental Legislation"”), provided however that nothing
herein shall exempt the Monitor from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by
applicable Environmental Legislation. The Monitor shall not, as a result of this Order or anything
done in pursuance of the Meniter'sMonitor’s duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to

be in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislation,

unless it is actually in possession.

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that-that the Monitor shall provide any creditor of the

Applicant-and-the DIP-Lender-Sandvine Entities, including without limitation, the DIP Secured

Parties, with information provided by the AppheantSandvine Entities in response to reasonable

requests for information made in writing by such creditor addressed to the Monitor. The Monitor
shall not have any responsibility or liability with respect to the information disseminated by it
pursuant to this paragraph. In the case of information that the Monitor has been advised by the

ApphieantSandvine Entities is confidential, the Monitor shall not provide such information to
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creditors unless otherwise directed by this Court or on such terms as the Monitor and the

AppheantSandvine Entities may agree.

28. THIS COURT ORDERS that, in addition to the rights and protections afforded the

Monitor under the CCAA or as an officer of this Court, neither the Monitor nor its respective

employees, advisors and representatives acting in such capacities shall incur reany liability or

obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out of the provisions of this Order, save
and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part. Nothing in this Order shall

derogate from the protections afforded the Monitor by the CCAA or any applicable legislation.

29. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, counsel to the Monitor in Canada and the

United States (collectively, the “Monitor Counsel”). counsel to the Sandvine Entities in Canada

and the United States (collectively, the “Sandvine Counsel”) and counsel to the Applicant

Agent in Canada and the United States (collectively, the “Agent Counsel”) shall be paid their

reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges, by—the-

Appheant-whether incurred prior to, on, or after the date of this Order, by the Sandvine Entities

as part of the costs of these proceedings. The Applicant—isSandvine Entities are hereby

authorized and directed to pay the accounts of the Monitor, eounsel-for-the Monitor and-ceunsel-

for-the-Applicant-on-aHMEINTERVAL} basisCounsel, the Sandvine Counsel and the Agent

Counsel on a bi-weekly basis or pursuant to such other arrangements agreed to between the

Sandvine Entities and such parties and, in addition, the AppheantisSandvine Entities are hereby

authorized to pay te-the Monitor, eeunsel-to-the Monitor;-and-counsel-to-the- Appheant; Counsel

and Sandvine Counsel’s retainers-in-the-amountfs}-of $®-frespeetively, nunc pro tunc,}- to be
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held by them as security for payment of their respective fees and disbursements outstanding from

time to time._

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor and its Canadian legal counsel shall pass
their accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Monitor and its
Canadian legal counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario

Superior Court of Justice.

ADMINISTRATION CHARGE

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor, eeunselte—the Monitor;——any—and—the-

Appheant’s—eounsel- Counsel, the Sandvine Counsel, and the Financial Advisor (solely to the

extent of the Financial Advisor’s Monthly Advisory Fees, as defined in the GLC Engagement

Letter) shall be entitled to the benefit of and are hereby granted a charge (the ““Administration

1199

Charge"”) on the Property, which charge shall not exceed an aggregate amount of

USD$@2,500,000, as security for their professional fees and disbursements incurred at thetheir

standard rates and charges-efthe Meniter-and-sueh-eounsel, both before and after the making of

this Order in respect of these proceedings. The Administration Charge shall have the priority set
out in paragraphs {38}-and-{40}-hereef36-38 herein.
DIP FINANCING

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Amendment No. 1 to Super Senior Credit Agreement,

dated as of November 6, 2024, by and among Sandvine Corporation and Procera Networks, Inc.,

as borrowers, and the lenders party thereto (the “First Amendment”), which amended the

DDTL Credit Agreement and re-titled it as “Super-Senior Debtor-in-Possession Credit
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Agreement” (as further amended, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified

from time to time, the “DIP Credit Agreement”), by and among Sandvine Corporation and

Procera Networks, Inc., as borrowers, Procera II LP, as ultimate parent, the Specified Term

Lenders (as defined in the DIP Credit Agreement), the Delayed Draw DIP Term Lenders (as

defined in the DIP Credit Agreement) (the “DIP Lenders”)., Seaport Loan Products LLC, as

co-administrative agent, and Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as co-administrative agent and

collateral agent (collectively, the “Agent”, and together and collectively with the DIP Lenders,

the “DIP Secured Parties”), attached as Exhibits “U” and “V” to the Kupp Affidavit, is hereby

approved, in respect of the Delayed Draw DIP Term Loan Obligations (as defined in the DIP

Credit Agreement). For the avoidance of doubt, no draws are permitted under the Delayed Draw

DIP Term Facility (as defined in the DIP Credit Agreement) without further Order of the Court.

" 1 "

33.  34—THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applieant—isSandvine Entities are hereby

authorized and empowered to execute and deliver such amendments, credit agreements,

mortgages, charges, hypothecs and security documents, guarantees and other definitive

documents (collectively;—the—" with the First Amendment and the DIP Credit Agreement, the

“Definitive Documents"”), as are contemplated by the Ceommitment—tetterDIP Credit



Y _ _ DRAFT-— — — — _ ______

75

Agreement or as may be reasonably required by the DIP LenderSecured Parties pursuant to the

terms thereof;-an

to-be-performed, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order.

34. 35 _THIS COURT ORDERS that the DIP LenderSecured Parties shall be entitled to the

benefit of and isare hereby granted a charge (the ““DIP Lender’s—Charge"Charge”) on the

Property, which-DHP-Eender's-as security for any and all post-filing obligations of the Sandvine

Entities in respect of the Delayed Draw DIP Term Facility and the Definitive Documents

(including on account of post-filing principal, interest, fees, expenses and other liabilities) (the

aggregate of all such obligations being the “DIP Obligations’), which DIP Charge shall be in

the aggregate amount of the outstanding DIP Obligations. The DIP Charge shall not secure an

obligation that exists before this Order is made. The DIP Lender’s-Charge shall have the priority

set out in paragraphs {38}-and-{461-36-38 hereof.

35.  36-THIS COURT ORDERS that, notwithstanding any other provision of this Order:

ta)-, the DIP LenderSecured Parties may take such steps from time to time as i#they may deem

necessary or appropriate to file, register, record or perfect the DIP Lender’s-Charge or any of the

Definitive Documents:.
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VALIDITY AND PRIORITY OF CHARGES CREATED BY THIS ORDER

36. 38—THIS COURT ORDERS that the priorities of the Administration Charge, the

Directors’ Charge-the-Administration Charge-and-the DIP-Lender’s Charge;- and the DIP Charge

(collectively, the “Charges”) and the Encumbrances securing the Specified Term Loan

Obligations (as defined in the DIP Credit Agreement) (the “Specified Term Loan Security”) as

among them, shall be as follows”:
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(a) First — Administration Charge (to the maximum amount of USD$@2,500,000);

(b) Second — DIP—Lender’sDirectors’ Charge (to the maximum amount of

USD$4.440.000); and

(©) Third — Bireetors’DIP Charge (to the maximum amount of $®jthe outstanding

DIP Obligations) and Specified Term Loan Security (to the maximum amount of

the outstanding Specified Term Loan Obligations), on a pari passu basis.

37.  39-THIS COURT ORDERS that the filing, registration or perfection of the Birectors™-

he—"Charges™)-

shall not be required, and that the Charges shall be effective as against the Property and shall be

valid and enforceable for all purposes, including as against any right, title or interest filed,
registered, recorded or perfected subsequent to the Charges coming into existence,

notwithstanding any such failure to file, register, record or perfect.

38.  40—-THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the Directors—Charge—the-Administration-

r)Charges shall

constitute a charge on the Property and such Charges shall, except as otherwise set out in

paragraph 36 hereof, rank in priority to all other security interests, trusts, liens, charges and

encumbrances, claims of secured creditors, statutory or otherwise (collectively,

1199

““Encumbrances””) in favour of any Person:, other than any Person with a properly perfected

purchase money security interest under the Personal Property Security Act (Ontario) or such

other applicable legislation that has not been served with notice of this Order. The Sandvine
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Entities and the beneficiaries of the Charges shall be entitled to seek priority of the Charges

ahead of such Encumbrances on a subsequent motion on notice to those parties.

39.  44+-THIS COURT ORDERS that except as otherwise expressly provided for herein, or

as may be approved by this Court, the AppheantSandvine Entities shall not grant any

Encumbrances over any Property that rank in priority to, or pari passu with, any of the Direetors™

Charge.  the  Administratton Charge or the DIP - Lender’s  Charge.Charges unless  the
ApplieantSandvine Entities also ebtainsobtain the prior written consent of the Monitor;-the-DIHP-

Eender- and the beneficiaries of the DPirectors™Charge-and-the Administration-Chargeaffected

Charges, or further Orderorder of this Court.

40. 42-THIS COURT ORDERS that the DirectorsCharge-the Administration-Charge;the-

CommitmentLetter,—theCharges and Definitive Documents and-the-DIP-Lender’s-Charge-shall

not be rendered invalid or unenforceable and the rights and remedies of the chargees entitled to
the benefit of the Charges (collectively, the ““Chargees™”) and/or-the-DIPLenderthereunder
shall not otherwise be limited or impaired in any way by (a) the pendency of these proceedings
and the declarations of insolvency made herein; (b) any application(s) for bankruptcy order(s)

issued pursuant to the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (the “BIA”), or any bankruptcy order made

pursuant to such applications; (c) the filing of any assignments for the general benefit of
creditors made pursuant to the BIA; (d) the provisions of any federal or provincial statutes; or ()
any negative covenants, prohibitions or other similar provisions with respect to borrowings,
incurring debt or the creation of Encumbrances, contained in any existing loan

deeumentsdocument, lease, sublease, offer to lease or other agreement (collectively, an
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““Agreement™”) which binds any of the Applieant;Sandvine Entities and notwithstanding any

provision to the contrary in any Agreement:

(a) neither the creation of the Charges nor the execution, delivery, perfection,
registration or performance of the Cemmitment—Letter—or—the—Definitive
Documents shall create or be deemed to constitute a breach by any of the

AppheantSandvine Entities of any Agreement to which #-isthey are a party;

(b) none of the Chargees shall have any liability to any Person whatsoever as a result

of any breach of any Agreement caused by or resulting from the

AppheantSandvine Entities entering into the Cemmitment—letter;Definitive

Documents the creation of the Charges;- or the execution, delivery or performance

of any of the other Definitive Documents; and

(©) the payments made by the ApplieantSandvine Entities pursuant to this Order;-the-

Commitment—Letter— or the Definitive Documents, and the granting of the
Charges, do not and will not constitute preferences, fraudulent conveyances,
transfers at undervalue, oppressive conduct, or other challengeable or voidable

transactions under any applicable law.

41.  43-THIS COURT ORDERS that any Charge created by this Order over leases of real

property in Canada shall only be a Charge in the Applieant'sapplicable Sandvine Entity’s interest

in such real property leases.
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SERVICE AND NOTICE

42. 44—THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall (i) without delay, publish in

fnewspapers—speetfied-by-the-Court} The Globe and Mail (National Edition) and The New York

Times a notice containing the information prescribed under the CCAA, (ii) within five days after

the date of this Order, (A) make this Order publicly available in the manner prescribed under the

CCAA, (B) send, or cause to be sent, in the prescribed manner or by electronic message to the

e-mail addresses as last shown on the records of the Sandvine Entities, a notice to every known

creditor who has a claim against any of the ApplieantSandvine Entities of more than $+6661,000,

and (C) prepare a list showing the names and addresses of those creditors and the estimated
amounts of those claims, and make it publicly available in the prescribed manner, all in
accordance with Section 23(1)(a) of the CCAA and the regulations made thereunder, provided

that the Monitor shall not make the claim amounts, names and addresses of any individuals who

are creditors publicly available.

43, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Monitor shall create, maintain and update as

necessary a list of all Persons appearing in person or by counsel in this proceeding (the “Service

List”). The Monitor shall post the Service List, as may be updated from time to time, on the

Monitor’s website as part of the public materials to be recorded thereon in relation to this

proceeding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Monitor shall haven no liability in respect of the

accuracy of or the timeliness of making any changes to the Service List.

44. 45-THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the

“Protocol”) is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of

documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List
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website at

protocol/https://w

ww.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/regional-practice-directions/eservice-commercial/)  shall be

valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute an order for
substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Subject to Rule
3.01(d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of documents
in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further orders that a
Case—Websitecase website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the

following URL-<@~": https://www.ksvadvisory.com/experience/case/sandvine.

45. 46—THIS COURT ORDERS that i#-the service—or—distribution—of documents—n-

accordance-with-the Protocolis-notpracticablethe-ApplicantSandvine Entities and the Monitor

and their respective counsel are at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any other materials

and orders as may be reasonably required in these proceedings, including any notices, or other

correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal

delivery—es, facsimile or other electronic transmission to the Applieant'sSandvine Entities’

creditors er-ether—interested-parties—at their respeetive-addressesaddress as last shown on the

records of the Applieant-Sandvine Entities or other interested parties and their advisors and that

any such service-ex, distribution by-eeurier;personal-delivery-orfaesimile-transmissionor notice

shall be deemed to be received-en—: (a) if delivered by personal delivery or facsimile or other

electronic transmission, on the day so delivered, (b) if sent by courier, on the next business day

following the date of forwarding thereof, erand (c) if sent by ordinary mail, on the third business

day after mailing. Any such distribution or service shall be deemed to be in satisfaction of a legal
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or judicial obligation, and notice requirements within the meaning of clause 3(c) of the

Electronic Commerce Protection Regulations, Reg. 81000-2-175 (SOR/DORNS).

GENERALCHAPTER 15 PROCEEDINGS

46. 47-THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant-erthe Menitor-mayfrom-time-to-time-

Sandvine Corporation, is hereby authorized and empowered, but not required, to act as the

foreign representative (in such capacity, the “Foreign Representative”) in respect of the within

proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized and approved in a

jurisdiction outside of Canada.

47. 48-THIS COURT ORDERS that nethingin-this-Ordershall prevent the Menitorfrom-

Appheant-the Business-or-the Property~the Foreign Representative is hereby authorized to apply

for recognition of these proceedings, as necessary, in any jurisdiction outside of Canada,

including in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas (Dallas

Division) (the “Foreign Bankruptcy Court”) pursuant to chapter 15 of title 11 of the United

States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101-1532.

48. 49—THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court,

tribunal, regulatory or administrative body or agency having jurisdiction in Canada or in the

United States, including the Foreign Bankruptcy Court, to give effect to this Order and to assist

the ApphieantSandvine Entities, the Monitor and their respective agents in carrying out the terms

of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies and agencies are hereby
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respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the

ApphieantForeign Representative, the Sandvine Entities and to the Monitor, as an officer of this

Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order, to grant foreign

representative status to the- MeniterSandvine Corporation, in any foreign proceeding, or to assist

the ApplieantSandvine Entities and the Monitor and their respective agents in carrying out the

terms of this Order.

COMEBACK HEARING

49, THIS COURT ORDERS that the comeback motion in these proceedings shall be heard

on November 15, 2024 (the “Comeback Hearing”).

GENERAL

50. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party (including the Sandvine Entities and

the Monitor) may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order at the Comeback Hearing on

not less than five (5) calendar days’ notice to any other party or parties likely to be affected by

the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may order; provided, however,

that the Chargees shall be entitled to rely on this Order as issued and entered and on the Charges

and priorities set out in paragraphs 36-38 hereof, including with respect to any fees, expenses

and disbursements incurred and in respect of advances made under the Definitive Documents

until the date this Order may be amended, varied or stayed.

51. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Sandvine Entities or the Monitor may from time to

time apply to this Court to amend, vary or supplement this Order or for advice and directions in
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the discharge of their powers and duties under this Order or in the interpretation or application of

this Order.

52. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Monitor from

acting as an interim receiver, a receiver, a receiver and manager, or a trustee in bankruptcy of any

of the Sandvine Entities, the Business or the Property.

53. 56—THIS COURT ORDERS that each of the AppheantSandvine Entities and the

Monitor be at liberty and isare hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal,
regulatory or administrative body or agency, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order
and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and that theMeniterSandvine
Corporation is authorized and empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within
proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside

Canada.

54.  52-THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of

12:01 a.m. Eastern Standard/Daylight Time on the date of this Order, and is enforceable without

any need for entry and filing.
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I (to be completed by registrar) (Signature of judge, officer or registrar)

DRAFT
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Court File No.
ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
(COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES’ CREDITORS
ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF
SANDVINE CORPORATION, SANDVINE HOLDINGS UK LIMITED, PROCERA
NETWORKS, INC., PROCERA HOLDING, INC., NEW PROCERA GP COMPANY, and
SANDVINE OP (UK) LTD.
Applicants

AFFIDAVIT of JEFFREY A. KUPP
(sworn November 6, 2024)

I, Jeffrey A. Kupp, of the city of Dallas, in the state of Texas, MAKE OATH AND SAY:

1. This affidavit is made in support of an application by Sandvine Corporation (“Sandvine
Canada”) and the other applicant companies (collectively, the “Applicants’ and collectively with
the partnership Procera II LP and certain non-filing entities, “Sandvine” or the “Company”) for
an Initial Order and related relief under the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act, RSC 1985, ¢

C-36 (the “CCAA”).

2. I am the Chief Financial Officer of Sandvine Canada and the Treasurer and Secretary of
New Procera GP Company and, as such, have knowledge of the matters contained in this Affidavit.
Where I have relied on other sources for information, I have stated the source of my information

and [ believe such information to be true.

3. Therefore, I am familiar with the business and have relied upon the books and records of

the Company in preparing this affidavit. I have also consulted with members of the senior
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management team of the Applicants and the Applicants’ financial and legal advisors. The

Applicants do not waive or intend to waive any applicable privilege by any statement herein.

4. As described in greater detail below, the Applicants are seeking, among other relief, the

following, as part of the proposed Initial Order:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

a stay of proceedings against the Applicants, the Monitor (defined below), and their
respective employees, advisors and representatives acting in such capacities, a stay
of proceedings against the Applicants’ and Procera II LP’s directors, officers and
managers, and extending the benefit of the stay of proceedings and the protections
and authorizations of the Initial Order to Procera II LP for an initial 10-day period

(the “Initial Stay Period”);

extending the stay of proceedings and certain other protections of the Initial Order

to the Non-Applicant Stay Parties (defined below);

authorization (but not the requirement) to pay certain pre-filing amounts, with the

consent of the Monitor, to the Applicants’ critical suppliers;

approval of the engagement of GLC Advisors & Co., LLC and GLC Securities,

LLC (collectively, “GLC”) as the independent Financial Advisor to the Company;

approval of the First DDTL Amendment and the DIP Credit Agreement (each as

defined below);

the granting of the following priority charges over the Property (as defined in the

Initial Order), listed in order of priority:
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(i) an Administration Charge (defined below) in the maximum amount of US

$2.5 million;

(ii) a Directors’ Charge (defined below) in the maximum amount of US $4.4

million; and

(iii) a DIP Charge (defined below) in the aggregate amount of the DIP
Obligations (as defined in the Initial Order), although the Applicants will
not be permitted to draw down on the DIP Facility (as defined below) until

after the Comeback Hearing; and

authorization for Sandvine Canada to act as the foreign representative of the
Applicants in respect of the within proceeding for the purpose of having these
CCAA proceedings recognized and approved in a jurisdiction outside of Canada
and authorizing Sandvine Canada to apply for foreign recognition and approval of
these CCAA proceedings and related relief, as necessary, in the United States
Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas pursuant to Chapter 15 of Title
11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”), 11 U.S.C. §§

101-1532.

5. If the proposed Initial Order is granted, at the Comeback Hearing the Applicants intend to

seek this Court’s approval of:

(a)

(b)

a sale process for the sale of all or substantially all of the Applicants’ business;

an increase in the Administration Charge to US $5.4 million;
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(d)

(e)

®
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an increase in the Directors’ Charge to US $5.7 million;

a Transaction Fee Charge of US $7 million;

the ability to draw on the DIP Facility; and

an extension of the stay of proceedings until January 31, 2025.

All references to monetary amounts in this affidavit are in US dollars.

This affidavit is organized into the following sections:
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B.  COrporate STIUCTUIE ......cuvviieeeiiiiee ettt ettt e et e ettt e e e et e e e e enteee e e neaeeeesnsaaeesennees 11
C. The ApPlicants’” BUSINESS .......cccvieiieriieeiieniieeiiesiieeiteeite et e site et e sereeseesaaeebeessseenseesnseenne 15
(a) SaNAVINE ProAUCES........oooviiiiiece et 15
(b) Sale Channels of Sandvine Products............cccoeeviieriieeiiie e 17
(c) Employees and Employee Benefits ..........ccceeviieiiiiiiieniiiiiieieeiceeeee e 19
(d) Intellectual ProPerty........cccvieeeiieeeiie ettt e e e 21
(e) Real Property and Leases.......ccccuieriiieiiieeiiie ettt 21
63} SUPPIIETS ..ttt ettt et et e et esateesbeesaaesnbeesaaeenbeesnneenseens 22
(2) Management Services and Other Shared ServiCes.........ccevvvevvieircieeniieeeiee e 22
(h) Banking and Cash Management SyStem.............ccccueeeviieeiiieeiieeeie e 25
D. The Financial Position of the Applicants.............ccceeviieiiiiniiiiiieniicieeie et 26
(a) AASSCES 1.ttt eite ettt e e et e e et e et e e e b e e e taeeehaeeeateeeaae e e baeeebaeeanbeeeanreeeanteeennaeas 26
(b) |35 E21 031 15 (<RSPPI 28
(c) Shareholder’s EQUILY.........ccciiriiiiiieiieeitecte ettt 29
(d) CaPital STIUCTUIE ....veeiiiie ettt ste e et e e et e e et eeesbaeesabaeessseeensseeensseenas 29
E. Background to CCAA ProCeedings .........cceevuieerieieiiieeiieeeiieeeieeeeveeesveeesveeesseeesnneeenene 35
(a) Entity List DeSINation .......cccuievuieriiiiiieiiieiiesie ettt et e seae et esaaeeaeeennes 35
(b) Efforts to Right-Size BUSINESS .....cccuvieiiiiiiieciie et 40
(©) The June 2024 ReOTZanizZatioN..........ccvieeiueeeeiieeriieesieeesieeeiteeereeesveeesaeeessseeensseeens 40
(d) The October 2024 Financing and Restructuring............cccueeevverieniiienieniieenieeeeeenens 43
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G, REHET SOUZNL ..ottt ettt st e et e e enseeeaaeenne 58

(a) Stay Of PrOCEEAINGS. ... veevieeiieiie ettt ettt sae b e eneee e 58

(b) DIP FINANCING ....eiieiiiieeiiieciie ettt et tae e et e e e aae e e bae e enaeeessseeennseeenseas 59

(©) PropOSEd IMOMILOT. .. ..ceciiiiiieeiiietieeie ettt ettt ettt et e et e saaeenbeesabeenseeennes 60

(d) Administration Char@e.........cccvieiieeiiieiieeiteeie ettt et esaeeeeesaee e 61
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® FINANCIal AQVISOT......ccciuiiiiiiieeiie ettt e e e e e re e e eareeeeaseeeaseas 63
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(1) Chapter 15 ProCeedings .......c.cevuieiiieiiieiieeieeeiie ettt ettt ettt sttt seeeeneee s 66
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H.  CONCIUSION ...ttt ettt e b e st e bt et e e st e 75
A. Overview

8. Sandvine is a Canadian application and network optimization company headquartered in

Waterloo, Ontario. Sandvine provides quality of experience (“QoE”) analysis and performance
optimization software applications to its customers, the majority of whom consist of
telecommunications service providers around the world. Sandvine’s technology generates
metadata (i.e., information about data) for its customers, including information about the
applications (“apps”), app categories and content categories that its customers’ end users are
engaging with, without decrypting user content. Sandvine’s customers use that metadata to classify
network traffic, enhance network connectivity, counter threats to network security, and optimize
App QoE. This technology facilitates internet access for hundreds of millions of people around the

world.

9. Sandvine is a market leader as its products allow customers to understand the app traffic

flowing in their networks with 95% accuracy — a significantly higher accuracy rate compared to
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other products on the market. Sandvine is closely integrated into customer networks and provides
services that are integral to its customers’ operations for network optimization and planning,
security, and revenue generation. Many of Sandvine’s products are active network elements used
to manage network traffic — meaning that customers optimize their network policies by using these
products. Consequently, any interruption in Sandvine’s services would have serious implications
for the continuity and security of services provided by Sandvine’s customers, which include many

of the largest internet service providers in Canada and around the world.

10. On February 27, 2024, Sandvine Canada and certain of the other Applicants and Non-
Applicant Stay Parties were designated on the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Entity List (the
“Entity List”), which materially impacted the Company’s business. Being placed on the Entity
List resulted in export restrictions on certain vendors, limiting them from providing U.S. origin
goods and technology that are critical to Sandvine’s core business operations to certain Sandvine

entities without an export license.

11. To mitigate the operational impacts on its business, the Company submitted a Request for
Emergency Authorization to the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security
(“BIS™) seeking interim relief from certain impacts of the designation to ensure that Sandvine
could receive software and technology that is subject to the Export Administration Regulations.
BIS granted the emergency authorization on March 28, 2024, which was due to expire on

September 30, 2024 and which was subsequently extended to December 31, 2024.

12. On May 1, 2024, Sandvine submitted a proposal for removal from the Entity List. In
conjunction with these requests and ongoing discussions with BIS, the Company, with the

assistance of its advisors, has reoriented its business model with the goal of making Sandvine a
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technology solution leader for customers in democratic countries. Sandvine is committed to
internet freedom and strong rule of law protections and will cease to operate in non-democratic
countries or countries where the threat to digital rights is too high. Sandvine has already exited
over 30 countries and is in the process of exiting over 20 more countries that it has deemed as
high-risk jurisdictions. Sandvine is also making several other significant changes to its governance
and business model, in consultation with BIS and other interagency partners of the U.S.
government, including the U.S. State Department, as part of a viable business strategy that will

position Sandvine to remain a technological leader and provide important services to its customers.

13. On September 27, 2024, Sandvine was informed that the End-User Review Committee had
voted to remove Sandvine from the Entity List, with Sandvine having met certain conditions and
agreeing to meet certain ongoing operational commitments. On October 23, 2024, Sandvine was

removed from the Entity List.

14. Notwithstanding its efforts to mitigate the impacts of the Entity List designation,
Sandvine’s business has already been materially impacted. The countries that Sandvine has exited
and is in the process of exiting represent approximately 45% of Sandvine’s 2023 revenue.
Additionally, certain customers in jurisdictions with a strong record of internet freedom and rule
of law protections have paused new orders as a result of the Entity List designation. Overall
Sandvine projects its top line to be reduced by approximately 50% compared to its 2023 revenue
due to the impact of country exits and estimated customer attrition related to the Entity List

dynamic.

15. In light of certain potential defaults in its debt documents stemming from the Entity List

designation and related adverse impacts, earlier this year Sandvine negotiated a reorganization
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with its Lenders (defined below) pursuant to which the Lenders: (a) became the indirect owners of

Sandvine and (b) agreed to significantly reduce Sandvine’s funded debt obligations by

approximately US $92 million (the “June 2024 Reorganization”).

16. Despite these reductions, the Company remained overleveraged and required additional

funding in the short term, as well as a plan to address the significant and necessary operational

restructuring of its business including the exiting of a number of countries where it already has

ceased or will cease to do business. Following the June 2024 Reorganization, the Company and

the Existing Loan Lenders (as defined below) negotiated agreements regarding the further

financing and restructuring of the Company which provide for:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Financing: US $45 million in new money financing under the DDTL Facility
(defined below), plus a commitment to provide any undrawn portion of such
financing in the event of any court-supervised restructuring proceedings as a
debtor-in-possession facility (the “DIP Facility”, and the loans borrowed

thereunder, the “DIP Loans”);

Restructuring Support: a restructuring support agreement (“RSA”) with

approximately 97% of the Existing Loan Lenders;

Forbearance: such Existing Loan Lenders’ agreement to forbear from exercising
any rights to enforce default remedies under the First Lien Credit Agreement (as

defined below) and other debt documents;

Recapitalization: a proposed transaction, to be tested through a sale process as part

of these CCAA Proceedings, that would (i) convert all of the Company’s funded



96

debt obligations upon emergence into 50% equity of the restructured company and
approximately US $125 million in new first lien financing and (ii) pay the Existing
Loan Lenders that provided new money commitments 50% equity of the

restructured company as consideration for such commitments.

17. All of the Existing Loan Lenders were offered the opportunity to participate in the RSA
and new financing and 97% agreed to do so. On October 2, 2024, the Company drew US $20

million (US $15 million net of commitment fees) under the DDTL Facility.

18. The RSA requires that the Company commence a restructuring proceeding by November
15, 2024, failing which the Consenting Stakeholders (as defined below) can terminate the RSA.
The Company would not be permitted to draw any further on the DDTL Facility in those
circumstances. Additionally, the failure to meet this milestone would allow the requisite
Consenting Stakeholders to terminate the RSA and the forbearance granted by the Consenting
Stakeholders thereunder and cause an “Event of Default” under the DDTL Credit Agreement (as
defined below), such that the Consenting Stakeholders, in their capacity as lenders under the
DDTL Credit Agreement, could accelerate and take enforcement steps with respect to all
outstanding principal and interest amounts under the DDTL Credit Agreement. If such acceleration
occurs, this would be an Event of Default under the First Lien Credit Agreement and the Existing
Loan Lenders could then accelerate and take enforcement steps with respect to all outstanding
principal and interest amounts under the First Lien Credit Agreement. Sandvine would not be able
to pay or otherwise satisfy the amounts due under the DDTL Credit Agreement or First Lien Credit

Agreement and is therefore insolvent.
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19. Additionally, given the projected significant decrease in revenue, the continued cost of
servicing its debt, the inevitable costs of a significant operational restructuring, and the potential
repercussions arising out of Sandvine’s exit from certain high-risk jurisdictions, the Cash Flow
Forecast discussed below reflects that within the thirteen week forecast period, Sandvine will
require additional financing so that the Company does not fall below its minimum operating

threshold.

20. In these circumstances, the stability provided by a stay of proceedings pursuant to the
CCAA is critical to allow Sandvine to continue to service its significant Canadian, U.S. and
international customer base and avoid serious risks that would threaten the stability and security
of communications networks worldwide, affecting hundreds of millions of civilian internet users.
Any abrupt cessation of Sandvine’s business could quickly result in Sandvine customers
experiencing disruptions to essential services, leading to the potential for cascading failures,
including widespread network outages, instability, congestion, and increased susceptibility of

critical systems to cyber-attacks.

21. The Applicants require immediate CCAA protection, coupled with relief to be sought
pursuant to Chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy Code, so that they will have the necessary “breathing
space” to complete the last step of their balance sheet restructuring, continue to access needed
liquidity, and have the time and resources to implement orderly exits from the high-risk
jurisdictions and restructure their operations to account for Sandvine’s reduced international
footprint. The proposed DIP Facility will help provide immediate certainty and stability to the
Company, even though a draw will not be required prior to the Comeback Hearing, particularly in
conjunction with the committed exit transaction that will be implemented unless a superior

transaction emerges from the proposed sale process. The relief sought will help ensure the
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Company can continue as a going concern, maintain employment, and preserve enterprise value

for the benefit of all stakeholders.

B. Corporate Structure

22. All the Applicants are affiliated with one another and are all borrowers or guarantors under
the First Lien Credit Agreement and DDTL Facility (or general partners of such guarantors). A

corporate chart showing the structure of the Company is below:
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23. Sandvine Canada is a private company incorporated in British Columbia. Its registered
head office is located in Vancouver, BC but it operates out of an office in Waterloo, Ontario. It

employs approximately 84 employees and has one (1) independent contractor.

24. Sandvine Canada is wholly owned by Sandvine Holdings UK Limited (“Sandvine UK”),
which is a company incorporated in the UK. Sandvine UK is a holding company and does not have
an office or any employees. Sandvine UK is, in turn, owned by Procera II LP, a limited partnership

registered in the Cayman Islands.

25. Procera II LP is owned by those parties that were Lenders as of the closing of the June
2024 Reorganization. New Procera GP Company, a limited liability company registered in the
Cayman Islands, is the general partner of Procera II LP and is 100% owned by a subset of such

Lenders.

26. Procera Networks, Inc. (“Procera US”) is incorporated in Delaware, U.S. Its registered
office is located in Delaware, U.S. but it operates out of an office in Plano, Texas. It employs
approximately 47 employees and has 12 independent contractors. Procera US’s UAE branch has
an office in Dubai, employs approximately 56 employees, and has 10 independent contractors.
Procera US is wholly owned by Procera Holding, Inc. (“Procera Holding”), a company
incorporated in Delaware, U.S. which is, in turn, owned by Procera II LP. Procera Holding is a

holding company and does not have an office or employ any employees.

27. Sandvine OP (UK) Ltd. is incorporated in the UK. Its registered office is located in the UK
and it employs 11 employees. Sandvine OP (UK) Ltd. is wholly owned by Sandvine UK. This
entity does not have a physical office and its employees provide sales, customer success and human

resources services.
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28. There are six other corporations that are wholly owned Sandvine subsidiaries that are not

Applicants (the “Non-Applicant Stay Parties”), as follows:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

Sandvine Sweden AB (“Sandvine Sweden”, and collectively with Procera II LP,
Procera Holding, Sandvine UK and Sandvine OP (UK) Ltd., the “Guarantors”) is
incorporated in Sweden and operates out of its registered office in Malmo and
another office located in Varberg. It provides customer success and research and
development services, employs 23 employees, and has one (1) independent
contractor. Sandvine Sweden is the only Non-Applicant Stay Party that is a

guarantor under the First Lien Credit Agreement and DDTL Facility.

Sandvine Singapore Pte. Ltd. provides customer success, sales and marketing

services and employs 7 employees.

Sandvine Japan K.K. provides sales services and employs 12 employees.

Sandvine Technologies (India) Private Limited (“Sandvine India”) provides
customer success, sales and research and development services and employs 219

employees.

Sandvine Technologies Malaysia SDN BDH provides customer success services

and employs 14 employees.

Sandvine Australia Pty Ltd. provides customer success and sales services and

employs 9 employees.
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29. All the Applicants have assets in Canada, including through opening and funding bank

accounts or funding a retainer.

C. The Applicants’ Business

30. Founded in Canada in 2001, Sandvine Canada is a Canadian application and network
optimization company headquartered in Waterloo, Ontario that provides QoE analysis and
performance optimization software apps to its customers. In 2017, a corporate transaction occurred

through which Sandvine Canada came under common control with Procera US.

(a) Sandvine Products

31. Sandvine provides software products and services in approximately 54 countries, with its
customers including approximately 130 of the largest global communications service providers,
and ultimately servicing hundreds of millions of network users. For the calendar year ending
December 31, 2023, 81% of Sandvine’s bookings were from telecom operators, 9% of bookings
were from enterprises, 9% of bookings were from telecom regulators, and 1% of bookings were

from other government agencies.

32. The Company’s software products help service providers deliver high quality experiences
to their consumer and enterprise customers. Sandvine’s products classify internet traffic into
different types of data being transmitted over the networks — for example, Sandvine’s products can
inform telco organizations which traffic relates to streaming apps or games so they can better plan
their networks to handle traffic used by these apps, improve the delivery of these apps, support fair

usage for end consumers and business users, and appropriately prioritize more latency sensitive
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traffic (i.e., where a delay between data delivery and data processing impacts the success of an

app’s performance).

33. To this end, Sandvine’s software products create metadata about the quality and usage of
over the top (“OTT”) apps (i.e., Netflix, Amazon Prime, YouTube), app categories (i.e., video,
social media, device gaming), and content categories (i.e., browsing, streaming, messaging) by
subscribers, without decrypting user content. Sandvine’s customers use its detailed metadata
reports (also known as “App QoE Data”) to analyze OTT application usage and understand
subscriber experiences when using these apps. Based on App QoE Data, Sandvine provides off-
the-shelf use cases (i.e., non-customized solutions to address common customer needs) for its
customers. Examples include Operational Insights, 5G Adoption, Video QoE Analysis, Video
Streaming Management, Heavy User Management, and IPTV Fraud Management. These use cases
provide customers with insights into applications and subscriber sentiment to help improve their

customer care and network operations.

34, Sandvine’s software products include, among others: (a) ActiveLogic, which captures
network traffic and processes it at scale for use by other software applications; (b) AppLogic,
which allows Sandvine to classify and categorize OTT and service providers’ own apps so that
service providers can know precisely what is happening over their networks in real time, manage
capacity and congestion, and proactively identify and address customer sentiment resulting from
network and app issues; and (¢) App QoE Scoring, which provides a depiction of how an app is
performing in near real-time using a score that ranges from 1 to 5 and measures the majority of the

classified apps derived from AppLogic.
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35. Sandvine’s products assist internet service providers and corporate enterprises to: (a)
transition from the 4G to 5G network, which requires high app and network performance; (b) offer
mobile plans with limited app and service usage; (c) ensure consistency of video streaming
experiences; (d) tailor services to subscriber consumption patterns; (e) proactively diagnose WiFi

issues; and (f) prevent fraud.

36. Historically, Sandvine sold proprietary computer hardware, and more recently sold
commercial off-the-shelf hardware, to customers to support its software products. Sandvine
anticipates completing its transition to a software only business at the end of 2024, or early 2025,
and 1s effectively no longer providing hardware services, other than limited ongoing maintenance
and support contracts related thereto. As of September 30, 2024, the net value of Sandvine’s
remaining hardware inventory totaled approximately US $4.0 million and was held by Sandvine
Canada. In Q3 2024, Procera US has inventory which was returned to a location in Irving, Texas
that is valued at US $563,000. In the ordinary course, in the absence of the Entity List restrictions,

any hardware inventory returns would have been sent to Sandvine Canada.

(b) Sale Channels of Sandvine Products

37. Sandvine’s sales are typically executed through a Right to Use (“RTU”) its software in
accordance with the terms of an End User License Agreement (“EULA”). RTUs are normally sold
on a perpetual basis, subject to compliance with the EULA, although they may also be sold on an
annual subscription basis. In conjunction with the RTUs, the Company sells software maintenance
and support services (software maintenance is imbedded with subscription license sales), which
generally need to be renewed on an annual basis. These support services include frequent software

signature updates that are critical to ensure that the software continues to accurately identify
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network traffic flow. Sandvine has recently launched a new, paid offering for software signature

updates, AppLogic, which incorporates new artificial intelligence/machine learning technology.

38. Sandvine also offers customers:

(a) project deployment professional services, which consist of project management and
technical work assistance needed to install, configure, integrate and test software

solutions;

(b) training services (both instructor led and e-learning) for Sandvine’s products; and

(©) Value-Added Services (“VAS”) which provide customers with specific types of
assistance using Sandvine’s system on a daily basis. VAS has several variations
and includes (i) updating and customizing the signatures which identify consumer
applications; (i1) daily operation, change management and customer assistance
using Sandvine’s products; and (iii) success management through dedicating a

single point of contact for all post-sales customer support work.

39. Three primary paths to market exist for Sandvine’s products: (a) direct sales to operator or
enterprise customers; (b) reseller transactions with third parties who resell Sandvine’s product to
operator or enterprise customers, sometimes bundled with other products and services; and (c)
distribution relationships in which Sandvine contracts with a distributer who contracts with a
reseller for the sale of products. Sandvine has developed its reseller and distributor relationships
in recent years, which allow for economies of scale and improve cashflows, such that reseller and

distributor transactions now comprise a majority of the Company’s business.
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40. Sandvine Canada and Procera US are the contractual counterparties for substantially all of
the customer contracts, depending on the customer’s location. Approximately 69% of the
Company’s end customers contract with Sandvine Canada. In 2023, Sandvine Canada generated
approximately two thirds of the Company’s revenue and Procera US generated approximately one

third.

41. Of Sandvine’s total 2023 revenue (approximately US $199M), approximately US $33M
(17%) of its products were sold in Japan, approximately US $27M (14%) were sold in the U.S.
and approximately US $26M (13%) were sold in Egypt. Canada was Sandvine’s fourth largest

market in 2023, with approximately US $16M (8%) of sales.

(©) Employees and Employee Benefits

42. As of October 25, 2024, Sandvine employed approximately 475 employees and had 32
independent contractors in 30 countries. None of the employees are unionized and there are no
applicable collective agreements. Sandvine employs regional managers in numerous locations
throughout the globe, along with sales teams supported by regional sales managers. The
Applicants’ other employees perform customary functions for a globally integrated corporate
group from various locations, including finance, human resources, marketing and strategy and IT.

The geographic distribution of the employees and independent contractors is as follows:

Employee Independent Total

Contractor
India 219 0 219
Americas 131 10 141
e C(Canada 84 1 85
e United States 47 1 48




107

Employee Independent Total
Contractor
e Other 0 8 8
META 56 11 67
e Egypt 25 0 25
e United Arab 21 0 21
Emirates
e Turkey 2 9 11
e Other 8 2 10
Europe 35 3 38
e Sweden 20 0 20
e United 6 0 6
Kingdom
e Other 9 3 12
South Asia 23 3 26
e Malaysia 14 0 14
e Australia 9 0 9
e Other 0 3 3
North Asia 11 5 16
e Japan 11 1 12
e Republic of 0 4 4
Korea
Total 475 32 507
(i) Employee Benefits
43. The Company offers eligible employees medical, prescription drug, dental, and vision care

coverage and certain other benefits, including basic life, short-term and long-term disability and

AD&D insurance, travel insurance, the employee assistance program, retirement savings

programs, and time-off benefits. Benefit offering varies depending on the employee region.
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44. In the U.S., the Company offers employees additional options for saving pre-tax dollars to
help pay for healthcare expenses under flexible spending accounts or health savings accounts
depending on the medical plan chosen. For retirement savings programs, the Company offers a
401(k) defined contribution plan to eligible employees in the U.S., a Registered Retirement

Savings Plan (RRSP) in Canada, and other similar defined contribution plans in Sweden and UK.

(d) Intellectual Property

45. Sandvine’s principal assets are software products and related intellectual property rights
and know-how. Sandvine maintains its App QoE products with a technology patent portfolio that
protects its data foundations as well as its solutions and use cases. As of October 23, 2024,
Sandvine Canada owns approximately 166 patents and has approximately 148 patent applications
pending, covering the following: (a) network optimization; (b) monetization / policy enforcement;
(c) classification and QoE; (d) service assurance; and (¢) 5G. Sandvine Canada has 157 registered
trademarks, with 39 additional trademark applications pending. Procera US has 13 registered
trademarks and one patent. Sandvine Canada also has one U.S. copyright registration titled

SCORECARD registered November 28, 2018.

(e) Real Property and Leases

46. Sandvine leases all of its office space, including the Waterloo Technology Centre where
the Company is headquartered. Sandvine Canada owns a 49% interest in WTCI Inc. and WTC2
Inc., the owners of the three office buildings comprising the Waterloo Technology Centre. WTC1
Inc. operates the entire complex, although both WTC1 Inc. and WTC2 Inc. own buildings within

it. The owners are currently marketing the Waterloo Technology Centre for sale.
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47. The Company also leases office space in: Sweden, Japan, UAE, Malaysia, India, and the
U.S. The leases expire at various dates through 2031 and provide for renewal options ranging from
month-to-month to five-year terms, as set out in Appendix “A” to this affidavit. The Company’s
current total annual operating lease cost is approximately US $2.0 million. Sandvine does not have

any other real property interests and does not own any real property outright.

® Suppliers

48. Sandvine relies on several third-party software providers for: (a) products it imbeds into its
App QoE software and (b) products used in its internal operations, many of which are critical to
Sandvine’s business and its ability to serve customers. Imbedded software is essential to the
operation of the software products that Sandvine sells to its customers and it generally requires
lengthy development and test cycles to change or substitute products. Third-party software for
Sandvine’s internal needs include, among other things, security solutions for Sandvine’s internal
IT networks, customer relationship management (CRM) software, software to integrate the
Company’s IT applications, data storage and business intelligence products, video and messaging
software programs for online collaboration, Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) and finance
software, shipping and logistics services, as well as export control and denied party screening
essential to complying with export laws. Sandvine also relies on third-party suppliers who provide

hardware that is critical for its business.

(2) Management Services and Other Shared Services

49. Sandvine’s CEO and CFO are located in the U.S. Its General Counsel is located in Canada.

Its CCO is located in Dubai, CDO is located in India, and CTO is located in Sweden.
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50. Of the approximately 23 finance staff, 13 are in Canada, four (4) are in India, five (5) are
in the U.S. and one (1) is in Sweden. Of the approximately 18 HR staff, six (6) are in Canada, five
(5) are in India, three (3) are in the U.S. and the rest in various countries worldwide. There are
regional managers spread throughout numerous countries. Of the approximately 27 IT staff, 13 are
in Canada, 11 are in India, two (2) are in the U.S. and one (1) is in Sweden. Of the approximately
15 marketing and strategy staff, seven (7) are in the U.S., four (4) are in Canada and the remainder
are in foreign jurisdictions. The Company’s integrated sales teams reside in numerous countries

globally with regional sales managers in each region.

51. Sandvine Canada issues all customer invoices, primarily on behalf of Sandvine Canada and
Procera US, regardless of location of the customer. Sandvine Canada also handles various other
finance back-office functions, with the exception of accounts payable which is primarily handled
by Sandvine India. The Company’s subsidiaries outside of North America handle product
development, service delivery, customer support and sales support, but do not generate revenue
from customers (with the exception of Sandvine Sweden which generates extremely limited
revenues). Rather, each of those subsidiaries is funded by Sandvine Canada or Procera US and
their costs are billed back to the Company’s two primary operating entities through shared services

arrangements.

52. The Company operates pursuant to various intercompany shared services agreements:

(a) An intellectual property cost sharing agreement between Sandvine Canada and
Procera US dated January 1, 2019, whereby each party contributes to the shared

development, production, and acquisition of intellectual property. Each party’s



(b)

(©)

(d)
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contribution is based on the ratio that each reasonably expects to derive from the

agreement (determined annually based on financial results and forecasts).

A software licensing agreement between Procera US and Sandvine UK dated
January 1, 2019, whereby Sandvine UK licenses certain software to Procera US for
the use and distribution of certain of its products. As consideration for this license,
Procera US pays Sandvine UK a fee set at a market rate which is paid on a quarterly

basis.

Intercompany research and development agreements between Sandvine Canada
and each of Sandvine Sweden and Sandvine India, whereby each counterparty
provides research and development services and provides training, support and
maintenance services related to its research and development services. As
consideration for these services, Sandvine Canada pays these entities their costs

plus a mark-up ranging from 6% to 15%, depending on the agreement.

Intercompany international service agreements between Sandvine Canada and each
of Sandvine OP (UK) Ltd., Sandvine Sweden, Sandvine India, Sandvine Singapore
Pte. Ltd., Sandvine Corporation (Hong Kong Branch), Sandvine Malaysia Sdn.
Bhd., Sandvine Australia Pty. Ltd., and Sandvine Japan K.K., whereby each
counterparty provides Sandvine Canada with marketing and pre-sales support
services for Sandvine Canada’s products in the United Kingdom, Sweden, India,
Singapore, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Australia, and Japan, respectively. As
consideration for these services, Sandvine Canada pays these entities their costs

plus a mark-up of 6% to 15%, depending on the agreement.
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(h) Banking and Cash Management System

53. The Company has 33 bank accounts across 10 countries, as set out in Appendix “B” to this
affidavit. The Company’s cash management / treasury team is located in Canada and controls the
bank accounts (and cash transactions) with a few exceptions (e.g. Japan where two trust accounts
are managed by an outside provider). Treasury, Accounting and A/R teams are located primarily
in Canada, with a small team in India, which handles accounting for India as well as global expense

report processing and A/P, and these teams are shared globally.

54. Almost all cash from customers and other incoming wire transfers and deposits are received
into one of Sandvine Canada’s bank accounts in Canada or into the Procera US bank account in
the U.S. From October 1, 2023 to June 1, 2024, approximately two thirds of the Company’s
customer receipts were received by Sandvine Canada and approximately one third of the customer

receipts were received by Procera US.

55. Funding for Sandvine’s other international offices is made through periodic intercompany
cash transfers from either Sandvine Canada or Procera US’ bank accounts. Some liabilities of the
Company’s international locations, including certain entities’ payroll, benefits and tax payments,
are paid directly by Sandvine Canada or Procera US. If currency conversions are required before
disbursements are made by Sandvine’s international entities, payments may be transferred from
Sandvine Canada or Procera US through more than one Company bank account, and then
accounted for through intercompany transactions. Sandvine Canada regularly purchases Swedish
Krona hedges which are then transferred to Sandvine Sweden for it to pay for its liabilities, as well

as CAD hedges for Sandvine Canada’s own payroll and rent. Sandvine India also purchases its
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own hedges. To the extent that the Company has excess cash that is not immediately required for

its operations, these amounts are transferred to an interest-earning savings account.

D. The Financial Position of the Applicants

56. A copy of Sandvine’s consolidated audited financial statements as at December 31, 2023
(the “2023 Financial Statements”) is attached hereto as Exhibit “ A”. The 2023 Financial
Statements were issued on May 24, 2024, and included a note that the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern remained dependent on its removal from the Entity List, restructuring

the business to be able to achieve positive cash flows and restructuring existing debt.

57. Sandvine also prepares consolidated, unaudited quarterly balance sheets. A copy of
Sandvine’s consolidated balance sheets as at September 30, 2024, which remains subject to

potential closing adjustments, is attached hereto as Exhibit “B”.

(a) Assets

58. As at December 31, 2023, Sandvine’s consolidated financial statements included total
assets of approximately US $420 million, comprised of total current assets of approximately US

$127 million and total non-current assets of approximately US $293 million.

59. As at September 30, 2024, Sandvine’s consolidated balance sheets included total assets of
approximately US $245 million, comprised of total current assets of approximately US $56 million

and total non-current assets of approximately US $189 million, as follows:
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Current Assets:

Approximate Amount (USD)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

$18.7 million

Short-Term Investments

$4.6 million

Accounts Receivable $20.8 million
Inventory $4 million
Other Current Assets $8.1 million
TOTAL $56.2 million

Non-Current Assets:

Approximate Amount (USD)

Right of Use Asset

$5.8 million

Plant and Equipment

$6.6 million

Intangible Assets

$2.8 million

Other Non-Current Assets

$7.7 million

Goodwill $154.1 million
Deferred Tax Asset $11.8 million
TOTAL $188.8 million
TOTAL ASSETS $245 million
60. The majority of the Company’s assets reside in Canada, including most notably, the

majority of its crucial IP assets, as well as the majority of the Company’s cash, customer accounts

receivable, inventory, fixed assets, and Sandvine Canada’s real estate investments in WTCI Inc.

and WTC2 Inc. As a result of the adverse business impacts of being placed on the Entity List, there

was an impairment to the Company’s goodwill intangible asset that resulted in a write down from

US $253 million as of March 2024 to US $154 million as of June 2024.
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(b)  Liabilities

61. As at December 31, 2023, Sandvine’s consolidated financial statements included total
liabilities of approximately US $628 million, comprised of total current liabilities of approximately
US $91 million and total non-current liabilities of approximately US $536 million, consisting

mainly of amounts then outstanding under its Credit Agreements (defined below).

62. As at September 30, 2024, Sandvine’s consolidated balance sheets included total liabilities
of approximately US $528 million, comprised of total current liabilities of approximately US $73

million and total non-current liabilities of approximately US $455 million, as follows:

Current Liabilities: Approximate Amount (USD)
Current - Lease Liability $1.5 million
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities $27 million
Current Portion Term Loan, net of capitalized $2.1 million
fees

Deferred Revenue $42.3 million
TOTAL $73 million
Non-Current Liabilities: Approximate Amount (USD)
Lease Liability $4.2 million
Term Loan, net of capitalized costs $416 million
Deferred Tax Liability $9.9 million
Non-Current Deferred Revenue $19.2 million
Other Non-Current Liabilities $5.4 million
TOTAL $454.7 million
TOTAL LIABILITIES $527.7 million
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(©) Shareholder’s Equity

63. As at December 31, 2023, Sandvine’s shareholder’s equity totaled approximately negative

US $208 million.

64. As at September 30, 2024, Sandvine’s shareholder’s equity totaled approximately negative

US $283 million.

Capital Structure!

(d)

65. Prior to June 2024, the Company’s primary debt obligations consisted of two secured credit
facilities, which were jointly issued to Sandvine Canada and Procera US, as Borrowers (the

“Borrowers”), totaling approximately US $504 million in debt, plus accruing interest as follows:

Outstanding
Parties Maturity Principal prior to

Agreement Date Amount June 28, 2024
“First Lien Borrowers, “First Lien November | Term loans | Term Loan: US
Credit Guarantors”,” the Lenders | 3, 2025 up to US $394,369,555.07
Agreement” party thereto (the “First (Term $400
dated Lien Lenders”), and Loan) million and | Revolving Loan:
November 2, Jefferies Finance LLC revolving | not drawn, but
2018 (as (“Jefferies”), as loans and securing
amended), a Administrative Agent and letters of approximately US
copy of which | Collateral Agent credit up to | $2.7 million in
conformed up US $23
to Amendment million
No. 8 is
attached hereto

All capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this section have the meanings given to them in the First Lien Credit
Agreement.

Procera I LP (later known as Sandvine, LP) and Procera Cayman Ltd. (collectively, the “TopCo Partnership
Guarantors”), Procera Holding, Procera II LP, any other Subsidiary of the TopCo Partnership Guarantors that
directly or indirectly owns a Borrower (other than Sandvine UK), and any Restricted Subsidiary that has
guaranteed the Obligations pursuant to the Guaranty (First Lien Guaranty). Following the Reorganization, the
TopCo Partnership Guarantors are in the process of being dissolved.
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as Exhibit outstanding letters
“C” without of credit?
schedules or
signature
pages.
“Second Lien | Borrowers, “Second Lien November | Term loan | US $110 million
Credit Guarantors”,* the Lenders | 2, 2026 of US $110
Agreement” party thereto (the “Second million
dated Lien Lenders”), and
November 2, Barings Finance LLC
2018. (“Barings”), as
Administrative Agent and
Collateral Agent

66. On June 28, 2024, Sandvine completed the June 2024 Reorganization (discussed in further
detail below), pursuant to which the Lenders became the ultimate owners of the Company. As part
of the June 2024 Reorganization, the Borrowers, the TopCo Partnership Guarantors, Procera I1 GP
Ltd., Procera II LP, and the Second Lien Lenders, entered into an Exchange Agreement dated as
of June 28, 2024 (the “Exchange Agreement”), pursuant to which the Obligations under the
Second Lien Credit Agreement were settled and extinguished in exchange for (a) the issuance by
the Borrowers of US $18 million of Term Loans under the amended First Lien Credit Agreement
to the Second Lien Lenders (on a pro rata basis), and (b) the issuance of Class C limited partner
interests in Procera II LP to the Second Lien Lenders (on a pro rata basis). A copy of the Exchange

Agreement without schedules or signature pages is attached hereto as Exhibit “D”.

The revolving commitment has since been reduced to $0. Therefore, there is no longer a revolving loan and such
letter of credit commitments have been cash collateralized.

TopCo Partnership Guarantors, Procera Holding, Procera II LP, any other Subsidiary of the TopCo Partnership
Guarantors that directly or indirectly owns a Borrower (other than Sandvine UK), and each Restricted Subsidiary
that has Guaranteed the Obligations pursuant to the (Second Lien) Guaranty.
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67. Consequently, the Company’s debt obligations following the June 2024 Reorganization
consisted of term loans in the principal amount of approximately US $412 million under the First

Lien Credit Agreement.

68. Additionally, on June 26, 2024, the Borrowers and Jefferies entered into a Cash Collateral
Agreement whereby the Borrowers: (a) terminated the revolving credit facility provided by the
First Credit Agreement and (b) cash collateralized the 11 outstanding letters of credit totaling

approximately US $2.7 million that were previously backstopped by the revolving facility.

69. As of September 30, 2024, only 10 of the outstanding letters of credit remained, totaling
approximately US $2.4 million. In addition, the Company had another six (6) outstanding letters
of credit issued by TD Bank totaling approximately US $4.5 million that have been cash
collateralized. All of the 16 letters of credit were issued to secure future performance obligations
by Sandvine for products and services pre-paid by its customers. Fifteen of these letters of credit
were issued with respect to a customer located in Egypt and the other letter of credit was issued

with respect to a customer based in Algeria.

>i) Security and Guarantees

70. Sandvine Canada, Sandvine UK, and certain other parties,’ as Grantors, and Jefferies, as
Collateral Agent, entered into a First Lien Canadian Security Agreement dated November 2, 2018
(the “First Lien Canadian Security Agreement”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit

“E”

5 Procera Vineyard, Inc. which merged with Procera US effective December 31, 2023; Procera Networks Kelowna

ULC and Procera Networks ULC, which amalgamated with Sandvine Canada on October 3, 2019.
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71. Pursuant to the First Lien Canadian Security Agreement, the Grantors granted a security
interest in: (a) all Accounts; (b) all Chattel Paper; (c¢) all cash and cash equivalents, all Money and
all Deposit Accounts, together with all amounts on deposit from time to time in such Deposit
Accounts; (d) all Documents of Title; (e) all Intangibles, including Pledged Equity (if applicable),
Pledged Debt (if applicable) payment intangibles and all Intellectual Property; (f) all Goods,
including Inventory, Equipment, farm products and fixtures; (g) all Instruments; (h) all Investment
Property, including Pledged Equity (if applicable) and Pledged Debt (if applicable); (i) all Records;
(j) all books and records relating to any of the foregoing; and (k) all Proceeds and Accessions with

respect to any of the foregoing Collateral.

72. Sandvine Canada, Procera US, Procera Il LP, Procera Holding, Sandvine UK, Sandvine
OP (UK) Ltd., Sandvine Sweden, and certain other parties,® as Guarantors, and Jefferies, as Agent,
entered into a First Lien Guaranty dated November 2, 2018 (the “First Lien Guaranty”) to
guarantee the Secured Obligations under the First Lien Credit Agreement. A copy of the First Lien

Guaranty is attached hereto as Exhibit “F”.

(ii) Current Intercompany Debt

73. As of June 30, 2024, the following intercompany balances existed for intercompany

receivables and intercompany loans:’

¢ Procera I LP (by its GP, Procera I GP Ltd.) and Procera Cayman Ltd. (i.e. the TopCo Partnership Guarantors
discussed above); Procera Vineyard, Inc., Sandvine (USA) Inc., and Sandvine (Delaware) LLC, which merged
with Procera US effective December 31, 2023; Procera Networks Kelowna ULC and Procera Networks ULC,
which amalgamated with Sandvine Canada on October 3, 2019.

This chart only includes those entities where the intercompany balance was greater than US $1 million as of June
30, 2024 or as of the prior quarter.
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Due from Due to Approximate Amount
(Thousand USD)
Intercompany Receivables
Sandvine Canada Sandvine India 11,594
Sandvine Canada Sandvine Malaysa SDN BHD | 1,354
Sandvine Canada Sandvine Singapore 2,944
Sandvine Canada Sandvine Australia Pty Ltd. 1,183
Sandvine Canada Sandvine Sweden 12,012
Sandvine Canada Procera US 12,914
Sandvine UK Sandvine Sweden 2,860
Sandvine OP (UK) Ltd. Procera US 6,056
Sandvine Sweden Sandvine OP (UK) Ltd. 10,688
Procera US Sandvine Canada 20,149
Procera US Sandvine UK 1,743
Procera US Sandvine, LP 2,751
Sandvine Sweden Procera US 1,422
Intercompany Loans
Procera US Procera Holding 46,708
Sandvine UK Sandvine OP (UK) Ltd. 108,880

74. As part of the June 2024 Reorganization, Sandvine OP (UK) Ltd. and Sandvine Canada

entered into a Note Transfer Agreement effective June 28, 2024, pursuant to which Sandvine OP

(UK) Ltd. purchased all of Sandvine Canada’s rights, title and interest in, to and under an amended

and restated loan note instrument dated October 31, 2023, under which Sandvine UK was indebted

to Sandvine Canada with a principal amount of US $102,586,214.75, plus accrued and unpaid

interest of US $6,240,247.00. A copy of the Note Transfer Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit

(13 G”
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75. Likewise, Procera Holding and Sandvine Canada entered into a Note Transfer Agreement
effective June 28, 2024, pursuant to which Procera Holding purchased all of Sandvine Canada’s
remaining rights, title and interest in, to and under a promissory note dated December 22, 2021,
under which Procera US was indebted to Sandvine Canada, in the principal amount of US
$44,008,120.12 plus accrued and unpaid interest of US $2,676,982.51. A copy of the Note Transfer

Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit “H”.

76. There are two other creditors that hold security over certain of the assets of the Applicants:

(a) Tip Fleet Services Canada Ltd., which holds security over a trailer owned by

Sandvine Canada; and

(b) The Toronto-Dominion Bank, which holds security over certain bank accounts of

Sandvine Canada.

77. Copies of the PPSA search results for the Applicants and Procera II LP for Ontario as at
October 21, 2024, and for all other provinces in Canada other than Ontario and Quebec, as at
October 24, 2024, are attached as Exhibit “I”. Copies of the RPMRR search results for Quebec,
as at October 22, 2024, are attached as Exhibit “J”. Copies of the UCC results for registrations in

the U.S., as at October 24, 2024, are attached as Exhibit “K”.

(iii)  Agent Transition
78. On August 15, 2024, the Borrowers, Jefferies, as existing administrative agent and
collateral agent, and Seaport Loan Products LLC, as successor co-administrative agent, and
Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as successor co-administrative agent and successor collateral

agent, entered into that certain Successor Agent Agreement (the “Successor Agent Agreement”),
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pursuant to which Seaport Loan Products LLC and Acquiom Agency Services LLC replaced
Jefferies as the administrative agents and collateral agent, as applicable, under the First Lien Credit
Agreement (collectively, solely in such capacities, the “First Lien Agents”). Jefferies also
assigned all security interests it was granted in its capacity as agent under the First Lien Credit
Agreement to the applicable First Lien Agents pursuant to the Successor Agent Agreement and

other related documents.

E. Background to CCAA Proceedings

(a) Entity List Designation

79. On February 27, 2024, BIS added Sandvine Canada and certain of the other Applicants to
the Entity List due to matters relating to customers located in certain foreign jurisdictions. As a
result, the Company was restricted in its ability to procure from its vendors and suppliers the

hardware, software, and technology critical to its core business operations.

80. Immediately following the Entity List designation, Sandvine requested an emergency
authorization that would allow it to receive critical updates for certain of its software. On March
28, 2024, BIS granted the emergency authorization which provided Sandvine with interim relief
from the effects of the Entity List designation. The emergency authorization was initially set to
expire on September 30, 2024, however, on September 23, 2024, BIS extended the emergency

authorization through December 31, 2024.

81. While the emergency authorization allowed Sandvine to continue to provide support to its
incumbent customers, it did not provide relief that would allow Sandvine access to certain items,

including hardware, that are critical to Sandvine’s business. In addition to the request for
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emergency authorization, Sandvine submitted several additional license applications, some of
which were approved and others of which were returned without further action. Despite receiving
this provisional, interim relief, the Applicants’ bookings were adversely impacted due to
incumbent customers pausing purchases from Sandvine, prospective customers ceasing
engagement with Sandvine, and Sandvine’s inability to procure hardware to fulfill certain orders.
In addition, Sandvine initially was not accepting purchase orders from customers in potential exit

countries as it analyzed the business changes necessary for removal from the Entity List.

82. In addition to coordinating and communicating with BIS and other U.S. government
officials to obtain interim relief from the immediate effects of the Entity List designation, Sandvine
undertook steps to address the concerns of BIS which led to its placement on the Entity List,
including committing to ceasing its sales and operations in Egypt. Specifically, Sandvine
committed to terminating the provision of its services by March 31, 2025 for government of Egypt
customers and December 31, 2025 for non-governmental Egyptian communications companies.
Sandvine took these proactive steps despite the fact that its 2023 sales and operations in Egypt
accounted for 13% of its revenue in 2023. To ensure continuity of internet services, Sandvine is
unable to cease its operations in Egypt on a more accelerated timeline. The scheduled termination
dates for Egyptian sales and operations reflect Sandvine’s commitment to exiting the jurisdiction

in a responsible manner.

83. In parallel, Sandvine began a review of all countries in which it conducts business. Based
on this review, and in light of the U.S. government’s concerns regarding the potential for
Sandvine’s technologies to be misused, Sandvine determined that it would exit jurisdictions
categorized as “non-democratic,” as defined in the Economist Intelligence Unit’s 2023 Democracy

Index. These jurisdictions in which Sandvine operates include: Algeria, Angola, Armenia,
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Azerbaijan, Bahrain, Ecuador, El Salvador, Fiji, Haiti, Hong Kong, Iraq, Jordan, Kenya, Mexico,
Morocco, Nigeria, Rwanda, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Turkey, United Arab Emirates, Uzbekistan,
and Vietnam (the “Additional Terminated Jurisdictions”). Sandvine is currently in the process
of exiting these 23 Additional Terminated Jurisdictions (excluding Egypt), with its end-of-service
date for these jurisdictions scheduled for December 31, 2025.% As with Egypt, Sandvine’s
scheduled exit date reflects a commitment to exit the Additional Terminated Jurisdictions in a
responsible manner to minimize the likelihood of disrupting internet connectivity for tens or

hundreds of millions of people.

84. To effect an orderly termination of its services in these exit jurisdictions, Sandvine sent
letters to its customers in Egypt and the Additional Terminated Jurisdictions informing them that
Sandvine will stop selling products and services and providing support or maintenance services by
the scheduled exit date. For the Additional Terminated Jurisdictions, Sandvine will provide
products and services necessary to maintain network continuity up until the exit date, subject to

the Customer’s compliance with the Sandvine EULA.”

85. As an additional measure to prevent any future misuse of its products and technologies,
Sandvine adopted an updated methodology (which continues to evolve and be further developed)
to refine its business review process. This revised process includes integrating into its Business
Ethics Committee’s review framework and process reputable, third-party indices that will allow

the Company to focus on specific risks of misuse associated with its products. Sandvine believes

Sandvine has already ceased operating in Hong Kong as of June 2024.

Where Sandvine’s agreement with a reseller or distributor customer includes other countries as well as Additional
Terminated Jurisdictions, Sandvine will require a signed amendment to remove the relevant Additional
Terminated Jurisdictions from the territories that are included in that agreement, to be effective as of the relevant
exit date.
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this measure will help ensure it applies more rigorous scrutiny to its commercial relationships

going forward.

86. After adopting these and other measures, on May 1, 2024, the Company submitted a

delisting petition to BIS to request its permanent removal from the Entity List. On September 19,

2024, following several meetings with BIS and other key members of the U.S. government, the

Company announced its commitment to effect the changes to its business model and governance

described above. In addition, the Company agreed to make certain additional commitments to

solidify its position as a technology solution leader within democracies. These commitments

include:

(a)

(b)

(©)

donating 1% of its future profits to organizations dedicated to protecting internet

freedom and remediating instances of human rights and digital abuse as of 2025;

retaining and consulting with outside advisors with deep expertise in understanding
the global risks to digital rights, including by adding a senior advisor who will
report directly to the board of directors to counsel on emerging risks and help
prevent future product misuse, as well as help the Company better engage non-
governmental organizations and civil society to facilitate the protection of basic
freedoms on the internet. This senior advisor will also report to the Company’s

Human Rights Committee;

instituting a new program that prioritizes human rights due diligence to monitor for
reports and signs of product misuse by customers in the countries where Sandvine

intends to remain;
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(d) scrutinizing relevant business decisions through the Business Ethics Committee,
which will seek input from outside policy advisors, as well as outside counsel who

have significant prior government experience combatting human rights abuses;

(e) engaging with human rights groups and other stakeholders, including those
recommended by the U.S. Department of State, prior to expanding business

operations to new jurisdictions;

® having better relationships and consultations with civil society and affected
stakeholders, both to understand how the Company can support digital rights and

to understand the risks of future geopolitical and human rights risks; and

(2) selecting a new CEO with human-rights focused leadership.

87. These commitments were announced in a press release issued by the Company on
September 19, 2024 and the Company is in the process of implementing and fulfilling these

commitments. A copy of the September 19, 2024 press release is attached hereto as Exhibit “L”.

88. On October 21, 2024, after Sandvine met certain conditions and agreed to meet certain
ongoing operational commitments, the Department of Commerce announced the removal of
Sandvine from the Entity List, which was followed by a formal update to the Federal Register,
reflecting Sandvine’s removal from the Entity List, effective October 23, 2024. Copies of the
announcement of Sandvine’s removal from the Entity List and the update to the Federal Register

are attached hereto as Exhibits “M” and “N”.
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(b) Efforts to Right-Size Business

89. Over the last two years, Sandvine has been in the process of simplifying its business and
focusing its investments on its differentiated software products and its go-to-market capabilities.
This simplification led Sandvine to move away from selling hardware platforms within its target
markets, providing customers with more flexibility with their hardware platform decisions. By
early 2024, Sandvine had substantially progressed its transition away from the sale of hardware

products. Sandvine expects that it will have very little hardware sales starting in FY25.

90. Given the significant loss of revenue arising from exiting the Additional Terminated
Jurisdictions, Sandvine has taken additional steps over the past six months to streamline its

operations in order to right-size its business. Among other things, the Company has:

(a) Reduced its workforce by approximately 40% since early 2024;

(b) Focused product development investments on its traffic classification capabilities,

its core differentiation in the marketplace;

(©) Directed go-to-market investments at target countries and customers;

(d) Accelerated its transition to software only products; and

(e) Launched simplified solution bundles for certain small telco operators and certain

enterprise segments.

(c) The June 2024 Reorganization

91. Due to the significant negative impact of unexpectedly being placed on the Entity List, the

Company faced acute short-term liquidity challenges. By April 2024, the Company became aware
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that it would fail to: (a) make a mandatory prepayment of its first lien term loans by May 6, 2024,
as required pursuant to the First Lien Credit Agreement; and (b) deliver, by the May 29, 2024
deadline, audited financial statements for fiscal year 2023 without a going-concern qualification,
as required under the First Lien Credit Agreement and the Second Lien Credit Agreement.
Recognizing that its need to preserve cash amid its impending liquidity crisis (as described in more
detail below) would render it unable to meet the obligations set forth in the First Lien Credit
Agreement and Second Lien Credit Agreement (collectively, the “Credit Agreements”), the
Company engaged legal and financial advisors to assist in exploring a range of strategic
alternatives. With the assistance of these professionals, the Company entered into negotiations
with its then First Lien Lenders and Second Lien Lenders (the “Lenders”). The focus of these

negotiations was on arriving at a potential consensual out-of-court reorganization of Sandvine.

92. In the course of its June 2024 Reorganization negotiations, the Applicants entered into
forbearance agreements with the First Lien Lenders on or about May 6, 2024 (the “1L
Forbearance Agreement’) and with the Second Lien Lenders on or about May 28, 2024 (the “2L
Forbearance Agreement”, and together with the 1L Forbearance Agreement, the “Forbearance
Agreements”) in order to address prospective defaults under the Credit Agreements. The 1L
Forbearance Agreement provided that the Lenders would refrain from enforcing their rights under
the Credit Agreements until May 20, 2024. The 2L Forbearance Agreements provided that the
Lenders would refrain from enforcing their rights under the Credit Agreements until June 17, 2024.
The term of each Forbearance Agreement was subsequently extended to June 28, 2024, while the

June 2024 Reorganization negotiations remained ongoing.

93. In addition to entering into the Forbearance Agreements, the Applicants entered into

Amendment No. 5 to the First Lien Credit Agreement, pursuant to which the First Lien Lenders
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agreed that the Company’s failure to make the mandatory prepayment under the First Lien Credit

Agreement would not be an event of default, and that such mandatory payment would not become

due until the 1L Forbearance Agreement was terminated.

94, Ultimately, the Company successfully completed the June 2024 Reorganization on June

28, 2024 and the Lenders acquired the Company through the execution of Amendment No. 6 to

the First Lien Credit Agreement. As part of the June 2024 Reorganization:

(a)

(b)

the First Lien Lenders agreed to certain modifications of their US $394 million
(plus interest and fees) first lien debt facility, including (i) a reduction of the interest
rate to 2% per annum, payable quarterly in cash and (i1) an extension of the maturity
date from November 2025 through June 28, 2027. In exchange, the First Lien
Lenders received (i) units representing 100% of the voting rights in Procera II LP
and 80% of the economic rights in Procera II LP and (ii) 100% of New Procera GP

Company’s units; and

the Company extinguished all of its US $110 million outstanding second lien term
loans under the Second Lien Credit Agreement (plus accrued and unpaid interest)
in exchange for (i) US $18 million (approximately 4.5%) of incremental term loans
under the amended First Lien Credit Agreement (all loans under the as-amended
First Lien Credit Agreement, collectively, the “Existing Loans”) and (ii) 20% of

Procera II LP’s economic, non-voting units.

95. Although the liquidity crisis and prospective default led the Company to pursue the June

2024 Reorganization, the Company and the Lenders recognized early in negotiations that the

Company needed to preserve liquidity and minimize restructuring expenses until the outcome of
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the delisting process and the future of the Company became clearer, and that, as a result, a change
of control transaction that gave the Lenders control of the Company would be value maximizing

and the best path forward for Sandvine.

96. The Company’s corporate structure following the June 2024 Reorganization mirrored the
Company’s historic holding structure and includes two relevant entities for current governance
purposes: New Procera GP Company, a Cayman Islands limited liability company and Procera II
LP, a Cayman Islands exempted limited partnership. As part of the June 2024 Reorganization,
100% of the equity interests in New Procera GP Company were issued to the Company’s former
First Lien Lenders on a pro rata basis, and the equity interests in Procera II LP were issued to the
former First Lien Lenders (which lenders received, on a pro rata basis, equity interest representing
an aggregate of 80% of economic rights and 100% of voting rights) and former Second Lien
Lenders (which lenders received, on a pro rata basis, equity interest representing an aggregate of

20% of economic rights).

97. As previously discussed, New Procera GP Company is the general partner of Procera II
LP. Following the June 2024 Reorganization, a new suite of directors was appointed. This new
board of directors sit at New Procera GP Company. This board controls the corporate decisions of
both New Procera GP Company and Procera II LP and therefore the Company. New Procera GP

Company’s general partner interest in Procera II LP is non-economic.

(d) The October 2024 Financing and Restructuring

98. Following the June 2024 Reorganization, the Company continued its efforts to seek
removal from the Entity List. In addition, although the June 2024 Reorganization addressed

prospective near-term defaults under the Credit Agreements and provided the Lenders with
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ownership of the Company, it did not fully address the Company’s overleveraged financial
position and go-forward liquidity needs. The Lenders and the Company were aware, at the time of
the June 2024 Reorganization, that a further “step 2” restructuring would likely be necessary for
the Company to address the impact of the Entity List designation and continue operating on a

going-concern basis.

99. In August 2024, after a review of its financial position and given the uncertainty
attributable to the delisting process, the Company concluded it would be necessary, in order for it
to continue operating as a going-concern business, to receive an additional liquidity injection
before the end of September 2024. Given the Company’s Entity List designation and its
challenging financial position, any new money financing provider would likely have demanded
that its new money loans be secured on a super-priority basis, senior in lien and payment priority

to the Existing Loans.

100. Pursuant to the terms of the First Lien Credit Agreement, such super-priority financing
would require the consent of all the Lenders that continued to hold the Existing Loans following
the June 2024 Reorganization (in their capacity as such, the “Existing Loan Lenders”), unless
any non-consenting Existing Loan Lender was offered the opportunity to participate in such
financing and declined. Recognizing that the Existing Loan Lenders would not agree to
subordinate the Existing Loans to a third party lender, and upon concluding that the most viable
source of new money financing was the Existing Loan Lenders and that the support of such
Existing Loan Lenders to the eventual restructuring transaction was critically important, the
Company, with the assistance of its financial and legal advisors, exercised its reasonable business
judgment and determined to engage the Existing Loan Lenders in negotiations to source the new

money financing.
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101. Inearly September 2024, the Company invited all interested Existing Loan Lenders to enter
into non-disclosure agreements that would allow the Company to share sensitive updates regarding
its performance, and the delisting process. All but two Existing Loan Lenders agreed to enter into
these non-disclosure agreements. On September 10, 2024, the Company, through its advisors,
presented to those restricted Existing Loan Lenders the terms of a proposed restructuring, which
terms included the request for an additional US $45 million in new money financing. The proposed
restructuring also contemplated that the new money financing would be backstopped by interested
Existing Loan Lenders, provided that the Existing Loan Lenders execute a backstop commitment
letter on or before September 13, 2024. As discussed in more detail below, the Backstop Parties
(as defined below) executed the Commitment Letter (as defined below) on September 13, 2024 to
fully backstop the US $45 million of new money financing in exchange for the Backstop Premium

(as defined below).

102.  Thereafter, the Company engaged in further discussions with the interested Existing Loan
Lenders on the terms of a comprehensive restructuring. These negotiations led to the Company
and holders of 97% of the Existing Loans (such Existing Loan Lenders, the “Consenting
Stakeholders”) executing the RSA, the DDTL Credit Agreement, and other ancillary documents
that document a set of comprehensive financing and restructuring transactions (the
“Restructuring Transactions”) on October 2, 2024. The Restructuring Transactions were
intended to be implemented either through a CCAA proceeding and accompanying Chapter 15
proceeding or otherwise through another process mutually agreeable to the Company and the

Required Consenting Stakeholders (as defined in the RSA).



133

()  The RSA

103.  The Restructuring Transactions are set forth in the RSA and the term sheet attached thereto

(the “Restructuring Term Sheet”). Pursuant to the RSA and subject to the conditions specified

therein, the Consenting Stakeholders agreed, among other things, to support the Restructuring

Transactions, which contemplate:

(a)

(b)

The Financing of a DDTL Facility. The Restructuring Transactions contemplate

the Consenting Stakeholders (i) committing to fund delayed draw term loans for a
facility (“DDTL Facility”) in the aggregate principal amount of US $50 million
(inclusive of the US $45 million of new money commitments (the “DDTL Tranche
A Commitments”) and US $5 million of loans net funded on account of the
Backstop Premium (as described below)) (the loans issued thereunder, collectively,
the “DDTL Tranche A Loans”), and (ii) exchanging Existing Loans held by the
Existing Loan Lenders that made DDTL Tranche A Commitments (the “DDTL
Tranche A Commitment Parties”) on a dollar-for-dollar basis into loans under
the DDTL Facility in an aggregate principal amount of US $75 million (the “DDTL
Tranche B Loans”) (each DDTL Tranche A Commitment Party was allowed to
exchange US $5 of its Existing Loans for each US $3 of DDTL Tranche A
Commitments it made (the “Uptier Exchange”)). The DDTL Tranche A Loans
rank pari passu in lien and payment priority with the DDTL Tranche B Loans, and

both tranches are senior in lien and payment priority to the Existing Loans.

DIP Financing. By entering into the RSA, the DDTL Tranche A Commitment

Parties agreed to fund the financing facility in place following the commencement
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of any CCAA proceedings (or such other restructuring process commenced in
accordance with the RSA) in an aggregate principal amount equal to their unfunded
DDTL Tranche A Commitments as of the commencement date of any such

proceedings (such commitments, the “DIP Financing Commitments”).

A DDTL Commitment Fee. In exchange for the DDTL Tranche A Commitments,

50% of the common equity of the top holding entity of the Company (or a successor
entity following the Restructuring Transactions, including an entity that directly or
indirectly acquires substantially all of the business assets of the Company)
(“NewCo”, and such common equity, “NewCo Common Equity”) (subject to
dilution of any management incentive plan) will be issued to the DDTL Tranche A
Commitment Parties on the effective date of the Restructuring Transactions (the

“Transaction Effective Date”).

Recapitalization. As set forth in the RSA, the Company contemplated potentially

commencing proceedings under the CCAA, with accompanying Chapter 15
recognition proceedings, to effectuate the Restructuring Transactions. In the event
that the transaction proposed by the Consenting Stakeholders is the successful bid
in the proposed sale process (as described in further detail below), the RSA
provides that, on the Transaction Effective Date, (i) all DDTL Tranche A Loans,
DDTL Tranche B Loans, and DIP Loans will be exchanged for loans under a new
first lien exit financing facility on a dollar-for-dollar and pari passu basis, (i1) all
remaining Existing Loans will be exchanged for 50% of the NewCo Common
Equity (subject to dilution by any management incentive plan) (in the case of (i)

and (i1), in full satisfaction thereof), and (ii1) all general unsecured claims and
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existing equity interests in New Procera GP Company and Procera II LP will be

cancelled for no consideration.

(e) A Forbearance. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the RSA, the

Consenting Stakeholders agreed to forbear from exercising any rights to enforce
remedies based on any default under the First Lien Credit Agreement and other debt

documents.

104. A copy of the RSA is attached hereto as Exhibit “O”. The RSA contemplates the following
timeline for implementation of the Restructuring Transactions in the event of a CCAA and Chapter

15 restructuring process (which may be extended by the Required Consenting Stakeholders):

Event Date
CCAA Filing Date Not later than November 15, 2024
Transaction Approval Order Issued Not later than 90 days after the CCAA Filing Date

Entry of an Order by the Chapter 15 | Not later than 30 days after the Transaction Approval
Court giving effect to the Transaction | Order is issued
Approval Order

Transaction Effective Date Not later than 120 days after the CCAA Filing Date

105. The RSA provides that the contemplated Restructuring Transactions may be implemented
pursuant to an approval and reverse vesting order in the CCAA proceedings, unless the Company
and the Required Consenting Stakeholders otherwise elect to implement the Restructuring
Transactions through an approval and vesting order or a plan in the CCAA proceedings (or such
other process commenced in accordance with the RSA). In any such case, such Restructuring

Transactions will be on substantially the same terms as set forth in the RSA.



136

106. Importantly, a material default under the RSA would allow the requisite Consenting
Stakeholders to terminate the RSA and the forbearance granted by the Consenting Stakeholders
thereunder and cause an “Event of Default” under the DDTL Credit Agreement, such that the
Consenting Stakeholders, in their capacity as lenders under the DDTL Credit Agreement, could
accelerate and take enforcement steps with respect to all outstanding principal and interest amounts
under the DDTL Credit Agreement. Such an acceleration would be an Event of Default under the
First Lien Credit Agreement and the Existing Loan Lenders could then accelerate and take
enforcement steps with respect to all outstanding principal and interest amounts under the First

Lien Credit Agreement.

107.  Given the substantial benefits of the Restructuring Transactions, I believe that the proposed
Restructuring Transactions currently represent the best available path forward to right-size the
Company’s balance sheet, position the Company to continue as a going-concern, maximize the
value of its businesses for the benefit of all stakeholders, and enable the Company to continue
serving customers across the world. With the RSA serving as the backbone for its path forward,
the Company expects to use the time and tools afforded by the CCAA and Chapter 15 proceedings
to further develop and implement its go-forward business plan. Moreover, I understand that the
Company’s obligations under the RSA are subject to a fiduciary out, and will be subjected to a
marketing process, which ensures that the Company is able to continue considering all offers

received during the restructuring proceedings.

(i) DDTL Facility

108.  As mentioned above, the Existing Loan Lenders that chose to be restricted were offered

the opportunity to commit to backstopping the DDTL Tranche A Commitments. Any Existing
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Loan Lender that intended to backstop these DDTL Tranche A Commitments was required to
execute a commitment letter (the “Commitment Letter””) on or prior to September 13, 2024.
Eleven of the Existing Loan Lenders (each of which manages or advises one or more of the funds
or accounts that are beneficial owners of the Existing Loans), comprising all of the Consenting
Stakeholders, became party to the Commitment Letter and fully backstopped the DDTL Tranche
A Commitments (in such capacity, the “Backstop Parties”). In exchange for their backstop
commitment, the Backstop Parties received US $5 million (the “Backstop Premium”) in cash
payable on the closing date of the DDTL Facility (the “DDTL Closing Date’’), which was net

funded from the loans such Backstop Parties would fund on such date.

109. The terms of funding under the DDTL Facility are documented in a Super-Senior Credit
Agreement dated as of October 2, 2024 (the “DDTL Credit Agreement”) by and among Sandvine
Canada and Procera US, in their capacity as borrowers thereto, Procera Il LP, as the ultimate
parent, the lender parties thereto, Seaport Loan Products LLC, as co-administrative agent, and
Acquiom Agency Services LLC as co-administrative agent and collateral agent (collectively,
solely in such capacities, the “DDTL Agents”), a copy of which without schedules or signature
pages is attached hereto as Exhibit “P”. The security granted pursuant to the DDTL Credit
Agreement includes all of the Applicants’ collateral, subject to certain customary exceptions. The
DDTL Facility has a maturity of one year from the date of issuance and any loans thereunder are
subject to an interest rate of SOFR + 9%, paid in cash semi-annually. In order to draw on the

DDTL Facility, the Company must not be in default under the RSA.

110. Additionally, the DDTL Agents and First Lien Agents, Sandvine, and Procera US entered
into an intercreditor agreement (the “Intercreditor Agreement”) dated as of October 2, 2024 that

sets out the relative priority of the parties’ security interests. A copy of the Intercreditor Agreement
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is attached hereto as Exhibit “Q”. Pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement, the DDTL Tranche A

Loans and the DDTL Tranche B Loans rank senior in lien priority to the Existing Loans.

111.  On October 2, 2024, the Existing Loan Lenders constituting “Required Lenders” under the
Existing Credit Agreement also executed Amendment No. 8 to the First Lien Credit Agreement
(“Amendment No. 8”) with Sandvine Canada and Procera US, a copy of which is attached hereto

without schedules as Exhibit “R”. Amendment No. 8 permits the Restructuring Transactions

(including the incurrence of the DDTL Facility) and implements the Uptier Exchange.

112. On October 2, 2024, Sandvine Canada and Procera US made an initial draw under the
DDTL Facility in the amount of US $20 million, which draw included the US $5 million net funded
Backstop Premium. The current outstanding principal amount under the DDTL Facility is US $20

million. The following table summarizes Sandvine’s current significant non-trade debt listed by

priority of payment:

Type Borrowers | Guarantors Maturity | Outstanding
Date Principal
Amount
DDTL Non- Sandvine Procera II LP; October 3, | DDTL Tranche
Credit revolving, Canada; Procera Holding; | 2025 A Loans: US
Agreement | super-senior | Procera Sandvine UK $20 million
secured UsS Sandvine OP
delayed- (UK) Ltd.; and DDTL Tranche
draw term Sandine Sweden B Loans: US
$75 million
First Lien Non- Sandvine Procera II LP; June 28, US
Credit revolving, Canada; Procera Holding; | 2027 $336,802,432.45
Agreement | first lien Procera Sandvine UK
term loan UsS Sandvine OP
facility (UK) Ltd.; and
Sandvine
Sweden
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(iii) Miscellaneous Amendments to the First Lien Credit Agreement

113. Inthe course of the restructuring negotiations, the Company and the Existing Loan Lenders
further amended the First Lien Credit Agreement. On August 28, 2024, certain Existing Loan
Lenders constituting the “Required Lenders” under the First Lien Credit Agreement entered into
the seventh amendment to the First Lien Credit Agreement (“Amendment No. 7”) with Sandvine
Canada and Procera US, which amendment granted the Borrowers an extension of time to deliver
the unaudited balance sheet and unaudited consolidated statements of income and cash flows for
the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2024. A copy of Amendment No. 7 without signature pages is

attached hereto as Exhibit “S”.

114.  On October 4, 2024, 100% of the “Lenders” under the First Lien Credit Agreement
executed the ninth amendment to the First Lien Credit Agreement (“Amendment No. 9°) with
Sandvine Canada and Procera US, which amendment extended the interest payment date
applicable to the September 30, 2024 scheduled interest payment to December 31, 2024. A copy

of Amendment No. 9 without signature pages is attached hereto as Exhibit “T”.

(iv)  DIP Financing

115. Pursuant to the terms of the RSA, the DDTL Tranche A Commitment Parties committed
to provide the DIP Financing Commitments in an aggregate principal amount equal to the then
unfunded portion of the DDTL Facility, which is US $30 million. The terms of the DIP Facility
set out in the Restructuring Term Sheet have been documented in the Amendment No. 1 to Super

Senior Credit Agreement, dated as of November 6, 2024, by and among Sandvine Canada and
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Procera US, as borrowers, and the lenders party thereto (the “First DDTL Amendment’), which
amended the DDTL Credit Agreement and re-titled it as “Super-Senior Debtor-in-Possession
Credit Agreement” (as further amended, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise
modified from time to time, the “DIP Credit Agreement”), by and among Sandvine Canada and
Procera US, as borrowers, Procera II LP, as ultimate parent, the Specified Term Lenders (as
defined in the DIP Credit Agreement), the Delayed Draw DIP Term Lenders (as defined in the
DIP Credit Agreement) (the “DIP Lenders”), Seaport Loan Products LLC, as co-administrative
agent, and Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as co-administrative agent and collateral agent (solely
in such capacity, the “DIP Agents”). A copy of the First DDTL Amendment without signature
pages or schedules is attached to this affidavit as Exhibit “U”. A copy of the DIP Credit

Agreement without signature pages or schedules is attached to this affidavit as Exhibit “V”.

116.  As set forth in the DIP Credit Agreement, the DIP Facility will have a maturity of 366 days
from the date of effectiveness of the First DDTL Amendment and any loans thereunder will be
subject to an interest rate of SOFR + 9%, paid in cash semi-annually. The DIP Facility will also
have a commitment fee of 1% per annum on the unused portion of the DIP Facility which will be

payable quarterly in arrears.

117.  As contemplated in the Restructuring Term Sheet, the DIP Loans will be pari passu in lien
and payment priority to the DDTL Tranche A Loans and DDTL Tranche B Loans and senior in
lien priority to the Existing Loans. This priority waterfall is reflected in the terms of the proposed
Initial Order. In order to draw on the DIP Facility, the Company must not be in default under the

RSA.
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118. The DIP Credit Agreement requires the Applicants to pursue a sale and investment
solicitation process as part of these CCAA proceedings in accordance with the following

milestones:

Event Date

Receipt of non-binding letters of intent | Not later than December 18, 2024
for potential sale, investment and/or
restructuring transactions

Receipt of binding bids for potential sale, | Not later than January 27, 2025

investment and/or restructuring
transactions
Closing of transaction(s) Not later than March 21, 2025

119.  After taking into account the projected costs of the CCAA and Chapter 15 proceedings and
anticipated revenues to be generated by the Company’s ordinary course operations as it continues
to implement is exit from the Additional Terminated Jurisdictions, I believe the Company will
need access to debtor-in-possession financing to continue to operate its business and administer its
insolvency proceedings. Although the Company’s cash flow projections do not demonstrate a need
for a draw on the DIP Facility prior to the Comeback Hearing, the Company is seeking approval
of the First DDTL Amendment and the DIP Credit Agreement in the Initial Order to provide
necessary certainty and stability for the Company and its stakeholders that there will be funding
available to complete the transactions contemplated by the RSA (including any superior
transaction received as part of the sale process). As such, the Company is seeking immediate court
approval of the DIP Facility provided by the DIP Lenders and approval of a DIP Charge, but will
not seek authorization to draw on the DIP Facility until the Comeback Hearing. The Company has

no other immediate options or prospects to provide it with the liquidity it requires during its
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restructuring proceedings. Without access to the DIP Facility, I believe the Company’s ability to
continue operating its business on an uninterrupted basis and its ability to utilize the CCAA and
Chapter 15 proceedings to pursue a value-maximizing restructuring transaction would be

jeopardized.

) Proposed Transaction and Exit Financing

120. The RSA and Restructuring Term Sheet provide for Restructuring Transactions with the
Consenting Stakeholders that would result in a very significant reduction in the Company’s funded
debt obligations and a new ownership structure of the Company’s business assets. The proposed
Restructuring Transactions provide that, on the Transaction Effective Date (as defined in the

RSA):

(a) the following loans will be converted into and exchanged for approximately US
$125 million in exit facility term loans (the “Exit Facility Loans”) on dollar-for-
dollar and pari passu basis: (1) outstanding DDTL Tranche A Loans and
outstanding loans under the DIP Facility (up to US $50 million in the aggregate),

and (ii) outstanding DDTL Tranche B Loans (US $75 million in the aggregate);

(b) the DDTL Tranche A Commitment Parties (or their designees) shall receive the
DDTL Commitment Fee (i.e. 50% of the NewCo Common Equity subject to

dilution by the management incentive plan);

C the US $337 million in Existing Loans remaining will be exchanged for 50% of the
(©) g g g

NewCo Common Equity, subject to dilution by the management incentive plan;
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(d) Intercompany Claims and Intercompany Interests (both as defined in the
Restructuring Term Sheet) will be retained or otherwise addressed in accordance
with the Restructuring Term Sheet, without any distribution on account of such

claims or interests;

(e) All General Unsecured Claims not assumed or retained will be released and

extinguished; and

® All existing equity interests in Procera II LP and New Procera GP Company will

be canceled with no consideration paid.

121. The RSA provides that the contemplated restructuring transaction may be implemented
pursuant to an Approval and Reverse Vesting Order in the CCAA proceedings, unless the
Company Parties and the Required Consenting Stakeholders otherwise elect to implement the
restructuring transactions through an Approval and Vesting Order or a Plan in the CCAA

proceedings (or such other process commenced in accordance with the RSA).

122.  As discussed further below, the draft order approving the SISP (defined below) authorizes
Sandvine to enter into a transaction agreement with the Consenting Stakeholders (or their
designees) on substantially the economic terms set out in the Restructuring Term Sheet (the

“Stalking Horse Transaction Agreement”).

123.  Without the proposed restructuring, injection of liquidity and CCAA protections, Sandvine

will not be in a position to satisfy its obligations in the ordinary course.
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F. Urgent Need for Relief under the CCAA

124. The Company expects to incur significant costs as well as reduced revenues as it
restructures its operations. The countries Sandvine is exiting represent 47% of its FY23 bookings
and 45% of 2023 revenue. Sandvine’s bookings are projected to drop from US $180 million in
2023 to approximately US $80 million in 2024. Additionally, Sandvine expects that exits from

certain countries will also impact its ability to collect on certain existing accounts receivable.

125. The RSA requires that Sandvine commence a restructuring process by November 15, 2024,
failing which the Consenting Stakeholders can accelerate and take enforcement steps with respect
to all outstanding principal and interest amounts under the First Lien Credit Agreement and the

DDTL Facility. Sandvine cannot pay or otherwise satisfy such amounts.

126. The Applicants urgently require the protections provided by the CCAA including the
stability and access to funding provided by the DIP Facility. The Applicants require the breathing
room afforded by the CCAA to engage with their principal stakeholders, implement the process to
exit the Additional Terminated Jurisdictions, right-size their business and capital structure to
accommodate for the reduction in their customer base, and conduct the proposed sale process with
the benefit of the stability created by the committed exit transaction proposed by the Consenting

Stakeholders.

127.  An abrupt cessation of Sandvine’s business could threaten the stability and security of
telecommunications and Internet networks worldwide, affecting millions of civilian internet users
as well as Sandvine’s many significant customers with broad consumer bases that are located and
operate in Canada. This could quickly result in Sandvine customers experiencing disruptions to

essential services, leading to the potential for cascading failures for Sandvine’s customers,
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including widespread outages, instability, congestion, and increased susceptibility of critical
systems to cyber-attacks. Sandvine’s products are tightly integrated into customer networks. It is
difficult, and typically takes at least six months, and in many cases twelve to eighteen months, for

customers to qualify and switch to alternate vendors’ solutions.

128. In addition to the impact on global communications, Sandvine’s products perform
functions that provide their customers’ subscribers with services that are essential to maintaining
subscriber connectivity, managing subscriber billing, allowing customers to optimize their
networks and manage congestion, identifying or preventing fraud, protecting their networks,

filtering illicit content, and managing customer operations.

129. The CCAA proceedings will provide the stability Sandvine requires to reconfigure its
business and conduct a sale process to maximize value for its stakeholders, while continuing to

provide critical services to its customers.

G. Relief Sought

130. The Applicants will be seeking various forms of relief upon commencing these CCAA

proceedings, including the following:

(a) Stay of Proceedings

131. The Applicants urgently require a stay of proceedings and other protections provided by
the CCAA to create the “breathing space” necessary for it to implement a restructuring for the
benefit of their stakeholders. It would be detrimental to the Applicants if proceedings were

commenced or rights or remedies executed against the Applicants at this critical juncture.
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132.  The Applicants request a stay in favour of, and an extension of the protections and
authorizations of the Initial Order to Procera II LP. Procera II LP should be protected given its
status as guarantor under the Credit Facilities and the ultimate parent company of the Sandvine
operating entities. It is also the vehicle through which certain of the Lenders currently own the
Company. The extension of the benefits of the stay and the protections and authorizations of the

Initial Order to Procera II LP is necessary to maintain stability and value in the CCAA process.

133.  The proposed Initial Order also extends the stay of proceedings and certain other
protections of the Initial Order to the Non-Applicant Stay Parties. The Non-Applicant Stay Parties
are integral to the Applicants’ business, providing critical research and development, sales,
customer success, and marketing services. Their functions are deeply intertwined with the global
business of the Applicants. For instance, Sandvine India provides global expense report processing
and accounts payable services for the whole Company. The Non-Applicant Stay Parties

collectively have approximately 294 employees — more than half of Sandvine’s global workforce.

(b) DIP Financing

134.  Given the Company’s current liquidity challenges, and as demonstrated in the Cash Flow
Forecast (discussed below), the Applicants require interim financing to provide stability and to
restructure their business, through the committed exit transaction or a superior transaction

generated from a sale process, as part of these CCAA proceedings.

135.  As described above, the DIP Lenders have agreed to provide the proposed DIP Facility up
to the amount of US $30 million, in accordance with their commitments under the RSA. The

Applicants are seeking approval of the DIP Facility and DIP Charge at the initial hearing to allow
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the Company to provide assurance to its key stakeholders, including its vendors and customers,

that it will continue to have access to necessary financing during these proceedings.

136.  The DIP Facility is proposed to be secured by a Court-ordered charge (the “DIP Charge”)
on the Property (as defined in the proposed Initial Order) of the Applicants and Procera II LP. The
DIP Charge will not secure any obligation that exists before the Initial Order is made. The DIP
Charge will rank junior to the Administration Charge and the Directors’ Charge, and have priority
over all other security interests, charges and liens, except that it will rank pari passu to any and all

amounts owed with respect to the DDTL Tranche A Loans and DDTL Tranche B Loans.

137. The Applicants do not intend to draw on the DIP Facility before the Comeback Hearing.
However, the Applicants are seeking approval of the DIP Charge in conjunction with the approval
of the First DDTL Amendment and the DIP Credit Agreement at the Initial Hearing to ensure that
all of the authorizations required to access the DIP Facility are put in place at the commencement
of these CCAA proceedings and the Applicants can seek to have the DIP Charge recognized in a

timely manner in the concurrent Chapter 15 proceedings.

138. At the Comeback Hearing, the Applicants intend to request the authority to draw on the

DIP Facility.

(c) Proposed Monitor

139. KSV Restructuring Inc. (“KSV”) is the proposed Monitor (the “Proposed Monitor”). I
am advised by Noah Goldstein, Managing Director of KSV, that KSV is a “trustee” within the
meaning of section 2 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, and is not subject to any of the

restrictions on who may be appointed as monitor set out in section 11.7(2) of the CCAA. I
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understand that KSV has extensive experience acting as monitor or financial advisor to debtor
companies in large insolvencies (including cross-border insolvencies) under the CCAA, including
LoyaltyOne, Co., BioSteel Sports Nutrition Inc., Black Press Ltd., and Canadian Overseas

Petroleum Limited.

140. The Proposed Monitor has consented to act as the Monitor of the Applicants under the
CCAA. A copy of the Proposed Monitor’s consent to act as Monitor is attached to my affidavit as

Exhibit “W”.

141. I understand that the Proposed Monitor will file a pre-filing report with the Court as

Proposed Monitor in conjunction with the Applicants’ request for relief under the CCAA.

(d) Administration Charge

142.  Pursuant to the proposed Initial Order, it is contemplated that the Proposed Monitor, along
with its counsel in Canada and the U.S., counsel to the Applicants in Canada and the U.S., and
GLC will be granted a Court-ordered charge on the Property of the Applicants, as security for their
respective fees and disbursements (in the case of GLC, to the extent of its Monthly Advisory Fees,
as defined in the GLC Engagement Letter) relating to services rendered in respect of the Applicants
up to a maximum of US $2.5 million (the “Administration Charge”) for the Initial Stay Period.
The Applicants propose that the Administration Charge be increased to US $5.4 million after the
Initial Stay Period. The Administration Charge is proposed to have first priority over all other
charges and security interests. The quantum of the Administration Charge was developed in

consultation with the Proposed Monitor.
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(e) Directors’ Charge

143. A successful restructuring of the Applicants will only be possible with the continued
participation of its directors, officers, management, and employees. These personnel are essential

to the viability of the Applicants’ continuing business and the preservation of enterprise value.

144. I am advised by Marc Wasserman of Osler, Hoskin & Harcourt LLP, counsel for the
Applicants, and believe that, in certain circumstances, directors can be held liable for certain
obligations of a company owing to employees and government entities, which may include unpaid
accrued wages and unpaid accrued vacation pay, together with unremitted sales, goods and

services, and harmonized sales taxes.

145. I am also advised by Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison LLP, U.S. counsel to the
Applicants, and believe that, in certain circumstances, directors of U.S. companies may be held
liable for certain obligations of a company owing to employees and government entities, which
may include sales and use taxes, employee withholding and certain payroll taxes, state income
taxes in a few states, 401(k) and other obligations withheld from employees, unpaid wages
(including paid vacation), ERISA fiduciary obligations, and nonpayment of contractual obligations

owed to certain suppliers.

146. It is my understanding that the past, present and future directors and officers of New
Procera GP Company, Procera II LP and their subsidiaries are Insured Persons under the Directors
& Officers Liability insurance policies, which have an aggregate limit of US $75 million, which
is the combined total of US $50 million side ABC and US $25 million side A. The Company has
also issued a local director/officer insurance policy that covers Sandvine Canada and its

subsidiaries, which has a US $1 million limit (collectively with the U.S. policies, the “D&O
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Insurance”). [ understand that any amounts paid under the D&O Insurance reduces the amount of
the aggregate limit available for any other payment and that the policies have various exceptions,
exclusions and carve outs where coverage may not be available. Therefore, I do not believe that
the D&O Insurance provides sufficient coverage against the potential liability that the directors

and officers of the Applicants could incur in relation to these CCAA proceedings.

147.  In light of the potential liabilities and the potential insufficiency of available insurance, the
directors and officers of the Applicants have indicated that their continued service and involvement
in these CCAA proceedings is conditional upon the granting of an Order under the CCAA which
grants a charge in favour of the directors and officers of the Applicants in the amount of US $4.4
million on the Property (the “Directors’ Charge”) for the Initial Stay Period. The Applicants
propose that the Directors’ Charge be increased to US $5.7 million after the Initial Stay Period.
The Directors’ Charge would be subordinate to the proposed Administration Charge and in priority
to the DIP Charge and all other security interests. The Directors’ Charge would act as security for
the indemnification obligations for directors’ potential liabilities, as set out above. The Directors’
Charge is necessary so that the Applicants may benefit from the directors’ and officers’ experience
with the business during these CCAA proceedings. The Directors’ Charge would only be relied
upon to the extent of the insufficiency of existing insurance. The quantum of the Directors’ Charge

was developed in consultation with the Proposed Monitor.

® Financial Advisor

148.  On June 29, 2024, Sandvine engaged GLC to: (a) assist the Company with evaluating its
financial alternatives and (b) assist in developing and negotiating, and provide expert advice with

respect to, the financial aspects of any potential sale transaction, restructuring, reorganization, or
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recapitalization. The engagement letter for GLC is attached to this affidavit as Exhibit “X” (the

“GLC Engagement Letter”).

149.  GLC has significant experience as a financial advisor in North American restructuring and
capital market transactions, including CCAA proceedings such as Tacora Resources Inc., Essar
Steel Algoma Inc. and Pengrowth Energy Corporation, and Chapter 11 proceedings such as Alpha
Media Holdings LLC, Brookstone Holdings Corp., Caesars Entertainment Operating Co Inc.,
Guitar Center Inc., iHeartMedia, Inc., Riverbed Technology, Inc., and Toys “R” Us, Inc. The
Monthly Advisory Fees (as defined in the GLC Engagement Letter) are proposed to be included

in the Administration Charge, as set out in the proposed Initial Order.

150. At the Comeback Hearing, the Applicants will be seeking an additional charge in the
amount of US $7 million (the “Transaction Fee Charge”), to secure the Transaction Fees and
Discretionary Fees (as defined in the GLC Engagement Letter) and the Company’s
indemnification obligations under the GLC Engagement Letter. The Transaction Fee Charge will
have priority over all other security interests, charges and liens, except the Administration Charge,

the Directors’ Charge, and the DIP Charge.

151. GLC was instrumental in assisting with the negotiations that led to the execution of the
RSA and the preparations for these CCAA proceedings. GLC’s continued involvement will be
critical to the successful completion of a going concern restructuring transaction as part of these
CCAA proceedings that will maximize value for stakeholders, including running the proposed sale

process on behalf of the Company.
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(2) Cash Flow Forecast

152.  The Applicants, with the assistance of the Proposed Monitor, have prepared 13-week cash
flow projections as required by the CCAA (the “Cash Flow Forecast”). A copy of the Cash Flow
Forecast is attached as Exhibit “Y”. The cash flow projections demonstrate that the Applicants
have sufficient liquidity to continue going concern operations during the Initial Stay Period should

the Initial Order be granted.

153. The Applicants anticipate that the Monitor will provide oversight and assistance and will
report to the Court in respect of the Applicants’ actual results relative to cash flow forecast during
this proceeding. Existing accounting procedures and the proposed continuation of the Cash
Management System will provide the Monitor with the ability to accurately track the flow of funds

and assist with any issues that may arise.

(h) Payments During these CCAA Proceedings

154.  During the course of these proceedings, the Applicants intend to make payments for goods
and services supplied to them post-filing in the ordinary course, as set out in the Cash Flow

Forecast and as permitted by the proposed Initial Order.

155. The proposed Initial Order provides that the Applicants be authorized, with the consent of
the Monitor, but not required, to make certain payments for goods and services actually supplied
to the Applicants prior to the date of the Initial Order, to: (a) vendors providing hardware or
software or similar products and services to Sandvine that are essential to the products and services
sold and distributed by the Company to its customers; and (b) distributors and resellers of

Sandvine’s products and services.
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156. These categories of suppliers are fundamental to continuing operations of the Applicants.
For third-party suppliers other than those listed above, the draft Initial Order also proposes
permitting payments in respect of pre-filing amounts up to a maximum aggregate amount of US
$250,000 with the consent of the Monitor, if, in the opinion of the Applicants, the supplier is
critical to the business and ongoing operations of Sandvine. At the Comeback Hearing, the

Applicants will seek to increase such maximum aggregate amount to US $500,000.

(i) Chapter 15 Proceedings

157. Because the Applicants have operations, assets and valuable business in the U.S., the
Applicants intend to initiate proceedings under Chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy Code seeking an
order to recognize and enforce these CCAA proceedings in the U.S. and protect against any
potential adverse action taken by the Applicants’ U.S.-based creditors (the “Chapter 15

Proceedings™).

158. The Applicants intend to file the Chapter 15 Proceedings in the United States Bankruptcy
Court for the Northern District of Texas and, inter alia, seek provisional relief, including, without
limitation, (a) a temporary restraining order to obtain the benefits of a stay of proceedings, and
prevent the enforcement of rights and remedies against the Applicants and certain other Sandvine
entities, to protect the Applicants and such other Sandvine entities and their Property from any

potential action, and (b) other relief pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code.

159. Asnoted above, the Applicants run a consolidated business, with operations in Canada, the
U.S., and around the world. Those operations, however, are functionally and operationally

integrated such that the U.S. business cannot operate independently of the Canadian business and



154

the key services provided by the Applicants are for the benefit of all the Applicants, including the

U.S. entities. The Applicants’ centre of main interest is in Canada:

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

®

(2

(h)

(1)

@

The majority of the Company’s North American employees are in Canada;

The majority of the Company’s assets (and in particular the majority of its IP assets,
cash, customer accounts receivable, inventory, fixed assets, and real estate

investments) are in Canada;

The Company’s general counsel resides in Canada;

The Company’s Accounting and A/R teams are primarily located in Canada and

these teams are shared globally;

Sandvine Canada issues all customer invoices for the Company;

The majority of the Company’s customer receipts are deposited into Sandvine

Canada’s Canadian bank accounts;

In 2023, Sandvine Canada generated approximately two thirds of the Company’s

revenue;

Approximately 69% of the Company’s end customers contract with Sandvine

Canada;

The majority of the Company’s patents are held by Sandvine Canada; and

Sandvine Canada is party to the majority of the Company’s shared services

agreements.
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3g) Sale and Investment Solicitation Process

160. The Company is seeking the Court’s approval of a proposed sale and investment
solicitation process (“SISP”), in the form included in the Application Record, to be approved at
the Comeback Motion.!® The proposed SISP was designed by the Company, in consultation with
its legal and financial advisors and KSV in its capacity as Proposed Monitor. The SISP is a two-
phase process that will be run by the Company and GLC, in consultation with the Monitor, and

will solicit bids in connection with potential sale or recapitalization transactions.

161. The SISP Order authorizes Sandvine to enter into the Stalking Horse Transaction
Agreement with the Consenting Stakeholders and requires that it be executed by no later than the
Phase 1 Bid Deadline. The SISP Order also requires that: (a) a substantially final form draft of the
Stalking Horse Transaction Agreement (including the terms of any transition services to be
provided) be provided to each SISP Participant no later than seven (7) business days prior to the
Phase 1 Bid Deadline; and (b) as soon as reasonably practicable after the execution, a copy of the
Stalking Horse Transaction Agreement will be posted on the Monitor’s website, served on the

service list and provided to each SISP Participant.'!

>i) Overview of the SISP

162. The key terms of the proposed SISP are summarized below.

Capitalized terms used in this section that are not otherwise defined will have the meaning given to them in the
draft SISP Order or Schedule A to the draft SISP Order.

Provided that Sandvine and the Monitor may exclude from the public record any confidential information that
Sandvine and the Stalking Horse Bidder, with the consent of the Monitor, agree should be redacted.
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Stage Description Proposed Timing
Commencement | a) SISP commences November 18, 2024
of SISP

Solicitation of a) Disseminate a teaser and a process letter to | No later than three
Interest potentially interested parties identified by | (3) business days
Sandvine and GLC after granting of the
b) Solicit interest from parties with a view to such SISP Order
parties entering into non-disclosure agreements
(each, an “NDA”)
c) Provide parties that have entered into an NDA
with a confidential memorandum and access to
a virtual data-room (the “VDR?”), as necessary,
containing due diligence information
Phase 1 Bid a) Parties that have executed an NDA will be December 18, 2024
Deadline requested to submit a letter of intent to bid at 5:00pm (prevailing
(“LOI”) that satisfies the requirements set out | Eastern Time)
in Schedule A to the SISP Order (a “Phase 1 (“Phase 1 Bid
Qualified Bid”, and each such party a “Phase | Deadline”)
1 Qualified Bidder”) by the Phase 1 Bid
Deadline
Phase 1 Bid a) Sandvine and GLC, in consultation with the December 20, 2024
Assessment and Monitor, will determine whether any LOIs at 5:00pm (prevailing
Notification received constitute Phase 1 Qualified Bids Eastern Time)
b) Sandvine and GLC, in consultation with the ("Notification

Monitor, may:

1. Seek clarification about, and/or negotiate
amendments to, any LOI prior to
determining if it is a Phase 1 Qualified
Bid;

ii.  Waive compliance with any of the phase 1

bid requirements and deem a non-
compliant LOI to be a Phase 1 Qualified
Bid; or

iii.  Reject any LOI if it does not comply with

c)

the phase 1 bid requirements or if it is
otherwise inadequate, insufficient or
contrary to the best interests of Sandvine

By the Notification Deadline, parties that have
been designated as Phase 1 Qualified Bidders

Deadline”)
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d)

will be notified of such designation and will be
invited to participate in Phase 2

If no LOI has been received by the Phase 1 Bid
Deadline, or if Sandvine and GLC, in
consultation with the Monitor, have determined
that no LOI constitutes a Phase 1 Qualified
Bid, then the SISP will be deemed to be
terminated, the Stalking Horse Transaction will
be deemed the Successful Bid and be
consummated, subject to Court approval

Phase 2 (if
applicable)

Qualified Bid
Deadline

If applicable, Phase 1 Qualified Bidders will be
requested to submit a binding offer (“Phase 2
Bid”) meeting the additional requirements set
out in the SISP Order (a “Qualified Bid”, and
such party, a “Qualified Bidder”) by the
Qualified Bid Deadline

January 27, 2025 at
5:00pm (prevailing
Eastern Time)
(“Qualified Bid
Deadline”)

Phase 2
Selection of
Successful Bid

b)

d)

Sandvine and GLC, in consultation with the
Monitor, will determine whether the Phase 2
Bids received constitute Qualified Bids

Sandvine and GLC, in consultation with the
Monitor, may:

a. Seek clarification about, and/or negotiate
amendments to, any Phase 2 Bid prior to
determining if it is a Qualified Bid;

b. Waive compliance with any phase 2 bid
requirements and deem a non-compliant
Phase 2 Bid to be a Qualified Bid; or

c. Reject any Phase 2 Bid if it does not
comply with phase 2 bid requirements or
if it is otherwise inadequate, insufficient
or contrary to the best interests of
Sandvine

Prior to the Successful Bid Selection Deadline,
Sandvine, in consultation with GLC and the
Monitor, shall select one or more successful
bid(s) (the “Successful Bid”, and such bidder,
the “Successful Bidder”)

If one or more Qualified Bids has been
received on or before the Qualified Bid
Deadline, Sandvine and GLC, in consultation
with the Monitor, may elect to proceed with an
auction process to determine the successful

February 10, 2025 at
5:00 pm (prevailing
Eastern Time)
(“Successful Bid
Selection Deadline”)
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bid(s), as set out in further detail in Appendix
A to the SISP Order, which auction will
proceed on January 31, 2025
e) Ifno Qualified Bid (other than the Stalking
Horse Transaction) has been received by the
Qualified Bid Deadline, the Stalking Horse
Transaction shall be the Successful Bid and
shall be consummated, subject to Court
approval
Approval Order | a) Once the necessary definitive agreement(s) If no Phase 1
Hearing with respect to the Successful Bid are finalized, | Qualified Bids
Sandvine, in consultation with the Monitor, received, approval of
will apply to the Court for an order or orders the Stalking Horse
approving the Successful Bid (each, an Transaction will be
“Approval Order”) sought by January 13,
b) If the successful bid is not consummated in 2025
accordance with its terms, Sandvine is If Phase 1 Qualified
authorized, but not required, to designate a Bids received but no
back-up bid as the Successful Bid and seek an | Qualified Bids
Approval Order with respect to such bid received, approval of
the Stalking Horse
Transaction will be
sought by February 4,
2025
If multiple Qualified
Bids received,
approval of the
Successful Bid will
be sought by
February 24, 2025
Outside Date a) The transaction(s) represented by the Successful | March 21, 2025
Bid to be completed by the Outside Date (“Outside Date”)
163. The SISP provides that the deadlines set out therein may be extended without obtaining an

order of the Court, provided that the Monitor, in consultation with Sandvine and GLC, determines

that doing so is not material and is useful in order to give effect to the substance of the SISP, the

SISP Order and the Initial Order and maximize the value of the Property and/or the Business.
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(ii) Phase 1 Process and Evaluation Criteria

164. To constitute a Phase 1 Qualified Bid, a LOI must:

(a) Identify the potential bidder;

(b) Contain a general description of the Property and/or Business of Sandvine that
would be the subject of the bid;

(©) Provide for: (i) the payment in full in cash of all amounts outstanding under the DIP
Credit Agreement (including, for certainty, the Specified Term Loan Obligations
and the Delayed Draw DIP Term Loan Obligations, each as defined in the DIP
Credit Agreement), unless otherwise agreed to by the requisite lenders thereunder
in their sole discretion; (i1) payment in full in cash of all amounts outstanding under
the First Lien Credit Agreement, unless otherwise agreed to by the requisite lenders
thereunder in their sole discretion; (iii) the payment in full in cash on closing of any
claims ranking in priority to the claims set forth in (i) and (i1), including any claims
secured by Court-ordered charges, unless otherwise agreed to by the applicable
holder of such claim and the applicable beneficiaries up such charges, each in their
sole discretion; (iv) the amount of cash designated by the Sandvine and the Monitor
as necessary to fund the professional fees to be incurred in connection with the
wind-up of the CCAA Proceedings and any further proceedings or wind-up costs,
to be provided by GLC to each SISP Participant no later than seven (7) business
days prior to the Phase 1 Deadline; and (v) the agreement to provide transition
services on substantially the terms contained in the Stalking Horse Transaction
Agreement and acceptable to the Monitor, to be provided by GLC to each SISP
Participant no later than seven (7) business days prior to the Phase 1 Bid Deadline
(collectively, the “Minimum Transaction Value”);

(d) Reflect a reasonable prospect of culminating in a Qualified Bid by the Qualified
Bid Deadline, as determined by Sandvine, in consultation with GLC and the
Monitor; and

(e) Be received by the Phase 1 Bid Deadline.
165. The Stalking Horse Transaction Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein will

constitute a Phase 1 Qualified Bid.
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166. In the event that no LOI has been received by Sandvine and GLC by the Phase 1 Bid
Deadline, or if Sandvine and GLC, in consultation with the Monitor, has determined that no LOI
constitutes a Phase 1 Qualified Bid, particularly if such LOI does not provide for the Minimum
Transaction Value, then the SISP will be deemed to be terminated. Upon such termination of the
SISP, the Stalking Horse Transaction will be deemed the Successful Bid and will be consummated
in accordance with the terms of the RSA and the Stalking Horse Transaction Agreement, subject

to Court approval.

(iii) Phase 2 Process and Evaluation Criteria

167. To constitute a Qualified Bid, a Phase 2 Bid must:

(a) Provide for the Minimum Transaction Value;

(b) Provide a detailed source and uses schedule that identifies with specificity, the
amount of cash consideration (the “Cash Consideration Value”) and any
assumptions that could reduce the net consideration payable;

(c) Contain duly executed binding transaction document(s) and a redline to the Stalking
Horse Transaction Agreement, unless the bid is in the form of a plan of arrangement
or other investment transaction, in which case copies of the plan of arrangement
and/or all documentation that is contemplated to be executed in such a plan of
arrangement will be provided;

(d) Contain the identity and contact information of the bidder, including disclosure of
the bidder’s principals and controlling equityholder(s) and any connections or
agreements with Sandvine, and evidence of authorization and approval from the
bidder’s board of directors or similar governing body;

(e) Not be conditional on obtaining financing or any governing body or equityholder
approval or on the outcome or review of due diligence;

63) Specify any regulatory or third-party approvals that would be required to complete
the transaction and related details;
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Include a letter stating that the bid is submitted in good faith, is binding and is
irrevocable until the selection of the Successful Bid (or if such bid is selected as the
Successful Bid or Back-Up Bid, it shall remain irrevocable until the earlier of the
closing of the Successful Bid and the Outside Date);

Provide written evidence of a bidder’s ability to fully fund and consummate the
transaction and satisfy its obligations under the transaction documents;

Not include any request for or entitlement to any break fee, expense reimbursement
or similar type of payment;

Include an acknowledgement and representation that the bidder (i) has had the
opportunity to conduct all required due diligence prior to making its bid, (i) is not
relying upon any representations made by anyone (including Sandvine, GLC or the
Monitor) regarding the transaction that is the subject of the bid, this SISP, or any
information provided in connection therewith, (iii) agrees that the transaction that
is the subject of the bid shall be on an “as is, where is” basis, (iv) agrees to serve as
Back-Up Bidder, if its bid is selected as the next-highest or otherwise best Qualified
Bid as compared to the Successful Bid, (v) has not engaged in any collusion with
respect to the submission of its bid, and (vi) agrees to be bound by the terms of the
SISP;

Include full details of the bidder’s intended treatment of Sandvine’s employees
under the proposed bid,

Be accompanied by a cash deposit (the “Deposit”) made by wire transfer of
immediately available funds equal to 10% of the Cash Consideration Value;

State that the bidder will bear its own costs and expenses in connection with the
proposed transaction;

Be reasonably capable of being consummated by no later than the Outside Date;
and

Be received by the Qualified Bid Deadline.

168.  The Stalking Horse Transaction Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein will

be deemed to constitute a Qualified Bid.

169. Following selection of the Successful Bid and finalization of all definitive agreements,

Sandvine will apply to the Court for an Approval Order.
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170. Sandvine is of the view that the timelines set out in the SISP are appropriate, will allow
interested parties to participate in the SISP, and will provide an appropriate test for whether the
Stalking Horse Transaction delivers the best possible result for all stakeholders. Sandvine is also
of the view that the proposed SISP provides a fair and reasonable process that will adequately
canvass the market, while simultaneously protecting against the significant risk of further market
decline by providing for automatic termination of the SISP and, if approved by the Court,

consummation of the Stalking horse Transaction if no LOIs or Qualified Bids are received.

H. Conclusion

171.  The Applicants, with the assistance of their advisors, have reviewed and considered the
potential options and alternatives available to them in the circumstances, taking into account,
among other things, the reductions in their revenues due to the Entity List designation and their
decision to exit all Additional Terminated Jurisdictions. The Applicants have determined that it is
in their best interests and those of their stakeholders to commence these CCAA proceedings and
the Chapter 15 Proceedings with committed funding through the DIP Facility and a clear path
forward provided by the committed exit transaction and sale process. Without the relief requested,
the Applicants will face an abrupt cessation of operations that would significantly harm the
Applicants’ business and create significant security risks for telecommunications and Internet

networks worldwide.
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Address Entity Commenc Renewal Term
ement
Date

408 Albert Street, Waterloo, Sandvine May 1, 3 options to 10 years
Ontario, Canada Canada 2021 renew for 5 years

each
410 Albert Street, Suite 201, | Sandvine May 1, 3 options to 10 years
Waterloo, Ontario, Canada Canada 2021 renew for 5 years

each
5800 Granite Parkway, Suite Procera US October 1, | Renewal option 92 months
170, Plano, TX, USA 2020 for 5 years
Neptunigatan 1, 211 20, Sandvine December Ongoing renewal | 46 months
Malmo, Sweden Sweden 1,2022 option for 3 years

at a time
Kungsgatan 32, Varberg, Sandvine September | 3 years 3 years
Sweden Sweden 15,2023
2-12-1, Higashi-shinbashi, Sandvine September | No renewal 3 years
Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan Japan 1,2022 option included in

lease
Business Central Towers Plot | Procera US March 15, | No renewal 5 years, 2
No. A-013-025, Dubai, UAE (UAE branch) | 2020 option included in | months

lease
Suite E-13A-19, 20 and 21, Sandvine March 1, 2 years 2 years
Plaza Mont Kiara No.2, Jalan | Malaysia 2023
Kiara, Mont Kiara 50480
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Bangalore Lease #1 Sandvine June 1, No renewal 5 years
Campus 1 A Level G, Technologies | 2021 option included in
Ecoworld SEZ, Sarjapura (India) Private lease
Outer Ring Road, Limited
Devarabeesanahalli,
Bangalore, India, 560103
Bangalore Lease #2 Sandvine June 12, Renewal terms to | 5 years
Campus 1 A Level 4, Technologies | 2020 be negotiated
Ecoworld SEZ, Sarjapura (India) Private with fresh terms
Outer Ring Road, Limited and conditions
Devarabeesanahalli,

Bangalore, India, 560103
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Address Entity Commenc Renewal Term
ement
Date
Bangalore Lease #3 Sandvine January 1, Renewal option 5 years
Campus 1, 4™ Floor, Ecoworld Technologies | 2022 for 5 years
SEZ, Sarjapura Outer Ring (India) Private
Road, Devarabeesanahalli, Limited

Bangalore, India, 560103
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Account Entity Bank Country

TD - CAD Sandvine Canada TD Commercial Canada
Banking

TD - USD Sandvine Canada TD Commercial Canada
Banking

HSBC - CAD Sandvine Canada HSBC Bank Canada | Canada

HSBC - EUR Sandvine Canada HSBC Bank Canada | Canada

HSBC - GBP Sandvine Canada HSBC Bank Canada | Canada

HSBC - USD Sandvine Canada HSBC Bank Canada | Canada

HSBC - USD Sandvine Canada HSBC Bank Canada | Canada

RBC - CAD Sandvine Canada Royal Bank of Canada
Canada

RBC - USD Sandvine Canada Royal Bank of Canada
Canada

RBC - EUR Sandvine Canada Royal Bank of Canada
Canada

RBC - GBP Sandvine Canada Royal Bank of Canada
Canada

RBC - USD Sandvine Canada Royal Bank of Canada
Canada

HSBC - USD Procera US HSBC Bank USA UsS
NA

HSBC - EUR Sandvine UK HSBC UK

HSBC - USD Sandvine UK HSBC UK

12 This chart does not include the Company’s trustee accounts.
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Account Entity Bank Country

HSBC - GBP Sandvine OP (UK) HSBC UK
Ltd

HSBC - EUR Sandvine OP (UK) HSBC UK
Ltd

HSBC - USD Sandvine OP (UK) HSBC UK
Ltd

Barclays - GBP Sandvine OP (UK) Barclays Bank PLC UK
Ltd

HSBC - EUR Sandvine Sweden HSBC FRANCE France

HSBC - SEK Sandvine Sweden HSBC FRANCE France

HSBC - AED Procera US (UAE) HSBC UAE UAE

HSBC - AUD Sandvine Australia HSBC Bank Australia
Pty Ltd Australia Limited

HSBC - INR Sandvine HSBC India India
Technologies (India)

HSBC - INR Sandvine HSBC India India
Technologies (India)

HSBC - USD Sandvine HSBC India India
Technologies (India)

HSBC - SGD Sandvine Singapore | HK and Shanghai Singapore
Pte Ltd Banking Corp Ltd

HSBC - MYR Sandvine HSBC Bank Malaysia
Technologies Malaysia Berhad
Malaysia Sdn Bhd

HSBC - USD Sandvine HSBC Bank Malaysia
Technologies Malaysia Berhad

Malaysia Sdn Bhd
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Account Entity Bank Country
HSBC - USD Procera Holding, Inc. | HSBC Bank USA US
NA
HSBC -USD Procera II LP HSBC Bank Cayman | US
Mizhuo Bank - JPY Sandvine Japan K.K. | Mizhuo Bank Japan
Mizhuo Bank - JPY Sandvine Japan K.K. | Mizhuo Bank Japan
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Report of independent auditors

To the Board of Directors and Partnership Unitholders of
Sandvine, LP (operating as Sandvine)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sandvine, LP (operating as Sandvine) and its subsidiaries
[the “Company”], which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, consolidated statement of partners’ deficiency and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes [collectively referred to as the
“financial statements”].

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company at December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
[‘GAAS’]. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue
as a going concern. As discussed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has been placed on
the Entity List by the United States Department of Commerce significantly impacting its ability to operate and has stated
that substantial doubt exists about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management's evaluation of
the events and conditions and management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in note 2. The financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not
modified with respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free of
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern
for one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free of
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

E I A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified
during the audit.

M *%mg LLp

Waterloo, Canada Chartered Professional Accountants

May 24, 2024

Licensed Public Accountants

E I A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



Sandvine, LP (operating as Sandvine)

Consolidated Balance Sheet
As at December 31

(in thousands of United States dollars, except par and unit values)
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2023 2022
$ $
Assets Notes
Current assets:
Cash 55,677 42,869
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $1,741 and $1,551 at 2023

and 2022, respectively 3 49,607 75,124
Short-term investments 4 4,977 1,150
Inventories 6 7,563 18,837
Prepaid expenses and other 7 8,788 10,708

126,612 148,688
Non-current assets:
Lease right-of-use asset, net 11 7,106 8,512
Property and equipment, net 8,878 8,307
Intangible assets, net 5 4,869 23,334
Goodwill 5 252,963 252,963
Deferred income tax asset 17 11,803 17,595
Other assets 9 7,697 7,306
293,316 318,017
419,928 466,705
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 2,836 11,289
Accrued liabilities 10 21,493 28,970
Deferred revenue 64,279 58,919
Lease liability 11 1,764 1,743
Term loan 12 840 1,584
91,212 102,505
Non-current liabilities:
Deferred revenue 23,282 26,751
Lease liability 11 5,393 7,118
Term loan 12 497,530 499,936
Deferred income tax liability 17 4,747 5,400
Other non-current liabilities 5,372 203
536,324 539,408
627,536 641,913
Commitments and contingencies 14
Partners’ deficiency
Partnership preferred units (Series A, $0.01 par value,

536,741,320 units issued) 16 5,367 5,367
Partnership common units ($0.01 par value, 7,035,881 units issued) 16 1,778 1,022
Additional paid-in capital 136,234 135,121
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (476) (1,485)
Accumulated deficit (350,511) (315,233)

(207,608) (175,208)
419,928 466,705

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements



Sandvine, LP (operating as Sandvine)

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

For the year ended December 31
(in thousands of United States dollars)
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Revenue:
Product
Service

Cost of sales:
Product
Service

Gross profit

Expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Other income

Income from operations

Interest and other expense:
Interest expense, net
Foreign currency loss
Other income

Notes

20

12

Income (loss) before income taxes

Income tax expense (recovery) 17

Net income (loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Net changes in fair value and amounts reclassified to net
income from derivatives designated as cash flow hedges during

the year

19

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

2023 2022
] ]
102,043 136,015
96,580 101,815
198,623 237,830
25,293 37,327
22,528 23,767
47,821 61,094
150,802 176,736
26,604 29,389
59,985 71,451
30,837 26,625
“4) )
117,422 127,458
33,380 49,278
(54,212) (37,776)
(37) (627)

169 476
(20,700) 11,351
14,578 (1,751)
(35,278) 13,102
1,009 (385)
(34,269) 12,717
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Sandvine, LP (operating as Sandvine)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31
(in thousands of United States dollars)
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Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (Loss)

Items not affecting cash
Compensation related to stock-based awards
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of intangible assets
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Accrued interest on term loan
Operating leases
Provisions for expected credit losses
Change in net deferred income tax asset/liability
Unrealized foreign exchange loss
Share in loss of equity-accounted investees
Loss (gain) on retirement of fixed assets

Changes in non-cash working capital balances

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Maturity of short-term investments
Purchase of short-term investments

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from term loan, net of issuance costs
Principal payments on term loan
Repurchase of common stock
Cash received on grant or exercise of employee stock options
Distributions paid
Effect of exchange rates on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash during year
Cash - Beginning of year
Cash - End of year

Interest paid

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

2023 2022
] ]

Notes
(35,278) 13,102
16 8,232 1,686
8 3,635 4,206
5 18,465 26,080
12 2,237 2,084
192 145
11 (296) 30
446 784
17 5,139 (9,898)
83 697
9 33 227
3) (7)
2,885 39,136
18 29,958 (15,513)
32,843 23,623
(4,201) (2,806)
4 1,206 1,310
4 (5,033) (1,150)
(8,028) (2,646)
12 (101) (279)
12 (5,478) -
16 (6,850) -
16 487 6
16 - (1,132)
(11,942) (1,405)
(65) (288)
12,808 19,284
42,869 23,585
55,677 42,869
53,116 35,928
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Sandvine, LP (Operating as Sandvine)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Index to notes to consolidated financial statements
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Sandvine, LP (Operating as Sandvine)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

1.  Description of Business

Sandvine, LP (operating as “Sandvine” or the “Partnership”) is an exempted limited partnership
registered in the Cayman Islands on May 25, 2017, managed by its general partner, Procera | G.P.
Ltd., on behalf of its owners Francisco Partners IV, L.P. and Francisco Partners IV-A, L.P. (“Francisco
Partners”). The Cayman Island exemption limits reporting and taxation obligations for the
Partnership. The Partnership acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Procera Holdings
Inc. as part of a corporate reorganization that included, among other steps, shareholders of Procera
Holdings Inc. exchanging the then-current common and preferred stock of Procera Holdings Inc. for
partnership units in Procera |, L.P. As both Procera I, L.P. and Procera Holdings Inc. were related
through common ownership, the business combination has been recorded using the pooling of
interests method, whereby the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis
that the Partnership had always been the shareholder of Procera Holdings Inc. and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. On July 29, 2019, Procera I, L.P. was renamed Sandvine, LP.

Sandvine is a global provider of Application and Network Intelligence solutions that help service
providers to deliver high-quality optimized experiences to consumers and enterprises. The
company’s customers use Sandvine’s cloud-based solutions to analyze, optimize and monetize
application experiences using contextual machine learning-based insights and real-time actions.
Sandvine sells its application and network intelligence portfolio and pre-packaged use cases to 5G,
mobile, fixed, cable, satellite, interconnect and hub service providers, democratic governments
and enterprises. Sandvine sells its solutions directly through its sales force and indirectly through
its partner program in the Americas, Asia Pacific, and Europe, Middle East, and Africa regions.

2.  Significant Accounting Policies
2.1 Basis of Presentation and Going Concern

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis, which presumes that the Company will be able to realize
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations for the foreseeable future.

On February 27, 2024, the U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Industry and Security (“BIS”)
published a final rule which placed certain Sandvine entities on the Entity List. The Sandvine
entities added to the Entity List included its entities in Canada, India, Japan, Malaysia, Sweden, and
United Arab Emirates. According to the notice announcing the Entity List additions, Sandvine’s
designation was “based on information that Sandvine supplies deep packet inspection technology to
the Government of Egypt, where it is used in mass web-monitoring and censorship to block news as
well as target political actors and human rights activists.”

The BIS action means designated Sandvine entities cannot receive any hardware, software, or
technology that is “subject to the U.S. Export Administration Regulations (the ‘EAR’)” without an
export license or authorization from BIS. The designation does not impose restrictions on financial
transactions with Sandvine and does not restrict Sandvine from providing support to customers,
unless doing so would require provision of hardware, software, or technology that is “subject to the
EAR” to Sandvine. Sandvine initially determined the impact of the Entity List designation will likely

9
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

have a material, negative impact on normal course business operations and its ability to conduct
business with and provide support to its customers, as well as to procure hardware, software, and
technology from vendors and suppliers.

On March 6, 2024, Sandvine’s external legal counsel at Kirkland & Ellis LLP (“Kirkland”) submitted
a Request for Emergency Authorization to BIS on Sandvine’s behalf seeking interim relief from the
impacts of the designation, and specifically to ensure that Sandvine could receive software and
technology that is “subject to the EAR” in order to preserve its network security and that of its
customers as Sandvine works to address BIS’ concerns in its effort to be removed from the Entity
List. Kirkland met with BIS officials on March 7, 2024 and submitted an amended Request for
Emergency Authorization to BIS on March 8, 2024. On March 28, 2024, BIS granted the Emergency
Authorization in the form of an authorization by letter to Sandvine to enable Sandvine to receive,
and to enable its vendors and suppliers to provide, certain software and technology, subject to
certain limitations. This authorization helps to temporarily alleviate many of the negative impacts
that resulted from the original BIS action on Sandvine normal course operations and its ability to
conduct business with and provide support to its customers. The Emergency Authorization expires
on September 30, 2024. Sandvine understands that BIS has stated that it will not renew or extend
the Emergency Authorization.

Sandvine is unable to determine when it will be removed from the Entity List, or even if it will be
removed from the Entity List at all. Furthermore, Sandvine is unable to predict the degree of
change to its business that will be required or advisable for BIS to remove Sandvine from the Entity
List; however, it is likely these changes will materially and negatively affect its business, resulting
in significant revenue losses and requiring significant restructuring of its operations and capital
structure.

Since being placed on the Entity List, Sandvine has experienced and, while on the Entity List,
continues to expect, lower levels of sales, materially and adversely affecting revenue and liquidity.
In addition, Sandvine is experiencing a material increase in expenses for ongoing professional
services and activities relating to its efforts for removal from the Entity List, as well as the
restructuring of its business. Sandvine expects material liabilities will result from its restructuring
efforts and from potential claims from customers who are negatively impacted by changes to
Sandvine’s business operations, including customers who Sandvine is terminating in order to address
BIS’ concerns.

Sandvine is actively engaged with its lenders regarding its go-forward capitalization, the outcome
of which, including the Company’s ability to service its debt, cannot be predicted. Sandvine’s
consolidated financial statements for the year 2023 were prepared based on the facts and data
available to its management at that time. However, the impacts of the Entity List designation and
the related impacts and potential impacts described above are likely to materially impact certain
asset values the Company has on its balance sheet at December 31, 2023, and Sandvine is currently
unable to estimate those impacts.

As a result, the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern remains dependent on being
approved to come off of the Entity List, restructuring the business to be able to achieve positive
cash flows and restructuring existing debt. As the outcome of these activities cannot be predicted
at this time, there is material uncertainty that may cast substantial doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. These consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments to the carrying value and classification of assets and liabilities that may be necessary

10
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern, and any such adjustments could be
material.

2.2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. The accounting estimates that require management’s
most significant and subjective judgments include the estimate of stand-alone selling price of
products and services in revenue contracts where there are multiple performance obligations; useful
lives of property; equipment and identifiable intangible assets acquired; assessment of the
recoverability of long-lived assets and goodwill; valuation of inventory; collectability of accounts
receivable; valuation and recognition of stock-based compensation including estimating volatility;
the fair value of the Partnership’s shares and valuation of deferred tax assets; and the incremental
borrowing rate and term, including renewal terms, in determining the present value of lease
liabilities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of certain of the Partnership’s financial instruments, including cash, accounts
receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, approximate fair value due
to their short maturities. The fair value of the Partnership’s term loan approximates carrying value
as the loan bears interest at a rate comparable to current market rates with comparable risk
profiles.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Partnership may enter into forward contracts to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates. The Partnership does not use any derivative financial instrument for speculative
purposes. The Partnership has elected to apply hedge accounting for certain forward foreign
exchange contracts used to manage foreign currency exposure on anticipated operational
expenditures and has designated these as cash flow hedges.

The effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative is initially recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss) and is reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income (loss) in the same period that the hedged anticipated transaction affects
earnings. Any ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is recognized in income
immediately. Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when it is determined that the hedging
relationship is no longer effective, the derivative is terminated or sold, or the Partnership
terminates its designation of the hedging relationship. When a forecasted transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive income
(loss) is immediately transferred to the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income (loss).

The Partnership formally documents all relationships between the hedging instruments and hedged
items. This process includes linking all derivatives to forecasted foreign currency cash flows or to a
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

specific asset or liability. The Partnership also formally documents and assesses, both at the hedge’s
inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative financial instruments that are used in the
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of
the hedged items.

The fair value of these derivatives is included in prepaid expenses and other when in an asset
position and in accrued liabilities when in a liability position. Gains or losses arising from hedging
activities are reported in the same caption on the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income as the hedged item.

Concentration of Risk

The financial instruments utilized by the Partnership that potentially subject the Partnership to a
concentration of credit risk consist of cash and accounts receivable. Cash is deposited in demand
accounts in major financial institutions in the United States and Canada. Accounts at financial
institutions in the United States and Canada are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (“FDIC”) and Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation (“CDIC”), respectively, up to
certain limits. At times, the Partnership’s deposits or investments may exceed insured limits. As at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Partnership had approximately $54.2 million and $41.8 million,
respectively, at financial institutions in excess of insured limits. The Partnership has not
experienced any losses in such accounts (2022 — none).

The Partnership’s sales have at times been concentrated with certain large customers. The
Partnership also sells to a geographically diverse base of customers. For the year ended
December 31, 2023, one customer accounted for more than 10% of revenues. For December 31,
2022, one customer accounted for more than 10% of revenues. As at December 31, 2023, two
customers accounted for more than 10% of the accounts receivable balance. As at December 31,
2022, two customers accounted for more than 10% of the accounts receivable balance. As at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, accounts receivable due from customers outside of the United States
and Canada represented 79% and 85% of the accounts receivable balance, respectively.

The Partnership is dependent on a limited number of third-party suppliers for some of its hardware
equipment. The Partnership is dependent on the ability of these suppliers to provide products on a
timely basis and on favorable pricing terms. The loss of certain principal suppliers or a significant
reduction in product availability from those suppliers could have a material adverse effect on the
Partnership.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Partnership considers all highly liquid investments with original or remaining maturities of three
months or less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. The Partnership had no cash
equivalents as at December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Investments

Investments comprise term deposits, which represent guaranteed investment certificates (“GICs”)
that are insured by the CDIC and are federally guaranteed to certain limits. Investments are carried

at fair value as at the date of the consolidated balance sheet, and are classified as current or non-
current based on their date of maturity. Investments with terms that would restrict them from being
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exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period are classified
as non-current.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounting Standards Codification 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (“ASC 326”)

On January 1, 2023, the Partnership adopted ASC 326 using the modified retrospective method. See
Note 3. The trade accounts receivable balance is recorded at the invoiced amount and is presented
net of an allowance for credit losses. The Partnership establishes current expected credit losses
using the loss rate method by evaluating historical levels of credit losses, current economic
conditions that may affect a customer’s ability to pay, and creditworthiness of the customers. The
Partnership monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews the credit history of each
new customer. When the Partnership becomes aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its
financial obligations to the Partnership, a specific credit loss provision is recorded to reduce the
customer’s related accounts receivable to the estimated net realizable value.

For the periods prior to the adoption of ASC 326, the trade accounts receivable are recorded at the
invoiced amount and are presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The Partnership
maintained an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of
its customers to make required payments. The Partnership considered factors such as historical
experience, credit quality, age of the accounts receivable balances, geographic or country-specific
risks and economic conditions that may affect a customer’s ability to pay. The allowance for
doubtful accounts was reviewed regularly and adjusted, if necessary, based on management’s
assessment of a customer’s ability to pay. Individual accounts receivable were written off when all
collection efforts have been exhausted. During 2023, there were $0.3 million of individual accounts
receivable written off as uncollectible against the provision for credit losses

Inventories

Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods stated at the lower of cost
(on a specific identification or weighted average cost basis) or net realizable value. The Partnership
records inventory write-down to net realizable value for excess and obsolete inventories based on
historical usage and forecasted demand, as well as determining what inventory, if any, is not
saleable. Factors that could cause its forecasted demand to prove inaccurate include the variability
of its sales cycle and product mix configuration; the potential of announcements of new products
or enhancements to replace or shorten the life cycle of current products, or cause customers to
defer their purchases; and the potential of new or alternative technologies achieving widespread
market acceptance and thereby rendering the Partnership’s existing products obsolete. If future
demand or market conditions are less favorable than projections, additional inventory write-downs
may be required and would be reflected in cost of sales in the period the revision is made.

Inventories also include demonstration units and customer service inventories located at various
customer locations. The demonstration units and customer service inventories are stated at the
lower of cost (on a specific identification or weighted average cost basis) or net realizable value.
The Partnership provides demonstration units to customers who evaluate the Partnership’s products,
and upon a successful trial, may purchase such products. The Partnership carries customer service
inventories because they generally provide product warranty for 12 months and earn revenue by
providing enhanced and extended support contracts during and beyond this warranty period.
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Customer service inventories are provided for customer use permanently or on a temporary basis
while the defective unit is being repaired. The Partnership reduces the carrying value of
demonstration units and customer service inventories for differences between cost and estimated
net realizable value, taking into consideration expected demand, technological obsolescence and
other information including the physical condition of the unit. If actual results vary significantly
from expectations, additional write-downs may be required, resulting in additional charges to
operations.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the declining balance and straight-line methods
over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the term of the lease,
whichever is shorter. Whenever assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is
recognized in income for the year. The cost of maintenance and repairs is expensed as incurred;
significant improvements are capitalized.

Depreciation and amortization are provided using the following rates and methods:

Lab equipment 30%—50% declining balance

Machinery and equipment, office furniture and 2—7 years straight-line

equipment, and computer equipment

Software 3-5 years straight-line

Leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life or lease term straight-
line

Depreciation and amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at least
annually and adjusted if appropriate.

Equity Investment

An equity investment that gives an investor significant influence over an investee is considered an
equity method investment. The Partnership has significant influence when it has the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but does not have control
or joint control. The Partnership accounts for its equity investment using the equity method. Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recognized at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the consolidated financial statements include the Partnership’s share of the earnings and losses of
the associate until the date significant influence ceases. Distributions received from an associate
reduce the carrying amount of the investment. The consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income (loss) includes the Partnership’s share of any amounts recognized by
associates in net income. Intercompany balances between the Partnership and its associates are not
eliminated.

The Partnership also owns a 49% equity interest in WTC1 Inc. and WTC2 Inc., created to purchase

the real estate and leases, including the buildings and land, where one of its offices is located, and
will account for such using the equity method as it has concluded that its ownership interest and

14



184
Sandvine, LP (Operating as Sandvine)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

other facts do not provide power over the investee but rather significant influence.
Business Combinations

The Partnership accounts for business combinations using the purchase method. Accordingly, the
assets and liabilities acquired in the combination, including identifiable intangible assets, and any
consideration paid are recorded at their fair values on the acquisition date. If, and to the extent
that, the purchase price exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired, the Partnership
recognizes goodwill. Subsequent changes to the fair value of such assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are recognized in earnings, after the expiration of the measurement period, a period not
to exceed 12 months from the acquisition date.

Goodwill

Goodwill has been measured as the excess of the cost of acquisition over the amount assigned to
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed. The Partnership reviews
goodwill for impairment annually during the third quarter of the year or more frequently if an event
or circumstance indicates that an impairment loss has occurred. The identification and
measurement of goodwill impairment involve the estimation of fair value at the Partnership’s
reporting unit level.

Management conducts a goodwill impairment test as of September 30 of each year, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. The
impairment test is performed in one step by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit to its
carrying value, including goodwill. When the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value,
goodwill of the reporting unit is considered to be impaired and written down to its fair value. The
estimated fair values of reporting units were determined utilizing multiple valuation techniques,
which included the income approach using a discounted future cash flow model and market-based
approaches. Estimating the fair values of reporting units using discounted future cash flow models
requires significant judgment by management, including estimation of future cash flows, which is
dependent on estimation of the long-term rates of revenue growth, terminal growth rates,
profitability measures, and determination of the discount rates.

Accounting for Long-lived Assets

The Partnership reviews its long-lived assets, including property and equipment and intangible
assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment test involves a comparison of undiscounted cash
flows from the use of the asset or asset group to the carrying value of the asset or asset
group. Measurement of an impairment loss is based on the amount by which the carrying value of
the asset or asset group exceeds its fair value. The Partnership has determined that it has one asset
group, being the network equipment reporting unit that sells all Sandvine products and services.

Leases
Accounting Standards Codification 842, Leases (“ASC 842”)

Operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on
the present value of the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at the commencement
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date. As most of the Partnership’s leases do not provide an implicit discount rate, the Partnership
primarily uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the
commencement date of the lease, in determining the present value of future payments. The
Partnership’s incremental borrowing rate requires significant judgment and is determined based on
the rate of interest that the Partnership would have to pay to borrow an amount equal to the lease
payments on a collateralized basis over a similar term in a similar economic environment.

Operating leases are included in lease ROU assets and lease liabilities on the Partnership’s
consolidated balance sheet. The operating lease ROU assets include the lease payments made, lease
incentives and initial direct costs incurred. The lease terms include options to extend or terminate
the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Partnership will exercise that option. Lease expense
for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. In some
cases, the Partnership has Consumer Price Index-based variable lease payments for which an
estimated rate at the lease commencement date is applied to the initial lease payment to determine
the future lease payment amounts.

The Partnership has lease agreements for corporate offices and other operating facilities with lease
and non-lease components. For lease terms of 12 months or less on commencement date, the
Partnership does not apply the ASC 842 recognition requirements and recognizes the lease payments
as lease cost on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Stock-based Compensation

The Partnership accounts for all share-based payment transactions using a fair-value-based
measurement method. The Partnership calculates stock-based compensation by estimating the fair
value of each stock award as of its date of grant using the Black-Scholes pricing model. These
amounts are expensed over the requisite service period of each award, which is the vesting period,
using the straight-line attribution method. Compensation expense is recognized only for those
awards that are expected to vest, and, as such, amounts have been reduced by
forfeitures. Forfeitures are recognized as they occur. The Partnership has historically issued stock
options, warrants, and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to employees and outside directors whose
only condition for vesting has been continued employment or service during the related vesting or
restriction period.

Revenue Recognition
Accounting Standards Codification 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”)

The Partnership recognizes revenue when control of the promised products or services is transferred
to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration that the Partnership expects to receive
in exchange for those products. Revenue is recognized through the application of the following
steps: (i) identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer; (ii) identification of the
performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determination of the transaction price; (iv) allocation
of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognition of
revenue when (or as) the Partnership satisfies a performance obligation.

A contract exists with a customer when both parties have approved the contract, commitments to

performance and rights of each party (including payment terms) are identified, the contract has
commercial substance and collection of substantially all consideration is probable for goods that are
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transferred. The Partnership assesses the ability to collect from its customers based on a humber
of factors, including creditworthiness of the customer and past transaction history of the customer.
Payment terms are typically set between 30 and 90 days from delivery.

Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the goods and services that
will be transferred to the customer that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer
can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other available resources,
and are distinct in the context of the contract, whereby the transfer of the good or service is
separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. If these criteria are not met, the
promised goods and services are accounted for as a combined performance obligation.

The transaction price is determined based on the consideration the Partnership expects to be
entitled to in exchange for transferring promised goods and services to the customer, excluding
amounts collected on behalf of third parties such as sales taxes. Determining the transaction price
requires judgment. To the extent the transaction price includes variable consideration, the
Partnership estimates the amount of variable consideration that should be included in the
transaction price utilizing either the expected value method or the most likely amount method
depending on the nature of the variable consideration. Variable consideration is only included in
the transaction price if it is probable that a significant future reversal of cumulative revenue
recognized under the contract will not occur. Any estimates, including any constraints on variable
consideration, are evaluated at each reporting period.

Under the Partnership’s revenue recognition guidance, the Partnership allocates revenue to each
performance obligation in an arrangement based on a relative standalone selling price
(“SSP”’). Judgment is required to determine the SSP for each distinct performance obligation. The
Partnership’s products and services often have observable SSP when the Partnership sells a promised
product or service separately to similar customers. A contractually stated price or list price for a
good or service may be the SSP of that good or service. However, in instances where SSP is not
directly observable, the Partnership determines the SSP by maximizing observable inputs and using
an adjusted market assessment approach using information that may include market conditions and
other observable inputs from the Partnership’s pricing team, including historical SSP.

Sales of the Partnership’s network and application intelligence solutions typically involve the
integration of perpetual software licenses, hardware appliances and, at times, licenses to additional
software, where the hardware and software work together to deliver the essential functionality of
the product. Product revenue consists of revenue from sales of appliances and software licenses.
Appliance revenues are recognized at the point in time that the customer obtains control of the
appliance, which generally occurs when the hardware is delivered to a common carrier as shipping
terms are generally F.0.B. shipping point. Perpetual software licenses are recognized at a point in
time upon delivery of the software. Revenue from sales of subscription or term licenses is recognized
at the point in time software is made available to the customer or the start of the contract term,
whichever is latest. Shipping charges billed to customers are included in product revenue and the
related shipping costs are included in cost of product revenue. Virtually all sales include post-
contract support (“PCS”) services (included in service revenue), which consist of software updates
and customer support. Software updates provide customers access to a growing library of electronic
Internet traffic identifiers (signatures) and rights to non-specific software product upgrades,
maintenance releases and patches released during the term of the support period. Support includes
Internet access to technical content, telephone and Internet access to technical support personnel
and hardware support. PCS services revenue is recognized over the support period.
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Customer orders normally contain multiple performance obligations. The initial product delivery
consists of the hardware and software elements, and these elements are typically distinct from the
other elements of the order. The performance obligations that remain unsatisfied at the time of
product delivery are PCS services and occasionally incomplete professional services not essential to
the functionality of the product. In cases where functionality of the product is dependent on
professional services, revenue is recognized at the point in time that the related professional
services are complete.

A portion of service revenue is derived from customization not essential to the functionality of the
product, implementation and training services. The Partnership estimates the percentage of
completion on contracts with fixed fees using labor costs incurred as a percentage of total estimated
labor costs to complete the consulting service. If there is a significant uncertainty about the project
completion, receipt of payment or required effort, revenue is only recognized to the extent of
contract costs likely to be recovered. Once the uncertainty is resolved, revenue will be recognized
using the percentage of completion method described above. If circumstances arise that may change
the estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion, estimates are revised.
These revisions may result in increases or decreases in estimated revenues or remaining costs to
complete and are reflected in income in the period in which the circumstances that gave rise to the
revision become known to the Partnership. When total cost estimates exceed estimated revenues,
the Partnership will accrue for the estimated losses immediately.

Timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. Contract assets
are generated when contractual billing schedules differ from revenue recognition timing. A
receivable is recorded in instances when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing, and amounts
collected in advance of services being provided are recorded as deferred revenue. In instances
where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of invoicing, the Partnership has
determined that contracts generally do not include a significant financing component if the period
between when the payment is received and when the Partnership transfers the promised goods or
services to the customer will be one year or less.

Certain sales commissions are considered incremental and recoverable costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer. The Partnership’s capitalized commissions are recorded as prepaid expenses and
other current assets, are amortized proportionally based on the satisfaction of the related
performance obligations, and are included in sales and marketing expenses.

Income Taxes

The Partnership accounts for income taxes under the liability method. This process involves
calculating the temporary and permanent differences between the carrying amounts of the assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. The
temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are recorded on the
Partnership’s consolidated balance sheet. The Partnership must assess the likelihood that its
deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent the Partnership
believes that recovery is not likely, the Partnership must establish a valuation allowance. Changes
in the Partnership’s valuation allowance in a period are recorded through the income tax provision
on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The impact of an
uncertain income tax position on the income tax return is recognized at the largest amount that is
more likely than not to be sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An uncertain
income tax position will not be recognized if it has less than a 50% likelihood of being sustained.
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Investment Tax Credits

The Partnership applies for investment tax credits (“ITCs”) under available incentive programs
including the Canadian Scientific Research and Experimental Development ("SR&ED") program. The
benefit of ITCs is recognized when the amount and timing of collection are reasonably
determinable, and recovery is reasonably assured. The ITCs are non-refundable and are currently
recognized as an increase to the deferred tax asset. The Partnership uses the flow-through method
to account for ITCs earned on eligible SR&ED. Under this method, the ITCs are recognized as a
reduction to income tax expense.

Shipping and Handling Costs

The Partnership includes shipping and handling costs associated with inbound and outbound freight
in cost of sales.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include internal and external costs. Internal costs include
salaries and employment-related expenses, prototype materials, initial product certifications,
equipment costs and allocated facility costs. External expenses consist of costs associated with
outsourced software development activities.

Development costs incurred in the research and development of new products, other than software,
and enhancements to existing products are expensed as incurred. Costs for the development of new
software products and enhancements to existing products are expensed as incurred until
technological feasibility has been established, at which time any additional development costs
would be capitalized. To date, the Partnership’s software has been available for general release
shortly after being determined to be technologically feasible, which the Partnership defines as a
working prototype. Accordingly, those costs have not been material.

Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Partnership that engages in business activities from
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses. Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources to and assessing performance
of operating segments, has been identified as the chief executive officer.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net and other income (losses) affecting partners’ equity
that, under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), are excluded from net income or
loss. For cash flow hedges that meet the criteria for hedge accounting, the effective portion of the
change in fair value of the derivative is initially recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) and
is reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) in the
same period that the hedged anticipated transaction affects earnings. The ineffective portion of
the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement
of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
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Foreign Operations

The accompanying consolidated balance sheet contains certain recorded Partnership assets and
liabilities in foreign countries, primarily India, Sweden and the UK. Although these countries are
considered economically stable and the Partnership has experienced no notable burden from foreign
exchange transactions, export duties or government regulations, it is always possible that
unanticipated events in foreign countries could have a material adverse effect on the Partnership’s
operations.

Foreign Currency Translation

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of the Partnership’s subsidiaries are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements have been presented in United
States dollars, which is also the Partnership's and its subsidiaries’ functional currency.

3. Adoption of Accounting Policies
ASC 326, Credit Losses

In June 2016, the FASB released ASU 2016-13 on the topic of Financial Instruments — Credit Losses
(ASC 326). ASU 2016-13 replaces the previous incurred loss impairment methodology in U.S. GAAP
with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses, requires consideration of a broader range
of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss estimates, and requires entities to
estimate an expected lifetime credit loss on its financial assets.

The guidance also amends the impairment model for available-for-sale debt securities, requiring
entities to determine whether all or a portion of the unrealized loss on such securities is a credit
loss, and also eliminating the option for management to consider the length of time a security has
been in an unrealized loss position as a factor in concluding whether or not a credit loss exists. The
amended model states that an entity recognizes an allowance for credit losses on available-for-sale
debt securities, instead of a direct reduction of the amortized cost basis of the investment, as
required under previous guidance. As a result, entities recognize improvements to estimated credit
losses on available-for-sale debt securities immediately in earnings as opposed to in interest income
over time.

The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022 and interim periods
therein. The Partnership adopted this guidance on January 1, 2023 using the modified retrospective
method. There was no impact from the adoption of the new standard on credit losses on the opening
retained earnings balance.

4. Short-term Investments
As of December 31, 2023, the Partnership held GICs to secure letters of credit issued to customers,
with expiration dates ranging from January 18, 2024 to September 12, 2024. The GICs will be

renewed for one-year periods until the letters of credit expire and have been presented as current
assets on the Partnership’s consolidated balance sheet.
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The following table summarizes the fair value of investments held at December 31, 2023:

2023 2022
GIC due Sep 12, 2024 5.30% per annum S 2,200 S
GIC due May 23, 2024 4.90% per annum 1,125 -
GIC due Jan 22, 2024 4.65% per annum 16 -
GIC due Jan 18, 2024 4.95% per annum 1,636 -
GIC due May 23, 2023 1.75% per annum - 1,150

S 4,977 $ 1,150

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Partnership reviews its goodwill for impairment annually during its third quarter or more
frequently if events or circumstances indicate that an impairment loss may have occurred. The
identification and measurement of goodwill impairment involves the estimation of fair value at a
reporting unit level. The Partnership has determined that it has one reporting unit, being the
network equipment reporting unit that sells Active Network Intelligence solutions.

The Partnership reviews its long-lived assets other than goodwill for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be
recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash
flows resulting from the use of the asset. Measurement of an impairment loss for long-lived assets
is based on the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value based on the
discounted future cash flows.

Intangible assets other than goodwill are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
remaining useful lives.

The Partnership concluded its goodwill was not impaired in 2023 or 2022.

The following table is a summary of acquired intangible assets with remaining net book values as at
December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Gross Net

Average
Carrying ~ Accumulated Carrying Remaining Life
Value Amortization Value (in Years)
Developed technology $ 53,250 $§ (53,250) S - 0.0
Customer relationships 133,140 (133,140) - 0.0
Trade names 15,460 (10,591) 4,869 3.5
Balance as at December 31, 2023 S 201,850 $(196,981) S 4,869
Developed technology S 53,250 S (49,196) S 4,054 0.7
Customer relationships 133,140 (120,278) 12,862 0.7
Trade names 15,460 (9,042) 6,418 4.4
Balance as at December 31, 2022 S 201,850 $(178,516) S 23,334
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Amortization expense related to developed technology, customer relationships and trade names was
$4.1 million, $12.9 million and $1.5 million, respectively, and $18.5 million in total for the year
ended December 31, 2023, and $5.7 million, $18.8 million and $1.5 million, respectively, and $26.0
million in total for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Amortization charges for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 were classified in the
Partnership’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) as follows:

2023 2022
Product cost of sales ) 4,034 $ 5,696
Sales and marketing 14,431 20,384

S 18,465 S 26,080

The following table presents the estimated future amortization of intangible assets as at December
31, 2023:

Fiscal Year Amortization
2024 S 1,546
2025 1,325
2026 1,160
2027 838
Total S 4,869

6. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (on a specific identification or weighted average cost

basis), or net realizable value. Inventories as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the
following:

2023 2022
Finished goods S 2,351 S 5,522
Work-in-process 174 186
Raw materials 4,203 11,867
Demonstration units 835 1,262
Inventories, net S 7,563 S 18,837

Included in the net inventory balance are inventory provisions of $11.0 million and $11.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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7. Prepaid Expenses and Other

Prepaid expenses and other as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

2023 2022
Prepayments S 6,437 S 6,522
Deferred contract costs 1,802 1,896
Other receivables 549 2,290
Total prepaid expenses and other S 8,788 S 10,708

8. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

2023 2022
Lab equipment S 22,570 S 20,072
Machinery and equipment 491 484
Computer equipment 7,221 6,907
Office furniture and equipment 1,551 1,533
Leasehold improvements 2,641 2,595
Software 6,125 5,696
Property and equipment, gross 40,599 37,287
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (31,721) (28,980)
Property and equipment, net S 8,878 S 8,307

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $3.6 million and $4.2 million, respectively.

9. Equity Investment

Included in other assets is a 49% interest in WTC1 Inc. and WTC2 Inc., created to purchase the real
estate and leases, including the buildings and land, where the Partnership’s Canadian office is
located in Waterloo, Ontario. The acquisition of the 49% interest in WTC1 Inc. and WTC2 Inc. was
completed for cash consideration of $4.8 million CAD ($3.7 million USD). The mortgage payable
balance of $13.2 million is a five-year fixed-rate mortgage maturing on May 1, 2026 with an annual
interest rate of 3.25%, secured by the buildings and land, and had a net cost basis of $16.9 million
as of December 31, 2023.
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10. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities as at December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

2023 2022
Payroll and related S 8,258 $ 12,396
Income taxes payable 6,775 5,712
Sales commissions 1,930 3,252
Other 4,530 7,610
Total accrued liabilities S 21,493 S 28,970

11. Operating Leases

The Partnership leases its office facilities under long-term, non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The leases expire at various dates through 2031 and provide for renewal options ranging
from month-to-month to five-year terms. In the normal course of business, it is expected that these
leases will be renewed or replaced by leases on other properties. Some leases provide for increases
in future minimum annual rental payments based on defined increases that are intended to correlate
with the Consumer Price Index, subject to certain minimum increases. Also, the agreements
generally require the Partnership to pay executory costs including real estate taxes, insurance and
repairs.

The components of lease expense were as follows:

2023 2022

$
Operating lease cost S 2,165 2,369
Short term lease cost 118 568

S
Total operating lease cost S 2,283 2,937

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases as follows:
2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities:
Cash used in operating activities related to operating_i> leases S 1,828 S 2,339
2023 2022

Weighted average remaining lease term — operating lease 5.0 years 5.6 years
Weighted average discount rate — operating lease 4.9% 4.8%
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As at December 31, 2023, undiscounted future minimum lease payments due under operating leases
were as follows:

2024 S 2,083
2025 1,721
2026 1,216
2027 719
2028 615
Beyond 1,259
Total minimum lease payments S 7,613

12. Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

On November 2, 2018, the Partnership entered into two credit agreements with a syndicate of
lenders. The new credit agreements include a first lien credit agreement (“First Lien Secured Credit
Facility”) and a second lien credit agreement (“Second Lien Credit Facility”).

The First Lien Secured Credit Facility includes a term loan of $400.0 million and up to an additional
$30.0 million in a revolving facility, both with seven-year maturities. During 2023, the First Lien
Credit Facility was amended to calculate the interest rate based on Term SOFR, previously
calculated based on Eurocurrency. The Partnership concluded that the terms of the amended credit
agreement were not substantially different from the terms of the original credit agreement. The
interest rate applicable to the First Lien Secured Credit Facility is, at the Partnership’s option,
either (i) an Alternate Base Rate plus applicable margin equal to 3.50% in respect of the term loan
and ranging from 3.00% to 3.50%, depending on the Partnership’s leverage ratio, in respect of the
revolving facility; or (ii) Term SOFR rate plus the applicable credit spread adjustment, plus
applicable margin equal to 4.50% in respect of the term loan and ranging from 4.00% to 4.50%,
depending on the Partnership’s leverage ratio, in respect of the revolving facility. The Partnership
will pay a 0.50% per annum commitment fee related to the revolving facility, in addition to a $0.1
million agency fee in each of the seven years under the agreement. The maturity and interest rate
applicable to the Incremental Term Loan Commitment is the same as the First Lien Secured Credit
Facility. During 2023, $7.0 million of the revolving facility matured and was not extended. The
remaining $23.0 million will be maturing August 2, 2025.

The terms of the First Lien Secured Credit Facility include a financial covenant, which comes into
effect when the aggregate principal is greater than 35% of the revolving facility (excluding up to
$7.5 million of undrawn letters of credit and letters of credit that have been cash collateralized or
backstopped in accordance with the First Lien Secured Credit Facility), relating to the maximum
first lien net leverage ratio, which is not permitted to exceed 7.20 to 1.00. In the event the
Partnership achieves a first lien net leverage ratio below 4.00, the revolving facility interest rate is
reduced by 0.25% and the commitment fee by 0.125%, and below 3.50 the revolving facility interest
rate is reduced by 0.25% and the commitment fee by 0.125%. To date, no events of default have
occurred.

The First Lien Secured Credit Facility includes certain embedded derivatives such as escalated

interest by 2% per annum in the event of default, interest rate options noted above, and a change
in control provision that would make the First Lien Secured Credit Facility due immediately. The
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various features are clearly and closely related to the host debt instrument and do not require
bifurcation.

The Second Lien Secured Credit Facility includes a term loan of $110.0 million with an eight-year
maturity. During 2023, the Second Lien Secured Credit Facility was amended to calculate the
interest rate based on Term SOFR, previously calculated based on Eurocurrency. The Company
concluded that the terms of the amended credit agreement were not substantially different from
the terms of the original credit agreement. The interest rate applicable to the Second Lien Secured
Credit Facility is, at the Partnership’s option, either (i) an Alternate Base Rate plus applicable
margin equal to 7.00% in respect of the term loan; or (ii) Term SOFR rate plus the credit spread
adjustment, plus applicable margin equal to 8.00% in respect of the term loan. The Partnership will
pay a $0.1 million agency fee in each of the eight years under the agreement. There are no financial
covenants associated with the Second Lien Secured Credit Facility.

The Second Lien Secured Credit Facility includes certain embedded derivatives such as escalated
interest by 2% per annum in the event of default, interest rate options noted above, and a change
in control provision that would make the Second Lien Secured Credit Facility due immediately. The
various features are clearly and closely related to the host debt instrument and do not require
bifurcation.

The First Lien and Second Lien Secured Credit Facilities (together referred to as the “Secured Credit
Facilities”) are secured by substantially all of the Partnership’s assets. Events of default under the
terms of the Secured Credit Facilities include, but are not limited to: failure of the Partnership to
pay any principal of any loans in full when due and payable; failure of the Partnership to pay any
interest on any loan or any fee or other amount payable under the Secured Credit Facilities when
due and payable; and failure of the Partnership or any of its subsidiaries to comply with certain
covenants and agreements, subject to applicable grace periods and/or notice requirements. Where
an event of default arises, the commitments shall automatically and immediately terminate and the
principal of, and interest then outstanding on, all of the loans shall become immediately due and
payable. Subject to certain notice requirements and other conditions, upon the occurrence of an
event of default, commitments may be terminated and the principal of, and interest then
outstanding on, all of the loans may become immediately due and payable.

As at December 31, 2023, the Partnership had $504.8 million (2022 — $510.1 million) outstanding
under the term loan and nil (2022 — nil) outstanding on the revolving Secured Credit Facilities. As
at December 31, 2023, the Partnership had issued $3.8 million in letters of credit (2022 — $3.8
million) on the revolving Secured Credit Facilities.

In connection with the Secured Credit Facilities, the Partnership capitalized approximately $0.1
million in debt issuance costs in 2023 (2022 — $0.3 million). The Partnership amortized $2.2 million
and $2.1 million in debt issuance costs using the effective interest rate method for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Capitalized debt issuance costs on the Partnership’s
consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2023 were $6.4 million (2022 — $8.6 million).

As of December 31, 2023, future maturities due under the Secured Credit Facilities are as follows:

26



196
Sandvine, LP (Operating as Sandvine)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

2024 S 840
2025 393,939
2026 110,000
Total minimum loan payments S 504,779

The Partnership has a demand credit facility with a major Canadian chartered bank. Under the
terms of the facility, the Partnership has available to it a $7.0 million facility to provide letters of
credit. As at December 31, 2023, the Partnership has issued ten letters of credit (2022 — three) with
a value of $5.0 million with expiry dates ranging from January 15, 2024 to January 31, 2029 (2022
— $1.2 million), which can be called by the lender upon default of the facility or insolvency of the
Partnership, and $5.0 million (2022 — $1.2 million) in term deposits as pledged security against the
facility. The facility and the related security will remain in effect until the facility, which has no
term, is terminated.

13. Related Party Transactions

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, payments were made to Francisco Partners
Consulting for operational consulting services in the amounts of $1.0 million and $1.0 million,
respectively. As at December 31, 2023 and 2022, no amounts were due to/from Francisco Partners
Consulting.

14. Commitments and Contingencies
Contingencies

Certain conditions may exist on the date the consolidated financial statements are issued, which
may result in a loss to the Partnership but which will only be resolved when one or more future
events occur or fail to occur. The Partnership’s management and its legal counsel assess such
contingent liabilities, and such assessment inherently involves an exercise of judgment. In assessing
loss contingencies related to legal proceedings that are pending against the Partnership or
unasserted claims that may result in such proceedings, the Partnership and its legal counsel evaluate
the perceived merits of any legal proceedings or unasserted claims as well as the perceived merits
of the amount of relief sought or expected to be sought therein.

If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is probable that a material loss has been incurred
and the amount of the liability can be estimated, then the estimated liability would be accrued in
the Partnership’s consolidated financial statements. If the assessment indicates that a potentially
material loss contingency is not probable, but is reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be
estimated, then the nature of the contingent liability, together with an estimate of the range of
possible loss if determinable and material, would be disclosed.

Loss contingencies considered remote are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in
which case the nature of the guarantee would be disclosed.

Legal

From time to time, the Partnership may be involved in certain claims, litigation and customer
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disputes arising out of the ordinary course and conduct of business. Management assesses such
claims and, if considered likely to result in a loss and, when the amount of the loss is quantifiable,
provisions for loss are made, based on management’s assessment of the most likely outcome. The
Partnership does not provide for claims for which the outcome is not determinable or claims where
the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated. Any settlements or awards under such claims
are provided for when reasonably determinable.

On October 11, 2022, a reseller based in Eurasia (“Reseller”) submitted to Sandvine Corporation a
Request for Arbitration. The dispute relates to a claim that Sandvine Corporation breached an
agreement related to the provision of services to an end user resulting in losses incurred by Reseller
in its role as reseller. Reseller and Sandvine Corporation have selected an arbitrator and are in the
process of establishing a process for that arbitration. A date for the arbitration has not been set
yet.

The outcome of all the proceedings and claims against the Partnership, including the matters
described above, is subject to future resolution that includes the uncertainties of litigation. It is
not possible for the Partnership to predict the result or magnitude of the claims described above
due to the various factors and uncertainties involved in the legal process. If it becomes probable
that the Partnership will be held liable for claims against the Partnership, the Partnership will
recognize a provision during the period in which the change in probability occurs, which could be
material to the Partnership’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss)
or consolidated balance sheet.

Purchase Commitments with Suppliers

The Partnership issues purchase orders to third-party suppliers that may not be cancellable. As at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Partnership had open non-cancellable purchase orders amounting
to approximately $3.6 million and $7.5 million, respectively, primarily with the Partnership’s third-
party suppliers.

15. Guarantees
Indemnification Agreements

The Partnership enters into standard indemnification provisions in contractual arrangements with
certain of its business partners and customers in the ordinary course of business. Pursuant to these
arrangements, the Partnership agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and reimburse the indemnified
parties for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, generally business partners or
customers, in connection with various matters including any patent or any copyright or other
intellectual property infringement claim by any third party with respect to the Partnership’s
products. The term of these indemnification provisions is generally perpetual in length after the
execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Partnership
could be required to make under these provisions is unlimited. The Partnership has never lost an
infringement claim with respect to its products or settled claims related to these indemnification
provisions. As a result, the Partnership believes the estimated fair value of these provisions is not
material.

The Partnership has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and officers that
may require the Partnership to indemnify its directors and officers against liabilities that may arise
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by reason of their status or service as directors or officers, other than liabilities arising from willful
misconduct of a culpable nature; to advance their expenses incurred as a result of any proceeding
against them as to which they could be indemnified; and to obtain directors’ and officers’ insurance
if available on reasonable terms, which the Partnership currently has in place. The Partnership has
not been required to indemnify any directors or officers under these agreements and has not
recorded a liability in connection with these agreements.

16. Partners’ Deficiency
Preferred Units

The Partnership has outstanding 536,741,320 Series A Preferred units, par value $0.01 per unit. The
holders of Series A Preferred units have an option to convert each share of Series A Preferred units
at an initial conversion price of $1.00, subject to a conversion ratio that is adjusted based on
common unit distributions, splits or subdivisions, combinations or reclassifications, or consolidations
or mergers. Holders of Series A Preferred units are entitled to voting rights equal to the number of
shares of common units into which the shares of Series A Preferred units could be converted,
multiplied by one hundred. Holders of Series A Preferred units are entitled to distributions, when,
as and if declared by the Board of Directors on the nhumber of shares of common units into which
each Series A Preferred unit is then convertible.

Distributions in liquidation or certain defined events are made first to the holders of Series A
Preferred units pro rata in proportion to the number of Series A Preferred units held by each
preferred unitholder, then to the holders of common units, pro rata in proportion to the number of
common units held by each common unitholder.

Stock Incentive Plans

In June 2015, the Partnership’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) adopted the Procera Holdings Inc.
Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which was assumed by Sandvine, LP subsequent to the
Partnership’s restructuring in 2017. On February 2, 2021, the Board approved an increase to the
share reserve pool from 625,937,866 common units to 658,881,964 common units. The aggregate
number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan as at December 31, 2023 is 122,140,244
shares. The purpose of the Plan is to enable the Partnership to offer stock-based incentives to
employees, directors and consultants with the objective of aligning those individuals’ interests with
those of stockholders. Under the Plan, the Partnership is authorized to grant a wide variety of
incentive awards, including stock options, warrants, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit
awards, performance stock awards and performance cash awards to employees, directors and
consultants.

As at December 31, 2023, 17,707,291 shares were available for future grant under the Plan. The
stock awards under the Plan vest over varying lengths of time pursuant to various option agreements
that the Partnership has entered into with the grantees of such stock awards. The Plan is
administered by the Board. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Board has authority to
determine the employees, directors and consultants who are to be awarded stock and the terms of
such awards, including the number of shares subject to such stock awards, the fair market value of
the common stock, the exercise price per share and other terms.

Stock options and warrants must have an exercise price equal to at least 100% of the fair market
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value of a share on the date of the award and generally cannot have a duration of more than ten
years. Options and warrants generally vest and/or become exercisable over a period of four
years. Stock option and warrant exercises are settled with newly issued shares of common stock
approved by stockholders for inclusion under the Plan. Awards are set forth in written agreements
between the Partnership and the respective option and warrant holders. Awards under the Plan
may not be made after the tenth anniversary of the date of adoption of each respective stock option
plan, but awards granted before that date may extend beyond that date.

Option holders and warrant holders have no rights as stockholders with respect to shares subject to
the option prior to the exercise thereof. An option or warrant becomes exercisable at such time and
for such amounts as determined by the Board. An option holder or warrant holder may exercise a
part of the option from the date that part first becomes exercisable until the option or warrant
expires. The purchase price for share units to be issued to a recipient upon his or her exercise of an
option or warrant is determined by the Board on the date the option is granted. The Plan provides
for adjustment as to the number and kinds of shares covered by the outstanding options and the
option price to give effect to any stock dividend, stock split, stock combination or other
reorganization.

Restricted stock awards are awards of shares of common stock units that vest in accordance with
terms and conditions established by the Board. Each restricted stock award is evidenced by an award
agreement that sets forth the terms and conditions of the award. The Board sets the terms of the
restricted stock award, including the size of the restricted stock award, the price to be paid by the
recipient, if any, the vesting schedule and any performance criteria that may be required for the
stock to vest. The award may vest based on continued employment and/or the achievement of
performance goals. If a participant’s service terminates before the restricted stock is fully vested,
all of the unvested shares will be forfeited by the participant unless otherwise provided in the
restricted stock award agreement or subsequently modified by the Board.

Stock Incentive Plan Activity
Stock Options

The following table summarizes the Partnership’s stock option activity (in thousands, except per
share data):

2023 2022

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Exercise

Options Price Options Price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 79,889 S 0.28 79,383 § 0.22
Granted 5,632 0.50 10,805 0.73
Exercised (2,783) 0.18 (15) 0.39
Forfeited and expired (9,952) 0.46 (10,284) 0.27
Outstanding at the end of the year 72,786 S 0.27 79,889 S  0.28
Exercisable at the end of the year 61,998 S 0.22 63,833 § 0.20
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A summary of unvested stock options for the year ended December 31, 2023 is shown below:

Options OQutstanding

Weighted
Average
Number Grant Date
(000’s) Fair
Balance as at December 31, 2022 16,054 S 0.57
Granted during the year 5,632 0.50
Vested during the year (6,723) 0.51
Forfeited during the year (4,175) 0.61
Balance as at December 31, 2023 10,788 S 0.55

As at December 31, 2023, the aggregate intrinsic value for options outstanding and options
exercisable was $7.8 million and $7.7 million, respectively (2022 — $36.3 million and $33.7 million,
respectively). As at December 31, 2023, the weighted average remaining contractual life for
options outstanding and options exercisable was 4.20 years and 3.42 years, respectively (2022 —
5.11 years and 4.22 years, respectively). For the year ended December 31, 2023, 2,782,971 options
were exercised with $0.5 million intrinsic value (2022 — 15,000 options with a $5 thousand intrinsic
value).

Restricted Stock

As at December 31, 2023, the Partnership had 1,581,217 vested RSUs that will be settled, upon a
change in control event, into an equal number of common share units. The Partnership may, at its
discretion, settle the vested RSUs into the then cash equivalent value in lieu of issuing common
share units.

On June 28, 2022, the Board approved the Procera Networks, Inc. 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (the
“PNI Plan”). Under the PNI Plan, a maximum of 73,209,108 RSUs may be awarded to employees,
officers, directors or consultants of the Partnership, subsidiaries or affiliates. The purpose of the
PNI Plan is to further the growth and success of the Partnership by awarding RSUs to employees,
officers, directors or consultants of the Partnership, subsidiaries or affiliates, thereby increasing
their personal interest in such growth and success and to provide a means of rewarding outstanding
performance by the recipients of the RSUs. When vested, the RSUs issued under the Plan will be
settled by the payment of cash based on the fair market value of the specified number of Common
Units of the Partnership.

Each RSU award is divided into two tranches, with 50% of the RSUs constituting Time-Vesting RSUs
and 50% of the RSUs constituting Performance-Vesting RSUs.

The Time-Vesting RSUs vest upon the satisfaction of both (a) a time-vesting condition, and (b) a
change of condition.

(a) Time-vesting condition — 25% of the awards vest on the first anniversary of the award and
the remainder vest in equal monthly installments over the next 36 months.

(b) Change of control condition — the change of control condition will be satisfied if a change
of control occurs on or prior to June 27, 2027.
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The Performance-Vesting RSUs shall vest if, upon the occurrence of a change of control on or after
the first anniversary of the award and on or prior to June 27, 2027, the enterprise value of the
Partnership as of the date of such change of control is equal to or greater than the value defined in
the PNI Plan, subject to the RSU holder’s continued service through the date of such change of
control.

In 2023, the Partnership awarded no new RSUs (2022 - 63,081,324) under the Plan and 4,099,710
RSUs were cancelled (2022 - none). None of the RSUs will vest unless there is a change of control,
and as such, the Partnership has determined that it is not probable that any RSUs will vest. No
compensation cost has been recorded in the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income (loss). If a change of control occurs before the RSUs expire, expense will be
recognized for the RSUs that vest, based on the settlement value.

Common Unit Incentive

On January 10, 2023, the Partnership issued 13,700,000 common partnership units to certain
members of management at a par value of $0.50 per unit.

Subsequent to year-end, the Board approved the grant of 21,406,250 common partnership units to
certain members of management. The grant will result in a $6.9 million non-cash stock
compensation charge in the first quarter of 2024.

Performance Stock Options
On February 5, 2021, the Board approved a stock option grant of performance options. These options

fully vest upon the consummation of a “Change in Control Event”, including a full or partial sale of
the Partnership or an initial public offering.

2023 2022

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Exercise

Options Price Options Price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 25,163 § 0.18 26,623 § 0.18
Granted - 0.00 - 0.00
Cancelled (2,133) 0.18  (1,460) 0.18
Outstanding at the end of the year 23,030 $ 0.18 25,163 $  0.18

Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based employee compensation expense recognized pursuant to the Partnership’s stock

incentive plans on the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income (loss) is as follows:
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2023 2022
Cost of sales S - S 1
Research and development 47 182
Sales and marketing 585 827
General and administrative 7,600 676
Total stock-based compensation expense S 8,232 S 1,686

No income tax benefits were recognized in the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. No stock-
based compensation has been capitalized in inventory due to the immateriality of such amounts.

As at December 31, 2023, total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options
was $2.5 million (2022 — $3.7 million), which is expected to be recognized over an estimated
weighted average amortization period of 2.4 years (2022 — 2.2 years).

Valuation Assumptions

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. The fair value of each restricted stock award is determined based upon the fair
market value of the stock on the date of the grant. The expense for stock-based awards is recognized
over the requisite service period using the straight-line attribution approach.

The following assumptions were used in determining the fair value of stock options granted during
the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Expected term (in years) 6.089 6.079
Expected volatility 38.275% 36.649%

Risk-free interest rate 4.096% 2.347%
Dividend yield -

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022 was $0.21 and $0.29 per share, respectively.

The Partnership calculated the expected term of options using a simplified method, estimated using
the liquidity event scenario to "continue” in which an initial public offering occurs and the expected
term extends beyond the liquidity event. Expected volatilities were estimated using a 50/50 blend
of historic and implied volatilities of comparable public companies. There is insufficient trading
activity to estimate the volatility of the Company’s partnership units. The risk-free interest rate for
a period equivalent to the expected term of the option was extrapolated from the US Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of the grant. The Partnership does not have a standard practice of paying
cash dividends.

Redemption of Common Units

On January 14, 2023, the Partnership redeemed 13,700,000 common units for $6.9 million from
available cash to execute the repurchase.

33



203
Sandvine, LP (Operating as Sandvine)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

17. Income Taxes

The components of income (loss) before income taxes are as follows:

2023 2022
United States S (12,858) S 13,305
Canada (2,675) (3,283)
Sweden 623 531
United Kingdom (9,680) (1,362)
Other foreign 3,890 2,160
Income (loss) before income taxes S (20,700) S 11,351

The Partnership’s income tax expense (recovery) consists of the following:

2023 2022

Current income taxes:

Canada S 7,061 S 2,974

United States 2,775 4,036

Sweden 191 165

United Kingdom (235) 298

Other foreign 384 530
Total current income tax expense 10,166 8,003
Deferred income taxes:

UsS 10,543 (10,543)

Canada (6,201) 808

Sweden (64) 26

Other foreign 134 (45)
Total deferred tax expense (recovery) 4,412 (9,754)
Income tax expense (recovery) S 14,578 S (1,751)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of net operating loss and temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Partnership’s deferred tax
assets and liabilities are as follows:

2023 2022
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards S 3,393 S 3,250
Research and other tax credits 11,416 8,847
Inventories 52 118
Stock-based compensation expense 259 259

Accruals and others 21,975 15,830
Minimum tax credits - 133
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Gross deferred tax assets 37,095 28,437

Valuation allowance (24,489) (6,495)
Total deferred tax assets 12,606 21,942
Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible assets (662) (5,234)

Tax on undistributed earnings (4,750) (4,374)

Deferred revenue (138) (139)
Total deferred tax liabilities (5,550) (9,747)
Net deferred tax assets S 7,056 S 12,195

Classification:

Non-current net deferred income tax assets ) 11,803 17,595
Non-current net deferred income tax liabilities (4,747) (5,400)
Net deferred income tax assets S 7,056 12,195

The Partnership has recognized $4.8 million of deferred taxes on temporary differences related to
its investment in certain subsidiaries where the accumulated earnings are not considered to be
permanently reinvested. The Partnership has not recognized any deferred taxes on temporary
differences related to its investment in certain other foreign subsidiaries where the accumulated
earnings are considered to be permanently reinvested. There are temporary differences of $16.8
million associated with investments in the subsidiaries for which no deferred income tax liability
has been recognized.

The Partnership regularly assesses the need for a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets.
In making that assessment, the Partnership considers both positive and negative evidence related
to the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax assets to determine, based on the weight of
available evidence, whether it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets
will be realized. The valuation allowance increased by $18.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2023, of which $10.5 million was an increase to the valuation allowance in the US.

As at December 31, 2023, the Partnership has US net operating loss carryforwards for federal income
tax purposes of approximately $0.05 million, which will begin to expire in 2027. The Partnership
also has state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $6.8 million, which will begin to
expire in 2025.

The Partnership has Canadian Scientific Research and Experimental Development (“SR&ED”)
investment tax credits (“ITCs”) of $6.3 million, which will begin to expire in 2035.

The Partnership also has California SR&ED ITCs of $0.1 million. These California ITCs have no
expiration date.

Sections 382 and 383 of the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (“IRC”), as amended, provide for

annual limitations on the utilization of net operating loss and research and experimentation credit
carryforwards if the Partnership were to undergo an ownership change. In general, an ownership
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change occurs whenever the percentage of the shares of a corporation owned, directly or indirectly,
by 5-percent shareholders, as defined in Section 382, increases by more than 50 percentage points
over the lowest percentage of the shares of such corporation owned, directly or indirectly, by such
5-percent shareholders at any time over the preceding three years.

Based on an analysis under Section 382 of the IRC, the Partnership experienced an ownership change
in conjunction with the merger on June 5, 2015, which substantially limits the future use of the
Partnership's pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and certain other pre-change tax
attributes per year. None of the US net operating loss carryforwards and SR&ED ITCs are expected
to expire as a result of the annual limitations in the deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2023.
To the extent that the Partnership does not utilize its carryforwards within the applicable statutory
carryforward periods, either because of Section 382 limitations or the lack of sufficient taxable
income, the carryforwards will expire unused.

The US Tax Act has a requirement that certain income earned by controlled foreign corporations
(“CFCs”) must be included currently in the gross income of the CFC’s US shareholder. The income
required to be included in gross income is referred to as global intangible low tax income (“GILTI”)
and is defined under IRC Section 951A as the excess of the shareholder’s net CFC tested income over
the net deemed tangible income return. The Partnership, which has companies with CFCs, has made
a policy decision to record GILTI tax as a current-period expense when incurred, which was not
material for the year.

In addition to the GILTI provision, the US Tax Act also enacted the Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax
(“BEAT”). The BEAT minimum tax under IRC Section 59A is applicable to the extent that the BEAT
amount is greater than the regular corporate tax for a given year. This tax is applicable to companies
with prior three-year average annual gross receipts exceeding $500.0 million. The Partnership does
not currently meet this threshold since its current average annual gross receipts are less than $500.0
million.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (“TCJA”) amended Section 174 relating to the federal tax
treatment of research or experimentation expenditures paid or incurred during the taxable year.
Section 174 is applicable to specified research and experimentation expenditures, including
software development, paid or incurred in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2021.
Taxpayers are required to capitalize and amortize specified research and experimentation
expenditures over a period of five years (attributable to domestic research) or fifteen years
(attributable to foreign research). During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Partnership
recognized a deferred tax benefit of $6.9 million, which is included as a component of income tax
expense from continuing operations.

The following table summarizes the activity related to unrecognized tax benefits:

2023 2022
Balance at the beginning of the year S 2,430 S 2,430
Increase in uncertain tax provision 690 -
Balance at the end of the year S 3,120 S 2,430
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As at December 31, 2023, the Partnership had a total of $3.2 million of net unrecognized tax
benefits, none of which is expected to reverse in the next 12 months. There was an increase of $0.8
million in the year.

The Partnership files income tax returns in the US, including various state jurisdictions, Canada,
Sweden, the United Kingdom and other foreign jurisdictions. As at December 31, 2023, the US
federal returns for the years ended 2020 through the current period and most state returns for the
years ended 2019 through the current period are still open to examination. In addition, all of the
net operating losses and research and development credit carryforwards that may be used in future
years are still subject to adjustment. The Partnership is also subject to examinations in Canada for
the years ended 2019 through the current period. All of the net operating losses and $1.7 million of
research and development credit carryforwards that may be used in future years are still subject to
adjustment. The Partnership is subject to examination in its other foreign jurisdictions and is still
subject to examination for the years ended 2017 through the current period.

18. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The components of changes in non-cash working capital balances are as follows:

2023 2022

Changes related to:

Accounts receivable S 25,070 §  (7,155)

Inventories 11,274 (1,363)

Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,478 (257)

Accounts payable (8,453) 6,060

Accrued liabilities and other non-current liabilities (1,301) (4,218)

Deferred revenue 1,890 (8,580)
Changes in non-cash working capital balances S 29,958 S (15,513)

19. Fair Value Measurements

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“Topic 820”) defines fair value as the
price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid upon transfer of a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date and in the principal or most
advantageous market for that asset or liability. The fair value, in this context, should be calculated
based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, not on
assumptions specific to the entity. In addition, the fair value of liabilities should include
consideration of non-performance risk, including the Partnership’s own credit risk.

Topic 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation
methodologies in measuring fair value into three levels:

 Level 1—inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active
markets.

» Level 2—inputs are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted
prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation
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techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated
by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

o Level 3—inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management’s estimates of
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. The fair values are
therefore determined using model-based techniques that include option pricing models, discounted
cash flow models, and similar techniques.

The carrying amounts of the Partnership’s cash, accounts receivable (net), accounts payable,
accrued liabilities and income taxes payable approximate their fair value due to their short
maturities.

The carrying amount of the Partnership’s derivative financial instruments designated as effective
hedges was an asset of $0.4 million as at December 31, 2023 (2022 — liability of $1.0 million).

The Partnership incurs costs, primarily payroll and related expenditures, in CAD, INR, and SEK, which
exceed the natural hedge provided by inflows in these currencies. The Partnership utilizes a hedging
program to manage certain of these net foreign currencies using forward foreigh exchange
contracts. The Partnership also incurs rent costs, in CAD and SEK, which are hedged using forward
foreign exchange contracts. The timing and amount of these forward foreign exchange contracts
are based on expected future cash outflows. The Partnership applies hedge accounting to these
forward contracts. As a result, these instruments are measured at fair value with the effective
portion of the change in fair value initially recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) and
reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) in the
same period that the hedged anticipated transaction affects earnings.

The fair value of the Partnership’s derivative instruments is estimated using a discounted cash flow
technique incorporating inputs that are observable in the market or can be derived from observable
market data and represent a Level 2 measurement.

As at December 31, 2023, the cash flow hedges were assessed to be fully effective and a net
unrealized loss of $0.6 million (2022 — loss of $2.0 million), net of $0.4 million in related income
tax expense (2022 - income tax recovery of $0.1 million), was included in other comprehensive
income (loss). The amounts retained in other comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended
December 31, 2023 will mature and affect the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income (loss) in fiscal 2024 and 2025.

The following table summarizes the Partnership’s commitments to buy and sell foreign currencies

under foreign exchange contracts, all of which have a maturity date of less than fifteen months, as
at December 31, 2023:
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) ) Currency Currency Notional Weighted
Designation Sold  Bought Amount Sold Average Rate
2023
Foreign exchange contract — Cash
flow hedges, maturing within one year usbD CAD 11,685 1.342
Foreign exchange contract — Cash
flow hedges, maturing between one
year and fifteen months usbD CAD 1,379 1.349
Foreign exchange contract — Cash
flow hedges, maturing within one year usD SEK 5,003 10.443
Foreign exchange contract — Cash
flow hedges, maturing between one
year and fifteen months usD SEK 549 10.423
Foreign exchange contract — Cash
flow hedges, maturing within one year usbD INR 3,712 83.518
Foreign exchange contract — Cash
flow hedges, maturing between one
year and fifteen months usD INR 415 84.448

The Partnership has assessed the net foreign currency exposure of its foreign-currency-denominated
financial instruments relative to the USD. A fluctuation of +/- 5%, provided as an indicative range
in a volatile currency environment, would, with all other variables held constant, have an effect on
accumulated other comprehensive loss and net income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023

of +/- $0.7 million (2022 — $0.5 million).

20. Revenue and Segment Disclosures

Sales for geographic regions were based upon the customer’s location. The following table presents

net sales by geographic region:

2023 2022

Total sales:

Europe, Middle East and Africa S 96,511 S 118,248

Asia Pacific 48,930 70,014

United States 31,446 29,435

Canada 16,161 10,553

Latin America 5,575 8,580
Total S 198,623 S 237,830

Sales made to customers located outside the United States and Canada as a percentage of total
sales were 76% and 83% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

39



209
Sandvine, LP (Operating as Sandvine)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands of United States dollars, unless otherwise noted)

Revenue, classified by timing of recognition, was as follows:

2023 2022
Products and services transferred over time ) 90,079 S 92,350
Products and services transferred at a point in time 108,544 145,480
Total S 198,623 S 237,830

Property and equipment information is based on the physical location of the Partnership’s regional
offices. The following table presents geographic information for property and equipment, net:

2023 2022
Property and equipment, net:
United States S 170§ 242
Canada 7,197 5,685
Europe 414 1,048
Asia Pacific 1,097 1,332
Total S 8,878 S 8,307

21. Subsequent Events

On February 27, 2024, the U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Industry and Security (“BIS”)
published a final rule which placed certain Sandvine entities on the BIS Entity List. This matter is
described in Note 2. The Company has assessed this matter as a non-recognized subsequent event
in accordance with ASC 855 Subsequent Events as the decision to place the Company on the Entity
List was a judgement made by the BIS and not due to specific non-compliance by the Company with
laws or regulations. ASC 855 requires disclosure of an estimate of the financial impact of the
subsequent event. However, the impacts of the Entity List designation and the related impacts
and potential impacts described in Note 2 are likely to materially impact the valuation of certain
assets including goodwill, long-intangibles, property and equipment, and deferred tax assets, in the
consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2023. Given the uncertainty as to what actions will
be required by the Company by the BIS and uncertainty as to when and if the Company will be
approved to come off of the Entity List, the Company is currently unable to estimate the financial
impact.

In addition, subsequent to year-end the Company breached certain covenants under the Secured
Credit Facilities. In absence of a forbearance, as a result of certain Events of Default, the First Lien
Secured Credit Facility lenders (“the Lenders”) have the immediate right to exercise (any and all
remedies under the First Lien Secured Credit Facility agreements, including, (a) charging interest
at the default rate, (b) declaring the loans then outstanding to be due and payable in whole and (c)
taking any other action permitted under the First Lien Secured Credit Facility agreements or
applicable law. A forbearance agreement was entered into with the Lenders with respect to those
specific defaults under the first lien loan agreement with an initial forbearance period expiring on
May 20, 2024 with the option for the Lenders to extend such forbearance until June 21, 2024. The
forbearance provides that the Lenders will not exercise their rights and remedies under the
agreement or otherwise during the forbearance period as they work with the Company on
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restructuring the debt. An extension of the forbearance period through June 3, 2024 was obtained.
Any further extension of the forbearance agreement is at the discretion of the Lenders.
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Sandvine Consolidated
Balance Sheet

30-Sep-24
Sep-2024

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 18,677
Short-Term Investments 4,561
Accounts Receivable 20,783
Inventory 4,038
Other Current Assets 8,110
56,168
Right of Use Asset 5,801
Plant and Equipment 6,603
Intangible Assets 2,806
Other Non-Current Assets 7,714
Goodwill 154,063
Deferred Tax Asset 11,803
188,790
Total Assets 244,958
Current - Lease Liability 1,552
Accounts Payable 1,559
Accrued Liabilities 25,481
Current Portion Term Loan, net of capitalized fees 2,129
Deferred Revenue 42,301
73,021
Lease Liability 4,173
Term Loan, net of capitalized costs 416,017
Deferred Tax Liability 9,950
Non-Current Deferred Revenue 19,229
Other Non-Current Liabilities 5,370
454,739
Total Liabilities 527,760
YTD Earnings (Loss) (77,651)
Share Capital 7,146
APIC 138,925
Accumulated Comprehensive Income (Loss) (713)
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Retained Equity (Deficit) (350,510)
Shareholder's Equity (282,802)

Total Liabilities and Equity 244,958
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as amended by
Amendment No. 1 to First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of March 7, 2019,
Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2021,
Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2022,
Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2023,
Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2024,
Amendment No. 6 to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2024,
Amendment No. 7 to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2024, and
Amendment No. 8 to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2024.




216

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
ARTICLE I Definitions ..cccceveeriesurcsenssissunssensnssenssessnssssssesssnssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssassssssssssssssssssssses 6
Section 1.01  Defined TErmS .......cocuiiiiiiiiiiiieiiecie et 6
Section 1.02  Classification of Loans and BOIrowings...........c.cccceeveeeviienieecieenieesveenenn. 84
Section 1.03  Terms Generally.........cccieiuieriiiiiiiiiieiieie et 84
Section 1.04  Accounting Terms; GAAP........ccveviieoieeeeeeeeee e 85
Section 1.05 Pro Forma Calculations; Unrestricted Cash.........cococvvvvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiieeiieiennns 85
Section 1.06  Currency Translation ...........ccc.eeeieriieeiieiieeieeeie et e e ae e 86
Section 1.07  ROUNAING.......ooouiiiiieiiiiieiiee ettt st ere b e s ae s 87
Section 1.08 Timing of Payment or Performance............c.cooceiiiiiiniiiiiiniiiiicee, 87
Section 1.09  [RESEIVEA] ...ccuviiiiiiieiiieceeeee e e 88
Section 1.10  CertifiCatiONS.......cueeevieiiieiieeie et eeiie et eetee ettt e ebe et eebe e e e ssseereessaeeseeas 88
Section 1.11  Compliance with Article VI.........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeceeeeceeee e 88
Section 1.12  Limited Condition ACQUISILION .....cc..eecvieruiieiieiiieeiieciieeieerieeeveesreeeaeeeeans 88
Section 1.13  Cashless ROIOVETS ......ccceeuieriiiiieiiecieeee ettt 89
Section 1.14  AIternative CUITENCIES ......c.eecuveerveereieerieeiieereeeieeeteeseeeeseesseeereesseesseeseens 89
Section 1.15  DiviSions Of LLCS......coiiiiiiiiiiiiieie ettt e 90
SECHION 1.160  RALES.....icciiiiiiieiiiciie ettt ettt eibe e e st e e seeeabeebeessseenneens 90
ARTICLE II The Credits.....cieitiieecnenssencssensssncssensssncssessssssssassssssssnsssassssassssssssssssassssassssessases 91
Section 2.01  COMMILMENTS......c.eieiiiiiiieiieeiie et ecie et eeteeereeeteeereesaeeebeesseeseseesseessseeseens 91
Section 2.02  Loans and BOITOWINGS ........ccovieiiieiiiiiieiie ettt eveeiee e 91
Section 2.03  Requests for BOITOWINGS.......c..ccovieiiieiiieeieeieecieeie e ae e 92
Section 2.04  [RESEIVEA] ...ccuuiiiiiiieiie ettt e 93
Section 2.05  [RESEIVEA] ..ccouuiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt 93
Section 2.06 Funding of BOITOWINGS .......ccouviiiiiiiiieiieiieeieeiee ettt 93
Section 2.07  Interest EIECtIONS......c..covieiieriieeiieciieeie ettt ettt eve e ae e 94
Section 2.08 Termination and Reduction of Commitments.............cccceeviereiienieenieennen. 95

Section 2.09 Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt; Limitation on Obligations
of the Canadian BOITOWET ..........cceevieriieriiinieciieceeeeee e 96
Section 2.10  Amortization of Term Loans ..........cccccveviieiiiiieeiierieeieeee e 97
Section 2.11  Prepayment 0f LOANS ........c.ceoiieiiieiiiiiiieieeieete ettt 98
SECHION 2.12  FEES weouiiiiiieiieie ettt ettt et e saaeebeesaseenseeesaeensaessseenns 103
SECtION 2.13  TNLETEST..ccuuiiiiiieiieeiieiie ettt ettt ettt ettt e e et esaae e b e s saeeseesnaeenne 103

Section 2.14  Alternate Rate of Interest; Discontinuation of Adjusted

Eurocurrency Rate.........coovveiiiiiiiiiiiicceeeeeseee e 105
Section 2.15  Increased Costs; TIle@ality.........ccceevuieiiieriieiiieiiecie e 106
Section 2.16 Break Funding Payments ............ccccceeriiiiiieiiiiiieie e 108
SECHION 2.17  TAXES ..uvieuiieiiieeieeeiieciie et esee e e siteeteesteeebeestseesbeessseeseessseesseessseenseensseenns 109
Section 2.18 Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Setoffs................. 112
Section 2.19 Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lender ............c.cceeevieiiennnnne. 114
Section 2.20 Incremental Loans...........coccueeiuieiiieiiienieeiiesieeeeee e 115
Section 2.21 Refinancing AmMendments..............cceeevieriieiieeiieeeie e eree e 118
Section 2.22  Defaulting Lenders...........cccueeiuieriieiiieniieiieeieeeee et 120



Section 2.23  [RESEIVEA] ..couiiiiiieiiie ettt 121
Section 2.24  Extensions of Term Loans and Revolving Commitments........................ 121
Section 2.25  [RESEIVEA] ..coouiiiiiieieiee et 124
Section 2.26  Borrower Representative ...........cceeecuieriieiienieeiierie et 124
ARTICLE III Representations and Warranties ........cceeeececccsneicssssnnrecssssnsecsssssssssssssssssssnssns 125
Section 3.01  Organization; POWETS.........c.eeiuiiiiieiiieiieeiiesie et 125
Section 3.02  Authorization; Enforceability ...........cccccoevieiiiiiiiiiiiiccieceeceeee, 125
Section 3.03  Approvals; NO CONTlICES ......eevuieriieiiieiiieiiesie e 125
Section 3.04 Financial Condition; No Material Adverse Change............c.ccccveevvrennnnne. 126
Section 3.05  PIOPEILIES ......eevuiieiiiiiieiieie ettt ettt ettt siae b e sae et e eneeenne 126
Section 3.06 Litigation and Environmental Matters ............cocceiiiiiiinieiiinnicinieene 127
Section 3.07 Compliance With LaWS .........cccoovviiiiiiiiiiiiieiieceee e 127
Section 3.08 Investment Company Status ...........ccceceveeeveerieeiieenieeiieeeeeeree e eeee e enne 127
SECHION 3.09  TAXES ..uvieiuieiiieiieeiieriie et esite ettt e et e st e et e stteesbeessaeenbeessseenseessbeenseesnseenne 127
Section 3.10  ERISA ..ottt 128
Section 3.11  DISCIOSUIE ....oeuiiiiiiiieeiieie ettt et 128
Section 3.12  Labor MatterS......ccuerieriirierieie ettt 129
Section 3.13  Capitalization of SuUbSIAIAries .........c.cecvueeriieriieiiecii e 129
SeCtion 3.14  SOIVENCY ....cciiiiiieiiectieete ettt ettt et saaeere e e saeeteeeeaeeans 129
Section 3.15 Federal Reserve Regulations...........c.cocuveiieiieiiieniiiiiecieeceeeeee e 129
Section 3.16 Senior Indebtedness; Subordination .............cccceeeveeveeieeecieieeieeeeeeeeee. 129
Section 3.17  USe Of PrOCEEAS. ......ccviiiiiriiieiieieeiteee et 129
Section 3.18  Security DOCUMENLS .........coiieiiieiiieiieciie ettt et 129
Section 3.19  Sanctions; Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering....................... 130
ARTICLE IV CONAIIONS «.ucovreeriuinsuissensensanssensessanssasssesssnssssssesssnsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssasssssssssss 131
Section 4.01 Amendment No. 6 Effective Date..........ccooeoveieiiiiiiiiieiiieceecee e, 131
Section 4.02  Each Credit EVENt .........ccooiiiiiiiiiiccee e 131
ARTICLE V Affirmative COVENANLS .....coeeivercseniseisecssrecsnnsssesssecsssecssnssssssssassssssssssssassssasasse 132
Section 5.01 Financial Statements and Other Information ............ccccoecevieiinienennene. 132
Section 5.02 Notices of Material EVENts.........ccoecuieiiieiieiiieiiecie e 136
Section 5.03 Existence; Conduct 0f BUSINESS ......oeeeeueeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 137
Section 5.04  Payment Of TaX@S......c.cecuierieriiieniieiierie ettt e s 137
Section 5.05 Maintenance of Properties ..........cceeveeevieeiieiiieiieecie e 137
Section 5.060  INSUTANCE .......eovuiieiieiiieeiieiie ettt ettt ettt e et e e et esaaeebeeesaeeseeenseenne 137
Section 5.07 Books and Records; Inspection and Audit Rights .............cccoevvveiiennann. 138
Section 5.08 Compliance With LaWS .........cccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieie e 138
Section 5.09  Use Of PrOCEEAS.......ccueeriiriiiieiieieciieie ettt 139
Section 5.10 Execution of Guaranty and Security Documents after the Closing
DALE .. e 139
Section 5.11  Further ASSUTANCES. ........c.covieeiiierieeiieie ettt ettt 141
Section 5.12  [RESEIVEA] ..ccouiiiieieieeiee ettt e 142
Section 5.13  Lender CallS........ccooiiiiiiiiiieiiee e 142
Section 5.14  [RESEIVEA] ...couviiiiiieieiee et e 142
Section 5.15  Post-Closing COVENANES ........cc.eeviieiiieriiieiienieeieeeee e sre e sae e ene 142



218

Section 5.16 Sanctions; Anti-Corruption Laws and Anti-Money Laundering
LaAWS .
ARTICLE VI Negative COVENANTS ...ccccvvreeersrnrecsssssrresssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss
Section 6.01 Indebtedness; Certain Equity SECUTItIESs .........cccveerviiriienieeiienieeiie e
SECHION 6.02  LICTIS. ...uieuiieiieiieiieie sttt ettt ettt et e st e e e st e beentesneeneeenee e
Section 6.03 Fundamental Changes............cccoevueeiiieriiiiieiiecieee e
Section 6.04  INVESTMENLS .....eevieuieriieieeiesiiete ettt eie ettt et ettt e esee st ebeeneeeneeneeenee e
Section 6.05  ASSEt SALES ...c.eeiiriiriiiieiiere e
Section 6.06 Restricted Payments; Certain Payments of Indebtedness........................
Section 6.07 Transactions with Affiliates...........cccevviieiieiiiiiiiiiiieeeee e
Section 6.08 ReStriCtiVe AGIEEMENTS ....c..eertieriieeiieiieeieeriie ettt
Section 6.09 Amendment of Material Documents..............cccceereiiiiiienieenienieeieeee
Section 6.10 Change in Nature of BUSINESS........cccccevieviieiiieiieciieieccee e
Section 6.11  [RESEIVEA] ...ccviiioiiiieiieeeeeee et e
Section 6.12  [RESEIVEA] ...ccviiiieeiiiiiee ettt
Section 6.13  Changes in Fiscal Year ........ccccueviiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeee e
Section 6.14 Holding COMPANIES ........ecouveevieiiieiieeiieeieeeee et eeieeereesreereeeaeeseeseseeans
ARTICLE VII Events of Default........iiiiiniinninnennienninnsninsnecnnecniisenseenseesessseseenee
Section 7.01  Events of Default .........ccoooiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee e
Section 7.02  [RESEIVEA] ...ccuviiiiiiiciiie ettt e
Section 7.03  Application of Proceeds.........cceeviieiieiiiiiiieiiieeece e
ARTICLE VIII The Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent ...........ccoeceevveecruerssnecseecnne
Section 8.01  Appointment 0f AZENtS........ccceeviieiiieiiieiiecie e
Section 8.02  Rights 0f Lender .........cccoeriiiiiiiiiieiieecee e
Section 8.03  EXculpatory PrOVISIONS .........cceevvieiiieiiieiiecieeieeciee et
Section 8.04 Reliance by Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent ........................
Section 8.05 Delegation Of DULIES ........ccvieiiiiiiieiiecieeeecee e
Section 8.06 Resignation of Agents; Successor, Administrative Agent and
Collateral ANt ......ccuveeeiiieeiieeeiieeeee ettt e e e e
Section 8.07 Non-Reliance on Agents and Other Lenders ...........cccceecveevierieenirennnnne.
Section 8.08  NO Other DULIES ......ccueeriiiieiieiieie e
Section 8.09 Collateral and Guaranty Matters..........ccoeeverieeiiierieiniienieeiee e
Section 8.10 Secured Swap Agents and Secured Cash Management Agents...............
Section 8.11  Withholding TaX .........cccceeriieiiiiniieiierie et

Section 8.12 Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent May File Proofs of
CLAIM ..ttt ettt et e esabe e s e saeeenne
Section 8.13  ERISA ...ttt ettt
Section 8.14  Other MAters .........cooiieiieiieiiieeie ettt e
Section 8.15  Binding Effect.........cccuieiiiiiiiiiiiiceeee e
ARTICLE IX MiSCEllane@OuUsS .....cccueeruerssueisnnssrrcsnnssansssncsssecssnssssssssassssesssnssssssssasssssssassssassssasanse
SECtion 9.01  INOLICES .ooviiieiiieiieeiieciee ettt ettt et eeteeseeebeesseeeteesaseesseessseenseessseenns
Section 9.02  Waivers; AMENAMENTS......ccc.vveeiiiiiiiiiiieiiieeeee et eee e e e seeaaareeeeeeesians
Section 9.03  Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver.........c.cccceevieviierieenieecieeieeee,



Section 9.04
Section 9.05
Section 9.06
Section 9.07
Section 9.08
Section 9.09
Section 9.10
Section 9.11
Section 9.12
Section 9.13
Section 9.14
Section 9.15
Section 9.16
Section 9.17
Section 9.18
Section 9.19

Section 9.20

SUCCESSOrS anNd ASSIZNS......eeeeiiieeieieeeiieeeiieeeireeeeireeeereeesreeesreeeeseeensseeens 200
SUIVIVAL ..ottt 208
Counterparts; INteGration ...........cccvvieeiiieriiieeriie e eiee e e 208
SEVETADIIILY ..eeiiiieiieeieee e 208
Right of SEtoff.....cceeiieeeeee e 208
Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.................. 209
WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.....ocoiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee e 210
HEAAINGS ..ot 210
ConfIdentiality ...cccuveeeiieeiieeeie e ree e e e ea 211
Interest Rate Limitation ...........cccceeuieiiieniieniieiieeiecee e 212
USA Patriot Act; Beneficial Ownership Regulation ..............cceeeneennee. 212
Direct Website COmMMmMUNICAtION........cc.eeruieriierieeriienieeieenieeiee e eaee e 212
Intercreditor Agreement GOVEINS ..........eeevveeeruieeriuieeeiieeeieeeereeesveeenenens 213
JUdEMEnt CUITENCY ....ccvviiiieiiiieiieeie ettt s 214
No Advisory or Fiduciary Responsibility.........ccccceevvevciirinciieiniiecieeee, 214
Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEA Financial

INSTIEUTIONS ..ttt e 215

Swedish Security LIMitations ..........cc.eeevierieeiiienieeiiienieeieeeie e sve e 215



SCHEDULES:

Schedule 1.01(a)

Schedule 1.02
Schedule 1.04

Schedule 2.01(a)
Schedule 2.01(b)

Schedule 3.05
Schedule 3.06
Schedule 3.13
Schedule 5.11
Schedule 5.15
Schedule 6.01
Schedule 6.02
Schedule 6.04
Schedule 6.05
Schedule 6.07
Schedule 9.01

EXHIBITS:

Exhibit A
Exhibit B
Exhibit C
Exhibit D
Exhibit E
Exhibit F-1
Exhibit F-2
Exhibit G-1
Exhibit G-2
Exhibit H-1

Exhibit H-2
Exhibit H-3
Exhibit H-4
Exhibit I
Exhibit J
Exhibit K

Exhibit L
Exhibit M

220

Agreed Security Principles
Excluded Subsidiaries
[Reserved]

Term Commitments
Revolving Commitments
Material Real Property
Disclosed Matters
Subsidiaries

Security Documents
Post-Closing Covenants
Existing Indebtedness
Existing Liens

Existing Investments

Asset Dispositions
Transactions with Affiliates
Administrative Agent’s Office

Form of Borrowing Request

Form of Interest Election Request

Form of Solvency Certificate

[Reserved]

[Reserved]

Form of Term Note

Form of Revolving Note

Form of Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Form of Affiliated Lender Assignment and Assumption Agreement
Form of U.S. Tax Certificate (For Foreign Lenders That Are Not
Partnerships For U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Form of U.S. Tax Certificate (For Foreign Lenders That Are Partnerships
For U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Form of U.S. Tax Certificate (For Foreign Participants That Are Not
U.S. Persons or Partnerships (For U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes)
Form of U.S. Tax Certificate (For Foreign Participants That Are
Partnerships For U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes)

Form of Mortgage

Form of Compliance Certificate

Form of Pari Passu Intercreditor Agreement

Form of Second Lien Intercreditor Agreement

Form of Secured Party Joinder Notice



221

FIRST LIEN CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of November 2, 2018, among
PROCERA NETWORKS, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Procera”) and SANDVINE
CORPORATION, a corporation amalgamated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia
(“Sandvine” or the “Canadian Borrower”) and together with Procera, the “Borrowers” and each, a
“Borrower”), PROCERA II LP, an exempted limited partnership registered in the Cayman Islands,
acting through its general partner, New Procera GP Company, a limited liability company formed
and registered in the Cayman Islands (“Ultimate Parent™), the other Guarantors from time to time
party hereto, the LENDERS from time to time party hereto, and SEAPORT LOAN PRODUCTS
LLC (“Seaport”) and ACQUIOM AGENCY SERVICES LLC (“Acquiom”), as Co-
Administrative Agents and Acquiom as Collateral Agent (as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified by that certain Amendment No. 1 to First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of March 7,
2019, that certain Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2021, that
certain LIBOR Suspension Letter, dated as of December 30, 2021, that certain Amendment No. 3
to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2022, that certain Amendment No. 4 to Credit
Agreement, dated as of July 21, 2023, that certain Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement, dated
as of May 31, 2024, Amendment No. 6 (as defined below), Amendment No. 7 (as defined below),
and Amendment No. 8 (as defined below) and as further amended, restated, amended and restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, this “Agreement”).

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used in these recitals shall have the respective
meanings set forth for such terms in ARTICLE I;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, provisions, covenants and
mutual agreements contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency
and receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, the Lenders are willing to extend such credit to the
Borrowers on the terms and express conditions set forth herein, and accordingly the parties hereto
agree as follows.

ARTICLE I
Definitions

Section 1.01 Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have
the meanings specified below:

“2024 Existing Term Loans” means the loans made by the Initial Lenders to the
Borrowers prior to the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date in an aggregate outstanding principal
amount of $394,369,555.07. Pursuant to Section 2.06(a) of this Agreement, the terms of the 2024
Existing Term Loans will be amended as set forth herein, effective as of the Amendment No. 6
First-in-Time Effective Time.

“2024 Tranche B Term Commitment” means, as to each 2024 Tranche B Term
Lender, credit extended to the Borrowers in the form of a 2024 Tranche B Term Loan issued by
the Borrowers on the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date to such Lender in exchange for the
settlement and extinguishment of indebtedness owing by the Borrowers to such Lender, expressed
as an amount representing the maximum principal amount of the 2024 Tranche B Term Loan to
be issued to such Lender under this Agreement. The aggregate amount of the 2024 Tranche B
Term Commitment is $18,000,000.
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“2024 Tranche B Term Lender” means each Lender with a 2024 Tranche B Term
Commitment representing credit extended by it in the form of a 2024 Tranche B Term Loan issued
by the Borrowers hereunder on the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date or with outstanding 2024
Tranche B Term Loans.

“2024 Tranche B Term Loan” means the Term Loans issued on the Amendment
No. 6 Effective Date by the Borrowers to the 2024 Tranche B Term Lenders.

“ABR”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such
Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is bearing interest at a rate determined by
reference to the Alternate Base Rate.

“Accounting Change” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 1.04.

“Acquisition” means any acquisition by any Holding Company or any Restricted
Subsidiary, whether by purchase, merger, amalgamation, consolidation, contribution or otherwise,
of (x) at least a majority of the assets or property and/or liabilities (or any other substantial part for
which financial statements or other financial information is available), or a business line, product
line, unit or division of, any other Person, (y) Equity Interests of any other Person such that such
other Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary or (z) additional Equity Interests of any Restricted
Subsidiary not then held by any Holding Company or any Restricted Subsidiary.

“Additional Debt” means debt in respect of one or more series of senior unsecured
notes, senior secured pari passu first lien or junior lien notes or subordinated notes (in each case
issued in a public offering, Rule 144A or other private placement in lieu of the foregoing (and any
Registered Equivalent Notes issued in exchange therefor)), pari passu first lien, junior lien or
unsecured loans or secured or unsecured mezzanine Indebtedness, in each case issued, incurred or
guaranteed by any Holding Company, any Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary after the Closing
Date that:

(1) (A) in the case of debt secured on a pari passu basis with the
Obligations, does not mature on or prior to the Latest Maturity Date in effect as of the time such
Additional Debt is incurred or (B) in the case of debt secured on a junior lien basis or unsecured
or which is secured by assets that do not constitute Collateral, does not mature on or prior to the
date that is ninety-one (91) days after the Latest Maturity Date in effect as of the time such
Additional Debt is incurred;

(11) (A) in the case of debt secured on a pari passu basis with the
Obligations, has a Weighted Average Life to Maturity equal to or longer than the remaining
Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the Term Loans (without giving effect to nominal
amortization for periods where amortization has been eliminated as a result of a prepayment of the
applicable Term Loans) or (B) in the case of debt secured on a junior lien basis or unsecured or
which is secured by assets that do not constitute Collateral, has a Weighted Average Life to
Maturity equal to or longer than the remaining Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the Term
Loans, plus ninety-one (91) days;

(ii1))  except as otherwise provided in clauses (i) through (ii) above and
clauses (iv) through (ix) below, any Additional Debt shall be on terms and pursuant to



223

documentation to be determined by the Borrower Representative and the lenders providing any
such Additional Debt; provided that the covenants and events of default applicable to such
Additional Debt, taken as a whole, shall either, at the option of the Borrower Representative, (A)
reflect market terms and conditions at the time of incurrence or effectiveness (as determined by
the Borrower Representative in good faith) or (B) be no more favorable in any material respect to
the lenders providing such indebtedness than those of the Loan Documents (as determined by the
Borrower Representative in good faith) (except for covenants or other provisions applicable only
to the periods after the then applicable Latest Maturity Date or any existing Additional Debt
existing at the time such Additional Debt is incurred), unless such covenants and events of default
are also added for the benefit of the Lenders under the Loan Documents;

(iv)  the obligations in respect thereof shall not be secured by liens on
any assets of Ultimate Parent or any Restricted Subsidiary other than Collateral;

(v) neither Ultimate Parent nor any Restricted Subsidiary is a borrower
or a guarantor with respect to such Indebtedness unless such Person is (or becomes substantially
concurrently with the incurrence of such indebtedness) a Loan Party;

(vi)  [reserved];

(vii)  if such Additional Debt is secured on Collateral, all security therefor
on Collateral shall be granted pursuant to documentation that is consistent in all material respects
with the Security Documents and (A) if secured on Collateral on a pari passu basis with the
Obligations, the representative for such Additional Debt shall enter into a Pari Passu Intercreditor
Agreement with the Collateral Agent or (B) if secured on Collateral on a junior basis to the
Obligations, the representative for such Additional Debt shall enter into a Second Lien
Intercreditor Agreement with the Collateral Agent;

(viii) subject to Section 1.12 with respect to any Additional Debt being
incurred in connection with a Limited Condition Acquisition, the aggregate principal amount of
all Additional Debt at the time of issuance or incurrence and after giving effect thereto shall not
exceed the Maximum Additional Debt Amount at such time; and

(ix)  to the extent such Additional Debt consists of Indebtedness secured
by a Lien on the Collateral that ranks pari passu in right of security with the Obligations (other
than a bona-fide revolving facility or broadly syndicated notes issued in a public offering or Rule
144 A offering), such Additional Debt shall be subject to the MFN Adjustment as if such Additional
Debt were an Incremental Term Facility incurred hereunder.

“Additional Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.20(d).

“Additional Mortgaged Property” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section

“Additional Refinancing Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section
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“Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate” means, for any Interest Period with respect to a
Eurocurrency Borrowing or an ABR Borrowing determined pursuant to clause (iii) of the
definition of “Alternate Base Rate™, a rate per annum determined by the Administrative Agent
pursuant to the following formula:

Adjusted Eurocurrency Eurocurrency Rate
Rate = 1.00 — Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage

; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate shall at no time be
less than 0.00% per annum.

“Adjusted Term SOFR” means, for purposes of any calculation, the rate per annum
equal to Term SOFR for such calculation; provided that, if Adjusted Term SOFR as so determined
would be less than the Applicable Term SOFR Floor, with respect to any Credit Facility, such rate shall
be deemed to be the Applicable Term SOFR Floor with respect to such Credit Facility for the
purposes of this Agreement.

“Administrative Agent’s Office” means the Administrative Agent’s address and, as
appropriate, account as set forth on Schedule 9.01, or such other address or account as the
Administrative Agent may from time to time notify the Borrower Representative and the Lenders.

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an administrative questionnaire in a form
supplied by the Administrative Agent.

“Adverse Tax Consequences” means adverse tax consequences to Ultimate Parent
and the direct and indirect holders of its Equity Interests and the Restricted Subsidiaries (taken as
a whole), other than de minimis tax consequences.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly,
or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common
Control with the Person specified.

“Affiliated Institutional Lender” means any Affiliated Lender that is a bona fide
debt fund that is primarily engaged in, or advises funds or other investment vehicles that are
engaged in, making, purchasing, holding or otherwise investing in commercial loans, bonds and
similar extensions of credit or securities in the ordinary course of its business and whose managers
have fiduciary duties to the investors in such fund or investment vehicle independent of, or in
addition, to their duties to any direct or indirect holder of Equity Interests in Ultimate Parent.

“Affiliated Lender” means any Lender that is an Affiliate of Ultimate Parent, the
Borrowers or any Restricted Subsidiaries, but excluding any Affiliated Institutional Lender;
provided, that, no Lender that holds, directly or indirectly, Equity Interests in Ultimate Parent on
the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date shall be an “Affiliated Lender” for all purposes of this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

“Affiliated Lender Assignment and Assumption Agreement” means an assignment
and assumption entered into by a Lender with an Affiliated Lender (other than an Affiliated
Institutional Lender), and accepted by the Administrative Agent pursuant to the terms hereof, in
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the form of Exhibit G-2 or any other form (or changes thereto) approved by the Administrative
Agent and the Borrower Representative.

“Agent” means either of the Administrative Agent or the Collateral Agent.

“Agent Fee Letter” means the fee letter, dated as of the Closing Date, by and among
the Borrowers and the Administrative Agent.

“Agreed Security Principles” means the principles set forth in Schedule 1.01(a).

13

Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble to this
Agreement.

“Agreement Currency” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.17.

“AHYDO Catch-Up Payment” means any payment with respect to any debt
obligations of any Domestic Subsidiary, including subordinated debt obligations and Additional
Debt, in each case to avoid the application of Section 163(e)(5) of the Code.

“ALTA” means the American Land Title Association.

“Alternate Base Rate” means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of
(1) the U.S. Prime Rate in effect on such day, (ii) the NYFRB Rate, in effect on such day, plus one-
half of one percent (1/2%) per annum, and (iii) Term SOFR on such day (or if such day is not a
Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day) for a one-month Interest Period plus one
percent (1.00%) per annum; provided that for the avoidance of doubt, Term SOFR for any day
shall be the Term SOFR Reference Rate, at approximately 5:00 a.m. (Chicago time) two (2)
Business Days prior to such day for a term of one month commencing on such day. Any change
in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the U.S. Prime Rate, the NYFRB Rate, the Adjusted
Eurocurrency Rate or Term SOFR shall be effective from and including the effective date of such
change in the U.S. Prime Rate, the NYFRB Rate, the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate or Term SOFR,
as applicable.

“Alternative Currency” means, (a) with respect to any Revolving Loans, Euros,
Sterling, Yen, Swiss Francs, Swedish Krona and any other currency added as an “Alternative
Currency” with respect to Revolving Loans pursuant to Section 1.14; and (b) with respect to any
Incremental Term Loans and separate tranches of Incremental Revolving Commitments (and
Incremental Loans made pursuant thereto), any currency other than Dollars that may be agreed
among the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and all of the applicable Lenders providing such
Loans and Commitments.

“Amendment No. 6” means that certain Amendment No. 6 to Credit Agreement,
dated as of the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date, among the Borrowers, the other Guarantors party
thereto, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders party thereto.

“Amendment No. 6 Effective Date” means June 28, 2024.
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“Amendment No. 6 First-in-Time Effective Time” has the meaning assigned to
such term in Amendment No. 6.

“Amendment No. 6 Second-in-Time Effective Time” has the meaning assigned to
such term in Amendment No. 6.

“Amendment No. 6 Term Lenders” means the Initial Term Lenders and the 2024
Tranche B Term Lenders.

“Amendment No. 6 Term Loans” means the Initial Term Loans and the 2024
Tranche B Term Loans.

“Amendment No. 7” means that certain Amendment No. 7 to Credit Agreement,
dated as of August 28, 2024.

“Amendment No. 8” means that certain Amendment No. 8 to Credit Agreement,
dated as of Amendment No. 8 Effective Date.

“Amendment No. 8 Effective Date”” means October 2, 2024.

“Ancillary Fees” has the meaning specified in Section 9.02(1).

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all U.S. and non-U.S. Laws relating to the
prevention of corruption and bribery including, without limitation the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the UK Bribery Act of 2010.

“Anti-Money Laundering Laws” means any law, regulation, or rule in the U.S. or
any other applicable jurisdiction regarding money laundering, terrorist-related activities or other
money laundering predicate crimes, including, without limitation, the Canadian AML Legislation,
the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act of 1970 (otherwise known as the Bank
Secrecy Act), the Beneficial Ownership Regulation and the Patriot Act.

“Applicable Date of Determination” means either (i) the last day of the most
recently ended fiscal quarter for which financial statements were delivered or were required to be
delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or (b), as applicable, or (ii) at the option of the Borrowers, in
the case of any transaction the permissibility of which requires a calculation on a Pro Forma Basis,
the last day of the most recently ended fiscal quarter prior to the date of such determination for
which internal financial statements are available.

“Applicable Margin” means, for any day, with respect to Incremental Credit
Facilities, Other Term Loans, Other Revolving Loans, Other Revolving Commitments, Extended
Term Loans, Extended Revolving Loans or Extended Revolving Commitments, the rate per annum
specified in the amendment establishing such Incremental Credit Facilities, Other Term Loans,
Other Revolving Loans, Other Revolving Commitments, Extended Term Loans, Extended
Revolving Loans or Extended Revolving Commitments, as applicable.

“Applicable Percentage” means, at any time with respect to any Revolving Lender
with a Revolving Commitment, the percentage of the aggregate Revolving Commitments
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outstanding at such time represented by such Lender’s Revolving Commitments at such time. If
the Revolving Commitments have terminated or expired, the Applicable Percentage shall be
determined based upon the Revolving Commitments most recently in effect.

“Applicable Facility Percentage” means, at any time with respect to any Revolving
Lender with a Revolving Commitment of any Class, the percentage of the aggregate Commitments
of such Class outstanding at such time represented by such Lender’s Commitment with respect to
such Class at such time. If the Commitments of such Class have terminated or expired, the
Applicable Facility Percentage shall be determined based upon the Commitments of such Class
most recently in effect.

“Applicable Term SOFR Floor” means the Term SOFR floor applicable to any
Credit Facility under which a Loan is being made, and with respect to the Initial Term Loans and
the Revolving Credit Facilities, means 0.00% per annum.

“Applicable Time” means, with respect to any borrowings and payments in any
Alternative Currency, the local time in the place of settlement for such Alternative Currency as
may be determined by the Administrative Agent to be necessary for timely settlement on the
relevant date in accordance with normal banking procedures in the place of payment.

“Approved Fund” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(b).

“Assignment and Assumption” means an assignment and assumption entered into
by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section
9.04), and accepted by the Administrative Agent pursuant to the terms hereof, substantially in the
form of Exhibit G-1 or any other form (or changes thereto) approved by the Administrative Agent
and the Borrower Representative.

“Auction Amount” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition “Dutch

Auction”.

“Auction Expiration Time” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition
“Dutch Auction”.

“Auction Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition “Dutch

Auction”.

“Auction Party” or “Auction Parties” has the meaning assigned to such term in the
definition of “Dutch Auction” or as specified in Section 2.11(i), as the context may require.

“Available Amount” means, on any date of determination (the “Reference Date™),
an amount (which shall not be less than zero) determined on a cumulative basis equal to the sum
of (without duplication):

(a) the greater of (x) $14,500,000 and (y) 30.0% of LTM EBITDA calculated
on a Pro Forma Basis as of the Reference Date; plus

(b) the Cumulative CNI Amount as of the Reference Date; plus
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(©) the cumulative amount of (A) any capital contributions made in cash by any
Person other than a Subsidiary to Ultimate Parent after the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date (other
than any Excluded Contributions or amounts designated as Available Excluded Contribution
Amounts) to the extent such contributions have been contributed in cash to a Borrower or any
other Loan Party; and (B) any Net Proceeds of any issuance of Qualified Equity Interests after the
Amendment No. 6 Effective Date of Ultimate Parent (other than Excluded Contributions or
amounts designated as Available Excluded Contribution Amounts) to any Person other than a
Restricted Subsidiary to the extent such Net Proceeds have been contributed in cash to a Borrower
or any other Loan Party (other than Ultimate Parent), in each case other than Excluded
Contributions; plus

(d) 100% of the aggregate Net Proceeds and the fair market value (as
reasonably determined in good faith by the Borrower Representative) of marketable securities or
other property contributed to Ultimate Parent after the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date from any
Person other than a Restricted Subsidiary to the extent such contributions have been contributed
to a Borrower or any other Loan Party (other than Ultimate Parent), in each case other than
Excluded Contributions; plus

(e) to the extent not otherwise included in clause (b) above, (i) the aggregate
amount received by any Holding Company (other than Ultimate Parent) or any Restricted
Subsidiary after the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date from cash (or Cash Equivalents) dividends
and distributions made by any Joint Venture in respect of Investments made by any Holding
Company (other than Ultimate Parent) or any Restricted Subsidiary to any Joint Venture made
pursuant to Section 6.04(z)(i) (up to the original amount of such Investment), and (ii) the Net
Proceeds in connection with the sale, transfer or other disposition of (A) [reserved] or (B) the
Equity Interests of any Joint Venture of a Holding Company or of a Restricted Subsidiary made
pursuant to Section 6.04(z)(i) (up to the original amount of such Investment), in each case to any
Person other than a Holding Company or Restricted Subsidiary; plus

(f) [reserved]; plus

(g)  [reserved]; plus

(h) the aggregate amount of Retained Declined Proceeds retained by any
Holding Company (other than Ultimate Parent) or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries; plus

(1) the fair market value of all Qualified Equity Interests of Ultimate Parent
issued upon conversion or exchange of Indebtedness or Disqualified Equity Interests of any
Holding Company (other than Ultimate Parent) or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries, in each case
incurred after the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date; plus

() to the extent not otherwise included, the aggregate amount of cash Returns
to any Holding Company (other than Ultimate Parent) or any Restricted Subsidiary in respect of
Investments made pursuant to Section 6.04(z)(i) (limited to the amount of the original Investment
made pursuant to such Section); minus

(k) the aggregate amount of (i) [reserved], (ii) Restricted Payments made using
the Available Amount pursuant to Section 6.06(a)(xiv)(B) or made pursuant to Section 6.06(a)(v)
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or (a)(xv), (ii1) Investments made using the Available Amount pursuant to Section 6.04(z)(i) or
made pursuant to 6.04(dd) and (iv) prepayments, redemptions, acquisitions, retirements,
cancellations, terminations and repurchases of Indebtedness made using the Available Amount
pursuant to Section 6.06(b)(vi)(B) or made pursuant to Section 6.06(b)(vii), in each case during
the period from and including the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date through and including the
Reference Date (without taking account of the intended usage of the Available Amount on such
Reference Date for which such determination is being made, but taking into account any other
such usage on such date); minus

) [reserved].

“Available Excluded Contribution Amount” means, to the extent Not Otherwise
Applied, a cumulative amount equal to (a) the net cash proceeds or fair market value (determined
at the time of contribution) of property or assets (including cash and Cash Equivalents) contributed
after the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date to a Borrower by any Person other than a Restricted
Subsidiary as a capital contribution or as a result of the sale or issuance of Qualified Equity
Interests of Ultimate Parent to the extent contributed in cash to a Borrower, in each case (i) to the
extent designated an excluded contribution (“Excluded Contribution™) by such Borrower and (ii)
so used within eighteen (18) months of such designation minus (b) the aggregate amount of (x)
Investments made using the Available Excluded Contribution Amount pursuant to
Section 6.04(z)(i1), (y) Restricted Payments made using the Available Excluded Contribution
Amount pursuant to Section 6.06(a)(x)(i1) and (z) prepayments, redemptions, acquisitions,
retirements, cancellations, terminations and repurchases of Indebtedness made using the Available
Excluded Contribution Amount pursuant to Section 6.06(b)(ix)(ii).

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers
by the applicable EEA Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an EEA Financial
Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation” means, with respect to any EEA Member Country
implementing Article 55 of Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council
of the European Union, the implementing law for such EEA Member Country from time to time
which is described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule.

“Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code entitled
“Bankruptcy”, as now and hereafter in effect, or any successor statute.

“Base Exchange Amount” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section

2.25(a).

“Base Rate Term SOFR Determination Day” has the meaning set forth in the
definition of “Term SOFR.”

“Beneficial Owner” means, in the case of a Lender that is classified as a partnership
for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the direct or indirect partner or owner of such Lender that is
treated, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as the beneficial owner of a payment by any Loan
Party under any Loan Document.
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“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial
ownership as required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

“Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the
United States.

“Borrower” and “Borrowers” have the meaning assigned to such term in the
preamble to this Agreement.

“Borrower Materials” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 5.01.

“Borrower Representative” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.26.

“Borrowing” means Loans of the same Class, Type and currency, made, converted
or continued on the same date pursuant to a particular Borrowing Request or Interest Election
Request and, in the case of Eurocurrency Loans or Term SOFR Loans, as to which a single Interest
Period is in effect.

“Borrowing Request” means a request by a Borrower for a Borrowing in
accordance with Section 2.03 substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto.

“Business Day” means (a) for all purposes other than as covered by clauses (b), (c)
and (d) below, any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in
New York City and London are authorized or required by law to remain closed, (b) if such day
relates to any fundings, disbursements, settlements or payments in connection with a Loan
denominated in Dollars, any day described in clause (a) that is also a day for trading by and
between banks in Dollar deposits in the London interbank currency markets, (c) if such day relates
to any fundings, disbursements, settlements or payments in connection with a Loan denominated
in Euros, any day described in clauses (a) and (b) that is also a day on which the Trans-European
Automated Real Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET) payment system is open for
the settlement of payment in Euros and (d) if such day relates to any fundings, disbursements,
settlements or payments in connection with a Loan denominated in a currency other than Dollars
or Euros, any day described in clause (a) that is also a day on which banks are open for foreign
exchange business in the principal financial center of the country of such currency; provided,
however, that, when used in connection with a Term SOFR Loan, the term “Business Day” shall
mean a U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

“Canadian AML Legislation” means applicable Canadian law regarding anti-
money laundering and anti-terrorist financing, including the Criminal Code (Canada), Proceeds of
Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (Canada) and any regulations, guidelines
or orders thereunder.

“Canadian Borrower” has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble to this

Agreement.
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“Canadian Defined Benefit Plan” means any Canadian Pension Plan which contains
a “defined benefit provision” as defined in subsection 147.1(1) of the Canadian Tax Act.

“Canadian Collateral Documents” means, collectively, (a) the Canadian Security
Agreement, (b) the First Lien Canadian Trademark Security Agreement dated as of the Closing
Date (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time) among the
Canadian Borrower and the Collateral Agent, (c) the First Lien Canadian Patent and Design
Security Agreement (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)
among the Canadian Borrower and the Collateral Agent and (d) all other security agreements,
deeds of hypothec, pledge agreements, or other collateral security agreements, instruments or
documents entered into or to be entered into by a Canadian Loan Party pursuant to which such
Canadian Loan Party grants or perfects a security interest in certain of its assets to the Collateral
Agent in connection with this Agreement, including without limitation, PPSA financing statements
and financing change statements, as applicable, required to be executed or delivered pursuant to
any Canadian Collateral Documents, and in each case any applicable joinder agreement to any of
the foregoing.

“Canadian Dollars” means the lawful currency of Canada.

“Canadian Guarantors” means each Subsidiary organized or existing under the laws
of Canada or any province or territory thereof that becomes a party to the Guaranty after the
Closing Date as required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and the Agreed Security
Principles.

“Canadian Insolvency Law” means any of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
(Canada), the Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), and the Winding-up and
Restructuring Act (Canada), and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for
the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, restructuring, winding-up, administration,
receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor relief laws of Canada from time to time
in effect, each as now and hereafter in effect, and any successors to such statutes and any
proceeding under applicable federal or provincial corporate law seeking an arrangement or
compromise of some or all of the debts of a Person or a stay of proceedings to enforce some or all
claims of creditors against a Person.

“Canadian Loan Party” means each of the Canadian Borrower and the Canadian

Guarantors.

“Canadian Multi-Employer Plan” means any “registered pension plan” as defined
in subsection 248(1) of the Canadian Tax Act which contains a “defined benefit provision” as
defined in subsection 147.1(1) of the Canadian Tax Act, to which a Loan Party is required to
contribute pursuant to a collective agreement or participation agreement and which is not
maintained or administered by a Loan Party or any of its Affiliates.

“Canadian Pension Plan” means any “pension plan” within the meaning of the
Pension Benefits Act (Ontario) or another pension standards statute of Canada or a province, to
which a Loan Party is required to contribute, excluding any Canadian Multi-Employer Plan.
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“Canadian Pension Termination Event” means the occurrence of any of the
following: (i) the wind-up or termination (in whole or in part) of a Canadian Defined Benefit Plan
or the institution of proceedings by any Governmental Authority to terminate in whole or in part
any Canadian Defined Benefit Plan, including notice being given by the Superintendent of
Financial Services or another Governmental Authority that it intends to order a wind up in whole
or in part of a Loan Party’s Canadian Defined Benefit Plan; (ii) the appointment by any
Governmental Authority of a replacement administrator or trustee to wind up or terminate (in
whole or in part) a Canadian Defined Benefit Plan; or (iii) any statutory deemed trust or Lien, other
than a Permitted Encumbrance, arising in connection with a Canadian Defined Benefit Plan which
would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary herein, a Canadian Pension Termination Event shall not include any event that relates
to the partial wind-up or termination of solely a defined contribution component of a Canadian
Defined Benefit Plan.

“Canadian Security Agreement” means the First Lien Security Agreement dated as
of the Closing Date (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
to time), among the Canadian Borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto from time to time and
the Collateral Agent.

“Canadian Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended from time
to time, and any successor statute.

“Capital Expenditures” means, for any period, the additions to property, plant and
equipment of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries that are (or should be) set forth in a
consolidated statement of cash flows of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries for such
period prepared in accordance with GAAP.

“Capital Lease Obligations” of any Person means, subject to Section 1.04, the
obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement
conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations
are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such Person
under GAAP, and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof
determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Capitalized Software Expenditures” means, for any period, the aggregate of all
expenditures (whether paid in cash or accrued as liabilities) by a Person and its Restricted
Subsidiaries during such period in respect of purchased software or internally developed software
and software enhancements that, in conformity with GAAP, are or are required to be reflected as
capitalized costs on the consolidated balance sheet of a Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries.

“Captive Insurance Subsidiaries” means, collectively or individually, as of any date
of determination, those regulated Subsidiaries primarily engaged in the business of providing
insurance and insurance-related services to Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries.

“Cash Equivalents” means:

(a) (1) Dollars, Canadian Dollars, Sterling, Euros or any other Alternative
Currency, (ii) any other national currency of any member state of the European Union or (iii) any
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other foreign currency, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) held by any Holding Company, any
Borrower or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;

(b) securities issued or directly and fully Guaranteed or insured by the United
States or Canadian governments, a member state of the European Union or the United Kingdom
or, in each case, any agency or instrumentality thereof (provided that the full faith and credit of
such country or such member state is pledged in support thereof), having maturities of not more
than two (2) years from the date of acquisition;

(c) certificates of deposit, time deposits, eurodollar time deposits, overnight
bank deposits or bankers’ acceptances issued by (x) any Revolving Lender or affiliate thereof or
(y) any bank or trust company (i) whose commercial paper is rated at least “A-2” or the equivalent
thereof by S&P or at least “P-2” or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s and (ii) having combined
capital and surplus in excess of $500,000,000;

(d) repurchase obligations for underlying securities of the types described in
clauses (b) and (c) entered into with any Person referenced in clause (c) above;

(e) commercial paper rated at the time of acquisition thereof at least “A-2" or
the equivalent thereof by S&P or “P-2” or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s;

® readily marketable direct obligations issued by any state, commonwealth or
territory of the United States, any province or territory of Canada, any member of the European
Union or the United Kingdom, any other foreign government or any political subdivision or taxing
authority thereof, in each case, having one of the two highest rating categories obtainable from
either Moody’s or S&P with maturities of not more than two years from the date of acquisition;

(2) interests in any investment company or money market fund or enhanced
high yield fund which invests at least 90% of its assets in instruments of the type specified in

clauses (a) through (f) above;

(h) instruments and investments of the type and maturity described in clauses
(a) through (g) above denominated in any foreign currency or of foreign obligors, which
investments or obligors are, in the reasonable judgment of the Borrower Representative,
comparable in investment quality to those referred to above;

(1) solely with respect to any Person that is organized or incorporated outside
of the United States or any state or territory thereof or the District of Columbia, investments of
comparable tenor and credit quality to those described in the foregoing clauses (b) through (f)
customarily utilized in countries in which such Foreign Subsidiary operates for short term cash
management purposes; and

() any other investments permitted by the investment policy of Ultimate Parent
and the Restricted Subsidiaries delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Amendment No.
6 Effective Date and on file with the Administrative Agent (it being understood and agreed that no
such policy has been delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Amendment No. 6
Effective Date).
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“Cash Management Agreement” means any agreement to provide Cash
Management Services.

“Cash Management Obligations” means, as to any Loan Party, any and all
obligations of such Loan Party, whether absolute or contingent and however and whenever created,
arising, evidenced or acquired (including all renewals, extensions and modifications thereof and
substitutions therefor), under any Cash Management Agreement.

“Cash Management Services” means any one or more of the following types of
services or facilities: (a) ACH transactions, (b) cash management services, including controlled
disbursement services, treasury, depository, overdraft, credit or debit card, stored value card,
electronic funds transfer services, and (c) foreign exchange facilities or other cash management
arrangements in the ordinary course of business. For the avoidance of doubt, Cash Management
Services do not include Swap Agreements.

“Cayman Islands Collateral Documents” means, collectively, (a) each guarantee
made by each Cayman Islands Guarantor in favor of the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the
Secured Parties in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent, and (b) each
of the other guarantees, security agreements, pledges, debentures, hypothecs, mortgages, consents
and other instruments and documents executed and delivered by any Loan Party organized in the
Cayman Islands, and security agreements granted over Equity Interests of any Subsidiary
organized in the Cayman Islands, in each case from time to time in connection with this
Agreement.

“Cayman Islands Guarantors” means Ultimate Parent, and each other Subsidiary
incorporated, organized or existing under the laws of the Cayman Islands that becomes a party to
the Cayman Islands Collateral Documents after the Closing Date as required pursuant to the terms
of this Agreement and the Agreed Security Principles.

“CFC” means a Foreign Subsidiary of Ultimate Parent that is a “controlled foreign
corporation” within the meaning of Section 957 of the Code; provided that no Subsidiary that is
organized or incorporated in a Specified Jurisdiction as of the Closing Date shall be considered a
CFC.

“CFC Holding Company” means any Domestic Subsidiary of Ultimate Parent that
owns no material assets other than equity interests (including, for this purpose, any debt or other
instrument treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes) and, if applicable, debt in one
or more (a) Foreign Subsidiaries that are CFCs and/or (b) other Subsidiaries that own no material
assets other than equity interests (including, for this purpose, any debt or other instrument treated
as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes) and, if applicable, debt in one or more Foreign
Subsidiaries that are CFCs.

“Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events after the
Closing Date: (a) at any time prior to the consummation of an IPO, the Permitted Holders shall
cease to (x) control and own, directly or indirectly, of record and beneficially (as defined in Rules
13(d)-3 and 13(d)-5 under the Exchange Act or any successor provisions) more than 50.0% of the
voting interests (for the election of directors) in the outstanding voting securities having ordinary
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voting power for the election of directors of Ultimate Parent or its general partner, or (y) maintain
the right to appoint directors having greater than 50.0% of the aggregate votes on the board of
directors of Ultimate Parent or its general partner, (b) at any time after the consummation of an
IPO, and for any reason whatsoever, any “person” or “group”, but excluding the Permitted Holders
and any underwriters in connection with such IPO, shall become the “beneficial owner”, directly
or indirectly, of more than 35.0% of the outstanding voting securities having ordinary voting power
for the election of directors of the Public Company, unless the Permitted Holders shall have the
right to appoint directors having more than 50.0% of the aggregate votes on the board of directors
of the Public Company, (c) at any time after the consummation of an IPO, the Public Company
shall fail to either be Ultimate Parent or cease to own, directly or indirectly through wholly owned
Subsidiaries (other than directors’ and other similar qualifying shares), of record and beneficially,
together with any other Permitted Holders, 100% of each class of outstanding Equity Interests of
Ultimate Parent (other than directors’ and other similar qualifying shares), (d) subject to the
exceptions and permitted transactions set forth in Section 6.03, Ultimate Parent shall cease to own,
directly or indirectly, of record and beneficially, 100% of each class of outstanding Equity Interests
of each Borrower and (e) subject to the exceptions and permitted transactions set forth in Section
6.03, 100% of each class of outstanding Equity Interests of each Borrower shall cease to be owned,
directly, of record and beneficially by one or more Loan Parties.

For purposes of this definition, including other defined terms used herein in
connection with this definition and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this definition or
any provision of Section 13d-3 of the Exchange Act, (i) “beneficial ownership” shall be as defined
in Rules 13(d)-3 and 13(d)-5 under the Exchange Act (excluding any employee benefit plan of
such Person and its subsidiaries, and any Person acting in its capacity as trustee, agent or other
fiduciary or administrator of any such plan) and (ii) the phrase “person” or “group” is within the
meaning of Section 13(d) or 14(d) of the Exchange Act.

“Change in Law” means (a) the adoption of any law, rule, treaty or regulation after
the Closing Date, (b) any change in any law, rule, treaty or regulation or in the interpretation or
application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the Closing Date or (c) compliance by
any Lender (or, for purposes of Section 2.15(b), by any lending office of such Lender or by such
Lender’s holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not having
the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the Closing Date; provided
that notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder or issued in
connection therewith and (y) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by the Bank
for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or
similar authority) or the United States, Canada or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case
pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law” regardless of the date
enacted, adopted or issued.

“Charges” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.13.

“Class,” when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such
Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are Revolving Loans, Initial Term Loans, 2024
Tranche B Term Loans, Incremental Term Loans, Incremental Revolving Loans, Other Term
Loans, Other Revolving Loans, Extended Term Loans or Extended Revolving Loans; when used
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in reference to any Commitment, refers to whether such Commitment is a Revolving Commitment,
Initial Term Commitment, 2024 Incrermental Term Commitment, Incremental Term
Commitment, Incremental Revolving Commitment, Extended Revolving Commitment, Other
Term Commitment and Other Revolving Commitment; and when used in reference to any Lender,
refers to whether such Lender has a Loan or Commitment with respect to a particular Class.
Incremental Term Loans, Extended Term Loans and Other Term Loans (together with the
respective Commitments in respect thereof) shall, at the election of the Borrower Representative,
be construed to be in different Classes. Incremental Revolving Loans, Extended Revolving Loans
and Other Revolving Loans (together with the respective Commitments in respect thereof) shall,
at the election of the Borrower Representative, be construed to be in different Classes. Initial Term
Loans and 2024 Tranche B Term Loans shall be construed to be in different Classes.

“Closing Date” means November 2, 2018.

“Closing Date Transactions” means collectively, (a) the execution and delivery of
the Super-Senior Loan Documents on the Closing Date, (b) the issuance and borrowing of the
Exchange Term Loans (as defined in the Super-Senior Credit Agreement), (c) the execution and
delivery of Amendment No. 8 and any Loan Documents in connection therewith, and (d) any
amendment or modification to any of the foregoing.

into Amendment No. 8, the Second Lien Intercreditor Agreement, the Super-Senior
Credit Agreement, and the Super-Senior Loan Documents.

“Co-Administrative Agent” means, collectively, Seaport and Acquiom, including
their affiliates and subsidiaries, in their capacities as co-administrative agents for the Lenders
hereunder, and their successors in such capacity as provided in ARTICLE VIII, and “Co-
Administrative Agent” and “Administrative Agent” shall mean any one of them.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (unless otherwise
provided for herein).

“Collateral” means any and all “Collateral” or “Mortgaged Property” (or any term
of similar meaning), as defined in any applicable Security Document, and any and all property of
whatever kind or nature subject to or purported to be subject to a Lien under any Security
Document, but shall in all events (i) with respect to Loan Parties organized within the United States
(or any state or territory thereof) exclude all Excluded Property and, (ii) with respect to Loan
Parties organized or incorporated outside the United States (or any state or territory thereof), shall
be limited by and subject in all respects to the Agreed Security Principles and exclude all Foreign
Excluded Assets and any property described in clause (ii), (vii), (viii) or (x) of the definition of
Excluded Property.

“Collateral Agent” means Acquiom, in its capacity as collateral agent for the
Secured Parties, and its successors in such capacity as provided in Article VIII.

“Collateral Agreements” means each of the U.S. Collateral Agreement, the
Canadian Collateral Documents, the Cayman Islands Collateral Documents, the Swedish
Collateral Documents and the UK Collateral Documents.
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“Commitment” means, with respect to any Person, such Person’s Term
Commitment, Revolving Commitment, Incremental Term Commitment, Incremental Revolving
Commitment, Other Term Commitment, Extended Revolving Commitment or Other Revolving
Commitment or any combination thereof (as the context requires).

“Commodity Exchange Act” means the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 1 et
seq.), as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.

“Communications” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.15.

“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit J
annexed hereto.

“Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Expense” means, with respect to any
Person for any period, the total amount of depreciation and amortization expense, including
amortization or write-off of (i) intangibles and non-cash organization costs, (ii) deferred financing
fees or costs and (iii) Capitalized Software Expenditures or costs, capitalized expenditures,
customer acquisition costs and incentive payments, conversion costs and contract acquisition costs,
the amortization of original issue discount resulting from the issuance of Indebtedness at less than
par and amortization of favorable or unfavorable lease assets or liabilities, of such Person and its
Restricted Subsidiaries for such period on a consolidated basis and otherwise determined in
accordance with GAAP and any write-down of assets or asset value carried on the balance sheet.

“Consolidated EBITDA” of any Person for any period means the Consolidated Net
Income of such Person for such period:

(1) increased (without duplication) by:

(a) provision for taxes based on income, profits or capital, including federal,
state, provincial, local, foreign, franchise and similar taxes and foreign
withholding and similar taxes, in each case, imposed on income, profits or
capital (including any penalties and interest) of such Person paid or accrued
during such period, to the extent the same were deducted (and not added
back) in computing Consolidated Net Income; plus

(b) Consolidated Interest Expense of such Person for such period (including
(x) net losses on Swap Obligations or other derivative instruments entered
into for the purpose of hedging interest rate risk and (y) costs of surety
bonds in connection with financing activities), to the extent the same were
deducted (and not added back) in calculating Consolidated Net Income; plus

(©) Consolidated Depreciation and Amortization Expense of such Person for
such period to the extent the same were deducted (and not added back) in
computing Consolidated Net Income; plus

(d) add-backs for fees, costs and expenses related to an IPO or other exit
transaction, whether or not consummated; plus
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(x) (A) fees, costs, expenses, accruals, reserves or charges relating to
restructuring, integration, transition, facilities opening and pre-opening or
other business optimization (including charges related to the undertaking
and/or implementation of cost-savings initiatives, operating expense
reductions, and other similar initiatives), that are deducted (and not added
back) in such period in computing Consolidated Net Income, including
those related to severance, reserve, retention, signing bonuses, relocation,
recruiting and other employee-related costs, future lease commitments,
curtailments, one-time costs related to entry into new markets, investments
in new products, consulting and other professional fees, signing costs,
relocation expenses, modifications to or losses on settlement of pension and
post-retirement employee benefit plans, new systems design and
implementation costs, costs related to the creation of a new customer
platform (including internal labor costs) and costs of migrating customers
to such platform, project startup costs, and costs of and payments of legal
settlements, fines, judgments or orders, costs related to the opening and
closure and/or consolidation of facilities, and costs related to the
implementation of operational and reporting systems and technology
initiatives or in connection with becoming a standalone company and
(B) the amount of any one-time restructuring charge or reserve including,
without limitation, in connection with (i) acquisitions after the Closing Date
and (ii) consolidation or closing of facilities and (y) any other fees, costs,
expenses, reserves or charges to the extent supported by a quality of
earnings report provided to the Administrative Agent (for distribution to the
Lenders) and prepared by financial advisors that are reasonably acceptable
to the Required Lenders (it being understood and agreed that any of the “Big
Four” accounting firms and Alvarez and Marsal are acceptable to the
Required Lenders), that are deducted (and not added back) in such period
in computing Consolidated Net Income; plus

any other non-cash charges, write-downs, expenses, losses or items
reducing Consolidated Net Income for such period, including (A) non-cash
restructuring charges or non-cash reserves in connection with any Permitted
Acquisition or other permitted Investment consummated after the Closing
Date, (B) all non-cash losses (minus any non-cash gains) from Dispositions
(including, without limitation, asset retirement costs), (C) non-cash charges
attributable to any post-employment benefits offered to former employees,
(D) non-cash asset impairments (including from the revaluation of
inventory (including any impact of changes to inventory valuation policy
methods including changes in capitalization of variances) or other inventory
adjustments) and (E) non-cash losses (minus any non-cash gains) with
respect to swaps, hedges and other similar agreements and derivative
instruments; provided that amounts under this clause (1)(f) shall exclude
any non-cash gain, loss or expense that is an accrual of a reserve for a cash
expenditure or payment to be made; plus
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the amount of “run rate” cost savings, operating expense reductions, other
operating improvements and initiatives and synergies reasonably
identifiable and factually supportable (in the good faith determination of the
Borrower Representative) attributable to permitted asset sales, mergers or
other business combinations, acquisitions, investments, dispositions or
divestitures, operating improvements, restructurings, cost-saving
initiatives, actions or events and certain other similar initiatives and
specified transactions (collectively, the “Subject Transactions”); provided
that such savings, reductions, improvements, initiatives and synergies are
(A) projected by the Borrower Representative in good faith to result from
actions taken, or with respect to which substantial steps are reasonably
expected to have been taken, within eighteen (18) months after, without
duplication, the end of the Test Period in which the applicable Subject
Transaction is initiated or a plan for realization thereof shall have been
established (which addbacks pursuant to this clause (A) shall not exceed
20.0% of Consolidated EBITDA for any applicable period of measurement
(determined after giving effect to all such addbacks pursuant to this clause
(A)), or (B) either (x) supported by a quality of earnings report provided to
the Administrative Agent (for distribution to the Lenders) and prepared by
financial advisors that are reasonably acceptable to the Required Lenders (it
being understood and agreed that any of the “Big Four” accounting firms
and Alvarez and Marsal are acceptable to the Required Lenders) or (y)
determined on a basis consistent with Article 11 of Regulation S-X
promulgated under the Exchange Act and as interpreted by the staff of the
Securities and Exchange Commission (or any successor agency), in each
case, which will be added to Consolidated EBITDA as so projected or
determined until fully realized and calculated on a Pro Forma Basis as
though such cost savings, operating expense reductions, other operating
improvements and initiatives and synergies had been realized on the first
day of such period and will be net of the amount of actual benefits or
amounts realized from such actions; plus

[reserved]; plus

cash receipts (or any netting arrangements resulting in reduced cash
expenditures) not representing Consolidated EBITDA or Consolidated Net
Income in any period to the extent non-cash gains relating to such income
were deducted in the calculation of Consolidated EBITDA pursuant to
clause (2) below for any previous period and not added back; plus

accrued or paid Permitted Investor Payments deducted in calculating
Consolidated Net Income (and not added back in such period to
Consolidated Net Income); plus

[reserved]; plus
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to the extent deducted in calculating Consolidated Net Income (and not
added back in such period to Consolidated Net Income), Restricted
Payments to employees or officers permitted pursuant to Section 6.06,
solely to the extent not made in lieu of, or as a substitution for, ordinary
salary or ordinary payroll payments; plus

pro forma adjustments to normalize the impact to Consolidated Net Income
resulting from or in connection with the adoption of Financial Accounting
Standards Codification No. 606;

decreased (without duplication) by:

(a)

(b)

(©)

non-cash gains increasing Consolidated Net Income of such Person for such
period, excluding any non-cash gains to the extent they represent the
reversal of an accrual or reserve for a potential cash item that reduced
Consolidated EBITDA in any prior period and any non-cash gains with
respect to cash actually received in a prior period so long as such cash did
not increase Consolidated EBITDA in such prior period; plus

any net income included in the consolidated financial statements due to the
application of FAS 160 (Accounting Standards Codification Topic 810);
plus

all cash payments made during such period to the extent made on account
of non-cash reserves and other non-cash charges added back to
Consolidated Net Income pursuant to clause (1)(f) above in a previous
period (it being understood that this clause (2)(c) shall not be utilized in
reversing any non-cash reserve or charge added to Consolidated Net
Income); and

increased or decreased (without duplication) by, as applicable, any adjustments
resulting for the application of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 460 or
any comparable regulation.

For purposes of determining compliance with any financial test or ratio hereunder (including any
incurrence test), (x) Consolidated EBITDA of any Person, property, business or asset acquired by
Ultimate Parent or any Restricted Subsidiary during such period shall be included in determining
Consolidated EBITDA of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries for any period,
(y) Consolidated EBITDA of any Restricted Subsidiary or any operating entity for which historical
financial statements are available that is Disposed of during such period shall be excluded in
determining Consolidated EBITDA of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries for any
period, and (z) Consolidated EBITDA shall be calculated on a Pro Forma Basis. Unless otherwise
provided herein, Consolidated EBITDA shall be calculated with respect to Ultimate Parent and the
Restricted Subsidiaries.

“Consolidated Interest Expense” means, with respect to any Person for any period,

without duplication, the sum of:
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consolidated interest expense of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for such
period, to the extent such expense was deducted (and not added back) in computing
Consolidated Net Income (including (a) amortization of original issue discount or
premium resulting from the issuance of Indebtedness at less than par, (b) all
commissions, discounts and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of
credit or bankers acceptances or any similar facilities or financing and hedging
agreements, (c) non-cash interest payments (but excluding any non-cash interest
expense attributable to the movement in the mark to market valuation of any Swap
Obligations or other derivative instruments pursuant to GAAP), (d) the interest
component of Capital Lease Obligations, (e) net payments, if any, pursuant to
interest rate Swap Obligations with respect to Indebtedness, and (f) to the extent
constituting interest expense in accordance with GAAP, consulting fees and
expenses, and excluding (t) penalties and interest relating to taxes, (u) accretion or
accrual of discounted liabilities other than Indebtedness, (v) any expense resulting
from the discounting of any Indebtedness in connection with the application of
purchase accounting in connection with any acquisition, (w) amortization of
deferred financing fees, debt issuance costs, commissions, fees and expenses, (X)
any expensing of bridge, commitment and other financing fees and (y) interest with
respect to Indebtedness of any parent of such Person appearing upon the balance
sheet of such Person solely by reason of push-down accounting under GAAP); plus

consolidated capitalized interest of such Person and its Restricted Subsidiaries for
such period, whether paid or accrued; plus

all cash dividends or other distributions paid (excluding items eliminated in
consolidation) on any series of preferred stock of any Subsidiary of such Person
during such period; plus

all cash dividends or other distributions paid (excluding items eliminated in
consolidation) on any series of Disqualified Equity Interests during this period;
minus

interest income for such period.

For purposes of this definition, interest on a Capital Lease Obligation shall be deemed to accrue at
an interest rate reasonably determined by such Person to be the rate of interest implicit in such
Capital Lease Obligation in accordance with GAAP.

“Consolidated Net Income” means, for any period, the net income (loss) of

Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries determined on a consolidated basis on the basis of
GAAP; provided, however, that there will not be included in such Consolidated Net Income:

(a)

any net income (loss) of any Person if such Person is not a Restricted Subsidiary,
except that any equity in the net income of any such Person for such period will be
included in such Consolidated Net Income up to the aggregate amount of cash or
Cash Equivalents actually distributed by such Person during such period to
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Ultimate Parent or any Restricted Subsidiary as a dividend or other distribution or
as a return on investment;

any net gain (or loss) (i) realized upon the sale or other disposition of any asset or
disposed operations of Ultimate Parent or any Restricted Subsidiaries (including
pursuant to any Sale Leaseback which is not sold or otherwise disposed of in the
ordinary course of business) or (ii) from discontinued operations;

the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principles;

any extraordinary, unusual or nonrecurring gain, loss, charge or expense, or any
charges, expenses or reserves in respect of any restructuring, integration,
redundancy or severance expense;

all deferred financing costs written off or amortized and premiums paid or other
expenses incurred directly in connection with any early extinguishment of
Indebtedness and any net gain (loss) from any write-off or forgiveness of
Indebtedness;

any unrealized gains or losses in respect of Swap Obligations or any ineffectiveness
recognized in earnings related to qualifying hedge transactions or the fair value of
changes therein recognized in earnings for derivatives that do not qualify as hedge
transactions, in each case, in respect of Swap Obligations;

unrealized foreign exchange losses resulting from the impact of foreign currency
changes on the valuation of assets or liabilities on the balance sheet of Ultimate
Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries;

any unrealized foreign currency transaction gains or losses in respect of obligations
of any Person denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of such
Person and any unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses relating to translation
of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies;

any unrealized foreign currency translation or transaction gains or losses in respect
of Indebtedness or other obligations of Ultimate Parent or any Restricted Subsidiary
owing to Ultimate Parent or any Restricted Subsidiary;

any net unrealized gains and losses resulting from Swap Obligations or embedded
derivatives that require similar accounting treatment and the application of
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 815 and related pronouncements;

any goodwill or other asset impairment charge or write-off or write-down;

any after-tax effect of income (loss) from the early retirement, extinguishment or
cancellation of Indebtedness or Swap Obligations or other derivative instruments;

[reserved];
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earn-out, non-compete and contingent consideration obligations incurred or
accrued in connection with any Permitted Acquisition or other Investment and paid
or accrued during the applicable period;

cash and non-cash charges, paid or accrued, and gains resulting from the application
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141R (Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 805) (including with respect to earn-outs incurred by Ultimate Parent or any
of the Restricted Subsidiaries);

(x) Transaction Costs and (y) any fees, costs, expenses or charges (including those
relating to rationalization, legal, tax, accounting, structuring and transaction
bonuses to employees, officers and directors) related to any actual, proposed or
contemplated: (i) issuance or registration (actual or proposed) of Equity Interests
or IPO (including any one-time expense relating to enhanced accounting functions
or other transactions costs associated with becoming a public company), (ii)
acquisition, merger, amalgamation or other Investment, (iii) disposition, (iv)
recapitalization, consolidation or restructuring, (v) [reserved], (vi) incurrence,
repayment or registration (actual or proposed) of Indebtedness (including a
refinancing thereof) or (vii) any amendment, waiver, consent or other modification
of any Indebtedness or any Equity Interests, in the case of each of clauses (i)
through (vii) of this clause (y), whether or not actually consummated;

charges, losses or expenses to the extent paid for, indemnified or insured or
reimbursed by a third party or so long as such amount is reasonably expected to be
received in a subsequent period and within 365 days from the date of the underlying
charges, losses or expenses; provided that (x) if such amount is not so reimbursed
within such 365-day period, such expenses or losses shall be subtracted in the
subsequent period and (y) if such amount is reimbursed or received in a subsequent
period, such amount shall not be included in calculating Consolidated Net Income
in such subsequent period;

charges, losses or expenses covered by business interruption insurance to the extent
proceeds from such business interruption insurance have been received in cash or,
so long as such amount is reasonably expected to be received in a subsequent period
and within 365 days from the date of the underlying charges, losses or expenses, to
the extent not already included in Consolidated Net Income; provided that (x) if
such amount is not so reimbursed within such 365-day period, such expenses or
losses shall be subtracted in the subsequent period and (y) if such amount is
reimbursed or received in a subsequent period, such amount shall not be included
in calculating Consolidated Net Income in such subsequent period;

any net loss included in the consolidated financial statements due to the application
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160 “Non-controlling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements” (“FAS 160”) (Accounting Standards
Codification Topic 810);
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() the amount of any minority interest expense consisting of Subsidiary income
attributable to minority equity interests of third parties in any non-wholly owned
Subsidiary and any minority income consisting of Subsidiary loss attributable to
minority equity interests of third parties in any non-wholly owned Subsidiary;

(u) non-cash charges, costs, expenses, accruals or reserves for any management equity
plan, supplemental executive retirement plan or stock option plan or other type of
compensatory plan for the benefit of officers, directors or employees and any non-
cash deemed finance charges in respect of any pension liabilities or other provisions
or on the re-valuation of any benefit plan obligation (and, without duplication, costs
or expenses incurred by Ultimate Parent or any Restricted Subsidiary pursuant to
any management equity plan, pension plan, stock option plan or distributor equity
plan or any other management or employee benefit plan or agreement or any stock
subscription or shareholder agreement, to the extent that such cost or expenses are
funded with cash proceeds contributed to the capital of Ultimate Parent and
contributed to a Borrower or net cash proceeds of an issuance of Qualified Equity
Interests of Ultimate Parent to the extent contributed to a Borrower); and

(v) non-cash effects of purchase accounting or similar adjustments required or
permitted by GAAP in connection with any Permitted Acquisitions or Investments
permitted under Section 6.04, including adjustments to inventory, property and
equipment, software and other intangible assets and deferred revenue in component
amounts required or permitted by GAAP and related authoritative pronouncements
(including the effects of such adjustments pushed down to Ultimate Parent and the
Restricted Subsidiaries), as a result of any consummated acquisition, or the
amortization or write-off of any amounts thereof (including any write-off of in
process research and development) (other than any purchase accounting
adjustments related to above-market leases); and

(w)  the impact of changes in foreign currency translation rates on the valuation of
deferred revenue on the balance sheet of Ultimate Parent and its Restricted
Subsidiaries.

In addition, to the extent not already included in the Consolidated Net Income of such Person and
its Restricted Subsidiaries, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, Consolidated
Net Income shall exclude, solely for the purpose of determining the Available Amount (and any
corresponding definition thereof), any net income (loss) of any Restricted Subsidiary (other than
the Loan Parties) if such Restricted Subsidiary is subject to restrictions, directly or indirectly, on
the payment of dividends or the making of distributions by such Restricted Subsidiary, directly or
indirectly, to any Loan Party by operation of the terms of such Restricted Subsidiary’s charter or
any agreement, instrument, judgment, decree, order, statute or governmental rule or regulation
applicable to such Restricted Subsidiary or its shareholders (other than (a) restrictions that have
been waived or otherwise released, (b) restrictions pursuant to this Agreement, or any agreement
evidencing Additional Debt or Indebtedness incurred as a Permitted Refinancing of any of the
foregoing and (c) restrictions arising pursuant to an agreement or instrument if the encumbrances
and restrictions contained in any such agreement or instrument taken as a whole are not materially
less favorable to the Secured Parties than the encumbrances and restrictions contained in the Loan
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Documents (as determined by the Borrower Representative in good faith)), except that Ultimate
Parent’s equity in the net income of any such Restricted Subsidiary for such period will be included
in such Consolidated Net Income up to the aggregate amount of cash or Cash Equivalents actually
distributed or that could have been distributed by such Restricted Subsidiary during such period to
the Borrowers or another Restricted Subsidiary as a dividend or other distribution (subject, in the
case of a dividend to another Restricted Subsidiary, to the limitation contained in this clause).

“Consolidated Total Assets” means, as of any date of determination, the amount
that would, in conformity with GAAP, be set forth opposite the caption “total assets” (or any like
caption) on the most recent consolidated balance sheet of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted
Subsidiaries as of the Applicable Date of Determination.

“Consolidated Working Capital” means, at any date, the excess (which may be a
negative number) of (a) the sum of all amounts (other than cash and Cash Equivalents) that would,
in conformity with GAAP, be set forth opposite the caption “total current assets” (or any like
caption) on a consolidated balance sheet of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries at such
date excluding the current portion of current and deferred income taxes, deferred financing fees
and assets held for sale over (b) the sum of all amounts that would, in conformity with GAAP, be
set forth opposite the caption “total current liabilities” (or any like caption) on a consolidated
balance sheet of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries on such date, including deferred
revenue but excluding, without duplication, (i) the current portion of any long term debt and all
revolving loans, (ii) all Indebtedness consisting of Loans and Capital Lease Obligations to the
extent otherwise included therein, (iii) the current portion of interest payable and (iv) the current
portion of current and deferred income taxes; provided that Consolidated Working Capital shall
be calculated without giving effect to (v) the depreciation of the Dollar relative to other foreign
currencies, (w) purchase accounting, (x) any assets or liabilities acquired, assumed, sold or
transferred in any Acquisition or Disposition pursuant to Section 6.05(j) or Section 6.05(y), (y) as
a result of the reclassification of items from short-term to long-term and vice versa or (z) changes
to Consolidated Working Capital resulting from non-cash charges and credits to consolidated
current assets and consolidated current liabilities (including derivatives and deferred income tax).

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to
exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. The terms “Controlling” and “Controlled” have
meanings correlative thereto.

“Controlled Investment Affiliate” means, as to any Person, any other Person which
directly or indirectly is in Control of, is Controlled by, or is under common Control with, such
Person and is organized by such Person (or any person Controlling such person) primarily for
making equity or debt investments, directly or indirectly, in Ultimate Parent or other portfolio
companies of such Person.

“Credit Agreement Refinanced Debt” has the meaning assigned to such term in the
definition of “Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness.”

“Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness” means (a) Permitted First Priority
Replacement Debt, (b) Permitted Second Priority Replacement Debt, (c) Permitted Unsecured
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Replacement Debt, and/or (d) Other Term Loans or Other Revolving Commitments (including the
corresponding Other Revolving Loans incurred pursuant to such Other Revolving Commitments)
obtained pursuant to a Refinancing Amendment, in each case, issued, incurred or obtained (in each
case including by means of the extension or renewal of existing Indebtedness) in exchange for, or
to extend, renew, replace, restructure or refinance, in whole or in part, any or all Classes of then
existing Term Loans, Revolving Loans or Revolving Commitments (in each case including any
successive Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness) (the “Credit Agreement Refinanced
Debt”); provided that (u) subject to Section 1.06(b), such Credit Agreement Refinancing
Indebtedness (including, if such Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness includes any Other
Revolving Commitments, such Other Revolving Commitments) is in an original aggregate
principal amount not greater than the aggregate principal amount of the Credit Agreement
Refinanced Debt (including, in the case of Credit Agreement Refinanced Debt consisting, in whole
or in part, of Revolving Commitments or Other Revolving Commitments, the amount thereof) plus
premiums and accrued and unpaid interest, fees and expenses in respect thereof plus other
reasonable costs, fees and expenses (including reasonable upfront fees and original issue discount)
incurred in connection with such Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness, (v) such Credit
Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness (A) does not mature prior to the maturity date of and, except
in the case of Other Revolving Commitments, has a Weighted Average Life to Maturity equal to
or longer than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity at such time of the corresponding Class of
Credit Agreement Refinanced Debt (without giving effect to nominal amortization for periods
where amortization has been eliminated as a result of a prepayment of the applicable Credit
Agreement Refinanced Debt); and (B) in the case of any Refinancing Notes, shall not be subject
to any amortization prior to final maturity or mandatory prepayment provisions (other than related
to customary asset sale, similar events and change of control offers) that would result in mandatory
prepayment of such notes being refinanced (it being understood that the Borrowers shall be
permitted to prepay or offer to purchase any senior secured Credit Agreement Refinancing
Indebtedness in the form of notes secured on a pari passu basis), (w) such Credit Agreement
Refinancing Indebtedness shall not be incurred or Guaranteed by any Person that did not incur or
Guarantee such Credit Agreement Refinanced Debt, (x) such Credit Agreement Refinanced Debt
shall be repaid, defeased or satisfied and discharged, and all accrued and unpaid interest, fees then
due and premiums (if any) in connection therewith shall be paid substantially contemporaneously
with the incurrence of the Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness and (y) if such Credit
Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness is Permitted First Priority Replacement Debt, Permitted
Second Priority Replacement Debt and/or Permitted Unsecured Replacement Debt, in each case,
that replaces or refinances any Credit Facility or any Incremental Credit Facility in its entirety, the
terms and conditions applicable thereto (other than, for the avoidance of doubt pricing and optional
repayment or redemption terms), shall either, at the option of the Borrower Representative, (I) in
the case of Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness that is Permitted First Priority
Replacement Debt, reflect market terms and conditions at the time of incurrence or effectiveness
(as determined by the Borrower Representative in good faith) or (II) be no more favorable in any
material respect to the lenders providing such Indebtedness than those under the Loan Documents
(as reasonably determined by the Borrower Representative and the Administrative Agent (acting
at the direction of the Required Lenders) in good faith) (other than, for the avoidance of doubt,
covenants or other provisions applicable only after the Latest Maturity Date at the time such Credit
Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness is incurred or issued), unless such terms and conditions are
also added for the benefit of the Lenders under the Loan Documents. For the avoidance of doubt,
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(I) Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness consisting of Other Term Loans or Other
Revolving Commitments (including the corresponding Other Revolving Loans incurred pursuant
to such Other Revolving Commitments) shall be subject to the requirements set forth in Section
2.21, and (I) to the extent that such Credit Agreement Refinanced Debt consists, in whole or in
part, of (A) Revolving Commitments or Other Revolving Commitments, such Revolving
Commitments or Other Revolving Commitments or (B) Revolving Loans or Other Revolving
Loans, the corresponding Revolving Commitments or Other Revolving Commitments, in each
case, shall be terminated, and all accrued fees in connection therewith shall be paid substantially
contemporaneously with the incurrence of the Credit Agreement Refinancing Indebtedness.

“Credit Event” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.02.
“Credit Facility” means the Term Loans and the Revolving Credit Facility.

“Cumulative CNI Amount” means, as of any date of determination, an amount
equal to 50.0% of the aggregate amount of Consolidated Net Income (solely to the extent
constituting income (rather than loss)) of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries accrued
on a cumulative basis during the period beginning on the first day of the fiscal quarter of Ultimate
Parent after which the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date occurrs until the last day of the fiscal
quarter of Ultimate Parent immediately preceding such date of determination, minus an amount
equal to 100.0% of the aggregate amount, if any, of Consolidated Net Income (solely to the extent
constituting loss (rather than income)) of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries on a
cumulative basis during such period.

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day (a “SOFR Rate Day”), a rate per annum
equal to the greater of (a) SOFR for the day (such day the “SOFR Determination Date”) that is
five (5) Business Days (or such other period as determined by the Borrower and the Administrative
Agent based on then prevailing market conventions) prior to (i) if such SOFR Rate Day is a
Business Day, such SOFR Rate Day or (i1) if such SOFR Rate Day is not a Business Day, the
Business Day immediately preceding such SOFR Rate Day, and (b) the Applicable Term SOFR
Floor. If by 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the second Business Day immediately following
any SOFR Determination Date, the SOFR in respect of such SOFR Determination Date has not
been published on the Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s Website and a Replacement Event
with respect to the Daily Simple SOFR has not occurred, then the SOFR for such SOFR
Determination Date will be the SOFR as published in respect of the first preceding Business Day
for which such SOFR was published on the Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s Website;
provided that any SOFR determined pursuant to this sentence shall be utilized for purposes of
calculation of Daily Simple SOFR for no more than five consecutive Business Days.

“Daily SOFR Loan” means any Loan bearing interest at a rate determined by
reference to Daily Simple SOFR and made pursuant to clause (a)(ii) of the definition of “Term
SOFR” or Section 2.14 (Alternate Rate of Interest).

“Debtor Relief Laws” means the Bankruptcy Code, Canadian Insolvency Law, and
all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors,
moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, examinership, insolvency, reorganization or similar
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debtor relief laws of the United States, Canada or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time
in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

“Declined Proceeds” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.11(g).

“Default” means any event or condition specified in Article VII that after notice,
lapse of applicable grace periods or both would, unless cured or waived hereunder, constitute an
Event of Default; provided that any Default that results solely from the taking of an action that
would have been permitted but for the continuation of a previous Default will be deemed to be
cured if such previous Default is cured prior to becoming an Event of Default.

“Defaulting Lender” means, subject to Section 2.22(b), any Lender that (a) has
failed to (i) fund all or any portion of its Loans within two Business Days of the date such Loans
were required to be funded hereunder unless such Lender notifies the Administrative Agent and
the Borrower Representative in writing that such failure is the result of one or more conditions
precedent to funding (each of which conditions precedent, together with any applicable default,
shall be specifically identified in such writing) not being satisfied, or (ii) pay to the Administrative
Agent, or any other Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder within two
Business Days of the date when due, (b) has notified the Borrower Representative or the
Administrative Agent in writing that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations
hereunder, or has made a public statement to that effect, (c) has failed, within three Business Days
after written request by the Administrative Agent or the Borrower Representative, to confirm in
writing to the Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative that it will comply with its
prospective funding obligations hereunder (provided that such Lender shall cease to be a
Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause (c) upon receipt of such written confirmation by the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative), or (d) has, or has a direct or indirect
parent company that has, (i) become the subject of a proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code or
Canadian Insolvency Law, (ii) had appointed for it a receiver, interim receiver, receiver-manager,
custodian, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person
charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or assets (other than via an Undisclosed
Administration), including the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Canadian Deposit
Insurance Corporation or any other state, provincial, territorial or federal regulatory authority
acting in such a capacity, or (iii) become the subject of a Bail-In Action; provided that a Lender
shall not be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any equity
interest in that Lender or any direct or indirect parent company thereof by a Governmental
Authority so long as such ownership interest does not result in or provide such Lender with
immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the United States or from the enforcement of
judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permit such Lender (or such Governmental
Authority or instrumentality) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements
made with such Lender. Any determination made in good faith by the Administrative Agent that
a Lender is a Defaulting Lender under clauses (a) through (d) above shall be conclusive and
binding absent manifest error, and such Lender shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender (subject
to Section 2.22(b)) upon delivery of written notice of such determination to the Borrower
Representative and each Lender.

“Designated Jurisdiction” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.20(a)
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“Designated Non-Cash Consideration” means the fair market value (as determined
in good faith by the Borrower Representative) of non-cash consideration received by Ultimate
Parent or one of the Restricted Subsidiaries in connection with a Disposition that is so designated
as Designated Non-Cash Consideration pursuant to an officer’s certificate, setting forth the basis
of such valuation, less the amount of cash or Cash Equivalents received in connection with a
subsequent payment, redemption, retirement, sale or other disposition of such Designated Non-
Cash Consideration. A particular item of Designated Non-Cash Consideration will no longer be
considered to be outstanding when and to the extent it has been paid, redeemed or otherwise retired
or sold or otherwise disposed of in compliance with Section 6.05.

“Disclosed Matters” means the actions, suits and proceedings and the
environmental matters disclosed on Schedule 3.06.

“Disposition” or “Dispose” means the sale, transfer, license, lease (as lessor) or
other disposition (including any Sale Leaseback transaction) of any property by any Person,
including any sale, assignment, transfer or other disposal, with or without recourse, of any Equity
Interests owned by such Person, or any notes or accounts receivable or any rights and claims
associated therewith; provided that “Disposition” and “Dispose” shall be deemed not to include
any issuance or sale by such Person of its Equity Interests or other securities to another Person,
except for purposes of Section 2.11(c) and the definition of “Prepayment Event”, where the term
“Disposition” and “Dispose” shall include any issuance or sale by a Restricted Subsidiary of
Equity Interests.

“Disqualified Equity Interests” means Equity Interests that by their terms (or by the
terms of any security into which they are convertible or for which they are exchangeable) (a)
require the payment of any cash dividends (other than dividends payable solely in shares of
Qualified Equity Interests), (b) mature or are mandatorily redeemable or subject to mandatory
repurchase or redemption or repurchase at the option of the holders thereof, in whole or in part and
whether upon the occurrence of any event, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation, on a fixed date
or otherwise, prior to the date that is 91 days after the then Latest Maturity Date at such time of
then outstanding Loans (other than (i) upon payment in full of the Obligations (other than
contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim has been made), and termination of the
Commitments or (ii) upon a “change in control”, asset sale, [PO or similar event) or (c) are
convertible or exchangeable, automatically or at the option of any holder thereof, into any
Indebtedness other than Indebtedness otherwise permitted under Section 6.01; provided that if
such Equity Interests are issued pursuant to a plan for the benefit of employees of any Parent
Entity, any Holding Company, any Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary or by any such plan to
such employees, such Equity Interests shall not constitute Disqualified Equity Interests solely
because they may be required to be repurchased by such entity in order to satisfy applicable
statutory or regulatory obligations or as a result of such employee’s termination, death or disability.

“Division” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 1.15.

“Dollar Equivalent” means, on any date of determination, (a) with respect to any
amount in Dollars, such amount, and (b) with respect to any amount in an Alternative Currency,
the equivalent in Dollars of such amount, determined by using the rate of exchange for the purchase
of Dollars with respect to such Alternative Currency in the London foreign exchange market at or
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about 11:00 a.m. London time (or New York time, as applicable) on a particular day as displayed
by ICE Data Services as the “ask price”, or as displayed on such other information service which
publishes that rate of exchange from time to time in place of ICE Data Services (or if such service
ceases to be available, the equivalent of such amount in Dollars as determined by the
Administrative Agent using any method of determination it deems appropriate in its sole
discretion) and (c) if such amount is denominated in any other currency, the equivalent of such
amount in Dollars as determined by the Administrative Agent using any method of determination
it deems appropriate in its sole discretion.

“Dollars” or “$” refers to the lawful money of the United States.

“Domestic Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is incorporated or organized
under the laws of the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia.

“Dutch Auction” means an auction (an “Auction”) conducted by Ultimate Parent
or one or more of its Restricted Subsidiaries (in such capacity, as applicable, the “Auction Party”)
in their sole discretion in order to purchase Term Loans in accordance with the following
procedures:

(A) Notice Procedures. In connection with an Auction, the Auction
Party will provide notification to the auction manager (for distribution to the Term
Lenders of the relevant Class of Term Loans that are the subject of the Auction (the
“Eligible Auction Lenders”) and the Administrative Agent) of the Class and
principal amount of Term Loans that will be the subject of the Auction (an “Auction
Notice”). Each Auction Notice shall contain (i) the Class of Term Loans that will
be the subject of the Auction, (ii) the total cash value of the bid (the “Auction
Amount”), in a minimum amount of $1,000,000 with minimum increments of
$500,000, (iii) the discount to par, which shall be a range (the “Discount Range”)
of percentages of the par principal amount of the Term Loans (i.e., a 5% to 10%
Discount Range would represent $50,000 to $100,000 per $1,000,000 principal
amount of Term Loans, with a 10% discount being deemed a “higher” discount
than 5% for purposes of an Auction) at issue that represents the discounts applied
to calculate the range of purchase prices that could be paid in the Auction; provided
that the Discount Range may, at the option of the Auction Party, be a single
percentage, (iv) the date on which the Auction will conclude, on which date Return
Bids will be due at the time provided in the Auction Notice (such time, the “Auction
Expiration Time”), as such date and time may be extended upon notice by the
Auction Party to the auction manager before any prior Auction Expiration Time,
and (v) the identity of the auction manager, and shall indicate if such auction
manager is an Affiliate of Ultimate Parent. Each offer to purchase Term Loans in
an Auction shall be offered on a pro rata basis to all the Eligible Auction Lenders.

(B)  Reply Procedures. In connection with any Auction, each Eligible
Auction Lender may, in its sole discretion, participate in such Auction and, if it
elects to do so (any such participating Eligible Auction Lender, a “Participating
Lender”), shall provide, prior to the Auction Expiration Time, the auction manager
with a notice of participation (the “Return Bid”) which shall be in a form and
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substance prepared by the Borrower Representative and shall specify (i) a discount
to par that must be expressed as a percentage of par principal amount of Term Loans
of the relevant Class expressed in percentages (the “Reply Discount™), which must
be within the Discount Range, and (ii) a principal amount of Term Loans of the
relevant Class, which must be in increments of $500,000, that such Eligible Auction
Lender is willing to offer for sale at its Reply Discount (the “Reply Amount”). An
Eligible Auction Lender may avoid the minimum increment amount condition
solely when submitting a Reply Amount equal to such Eligible Auction Lender’s
entire remaining amount of such Term Loans. Eligible Auction Lenders may only
submit one Return Bid per Auction but each Return Bid may contain up to three
bids, only one of which can result in a Qualifying Bid (as defined below). In
addition to the Return Bid, each Participating Lender must execute and deliver, to
be irrevocable during the pendency of the Auction and held in escrow by the auction
manager, an assignment agreement pursuant to which such Participating Lender
shall make the representations and agreements substantially consistent with the
terms of Section 2.11(i)(C). Any Eligible Auction Lender that fails to submit a
Return Bid at or prior to the Auction Expiration Time shall be deemed to have
declined to participate in the Auction.

(C)  Acceptance Procedures. Based on the Reply Discounts and Reply
Amounts received by the auction manager, the auction manager, with the consent
of the Auction Party, will, within ten (10) Business Days of the Auction Notice (or
such other time agreed by the Borrower Representative), determine the applicable
discount (the “Applicable Discount”) for the Auction, which will be the highest
Reply Discount at which the Auction Party can complete the Auction at the Auction
Amount; provided that, in the event that the Reply Amounts are insufficient to
allow the Auction Party to complete a purchase of the entire Auction Amount, the
Auction Party shall either, at its election, (i) withdraw the Auction or (ii) complete
the Auction as set forth below. Unless withdrawn, the Auction Party shall notify
the Participating Lenders of the Applicable Discount no later than one Business
Day after it is determined (the “Applicable Discount Notice”). The Auction Party
shall, within three Business Days of the Applicable Discount Notice, purchase
Term Loans from each Participating Lender with a Reply Discount that is equal to
or higher than the Applicable Discount (“Qualifying Bids™) at a discount to par
equal to the Reply Discount of such Participating Lender, with the applicable Term
Loans of the Participating Lender(s) with the highest Reply Discount being
purchased first and then in descending order from such highest Reply Discount to
and including the applicable Term Loans of the Participating Lenders with a Reply
Discount equal to the Applicable Discount (the “Applicable Order of Purchase”);
provided that if the aggregate proceeds required to purchase all Term Loans of the
relevant Class subject to Qualifying Bids would exceed the Auction Amount for
such Auction, the Auction Party shall purchase such Term Loans of the
Participating Lenders in the Applicable Order of Purchase, but with the Term Loans
of Participating Lenders with Reply Discounts equal to the Applicable Discount
being purchased pro rata until the Auction Amount has been so expended on such
purchases. If a Participating Lender has submitted a Return Bid containing multiple
bids at different Reply Discounts, only the bid with the highest Reply Discount that
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is equal to or more than the Applicable Discount will be deemed the Qualifying Bid
of such Participating Lender. In no event shall any purchase of Term Loans in an
Auction be made at a Reply Discount lower than the Applicable Discount for such
Auction.

(D)  Additional Procedures. Once initiated by an Auction Notice, the
Auction Party may withdraw or modify an Auction only prior to the delivery of the
Applicable Discount Notice (and if any Auction is withdrawn or modified, notice
thereof shall be delivered to the Administrative Agent and the Eligible Auction
Lenders no later than the first Business Day after such withdrawal). Furthermore,
in connection with any Auction, upon submission by a Participating Lender of the
relevant Class of a Qualifying Bid, such Term Lender will be obligated to sell the
entirety or its allocable portion of the Reply Amount, as the case may be, at the
Reply Discount.

(E)  Any failure by such Loan Party or such Subsidiary to make any
prepayment to a Lender pursuant to this definition shall not constitute a Default or
Event of Default under Section 7.01 or otherwise.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm
established in any EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution
Authority, (b) any entity established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution
described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any financial institution established in an EEA
Member Country which is a subsidiary of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this
definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with its parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union,
Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any
person entrusted with public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any
delegee) having responsibility for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

“Electing Guarantors” means any Excluded Subsidiary that, at the option, and in
the sole discretion, of the Borrower Representative has been designated a Loan Party and is
reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders.

“Eligible Assignee” means (i) any Lender, any Affiliate of any Lender and any
Approved Fund of any Lender; (ii) (A) any commercial bank organized under the laws of the
United States or any state thereof, (B) any savings and loan association or savings bank organized
under the laws of the United States or any state thereof, (C) any commercial bank organized under
the laws of any other country or a political subdivision thereof; provided that (1) such bank is
acting through a branch or agency located in the United States or (2) such bank is organized under
the laws of a country that is a member of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and
Development or a political subdivision of such country, and (D) any other entity (other than a
natural person) that is an “accredited investor” (as defined in Regulation D under the Securities
Act) that extends credit or buys loans as one of its businesses including insurance companies,
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investment or mutual funds and lease financing companies; (iii) subject to Section 9.04, any
Affiliated Lender and any Person who would be an Affiliated Lender upon completion of the
relevant assignment; and (iv) any Holding Company, any Borrower and any Restricted Subsidiary,
subject to Section 9.04 or Section 2.11(i) (so long as the Loans and Commitments obtained by any
Holding Company, any Borrower or any other Restricted Subsidiary are immediately cancelled);
provided that, in any event, Eligible Assignees shall not include (x) any natural person, (y)
[reserved], or (z) any Defaulting Lender or any Affiliate thereof.

“EMU Legislation” means the legislative measures of the European Council for the
introduction of, changeover to or operation of a single or unified European currency.

“Environmental Laws” means all applicable treaties, federal, state, provincial,
territorial or local laws (including common law), rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders,
decrees, judgments, injunctions, notices or binding agreements issued, promulgated or entered into
by or with any Governmental Authority, relating to the protection of the environment, the
preservation or reclamation of natural resources, the generation, management, Release or
threatened Release of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Material or to workplace health and safety
matters (to the extent related to exposure to Hazardous Materials).

“Environmental Liability” means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including
any liability for damages, costs of medical monitoring, costs of environmental remediation or
restoration, administrative oversight costs, consultants’ fees, fines, penalties or indemnities),
resulting from or based upon (a) any actual or alleged violation of any Environmental Law or
Environmental Permit, (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or
disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the Release or
threatened Release of any Hazardous Materials or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual
arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

“Environmental Permits” means any and all permits, licenses, approvals,
registrations, notifications, exemptions and other authorizations required under any Environmental
Law.

“Equity Interests” means shares of capital stock or other share capital, partnership
interests, membership interests (including shares) in a limited liability or exempted company,
beneficial interests in a trust or other equity ownership interests in a Person, and any option,
warrant or other right entitling the holder thereof to purchase or otherwise acquire any such equity
interest.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended from time to time.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that,
together with any Holding Company or Borrowers, is treated as a single employer under Section
414(b) or (c) of the Code or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the
Code, is treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.

“ERISA Event” means (a) any “reportable event,” as defined in Section 4043 of
ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which
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the 30-day notice period is waived), (b) the requirements of Section 4043(b) of ERISA apply with
respect to a contributing sponsor, as defined in Section 4001(a)(13) of ERISA, of a Plan, and an
event described in paragraph (9), (10), (11), (12) or (13) of Section 4043(c) of ERISA is reasonably
expected to occur with respect to such Plan, (c) a determination that any Plan is or is reasonably
expected to be in “at risk™ status (within the meaning of Section 430 of the Code or Section 303
of ERISA), (d) the cessation of operations at a facility of any Holding Company or any ERISA
Affiliate in the circumstances described in Section 4062(e) of ERISA, (e) conditions contained in
Section 303(k)(1)(A) of ERISA for imposition of a lien shall have been met with respect to any
Plan, (f) with respect to any Plan, a failure to satisfy the minimum funding standard under Section
412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, whether or not waived, (g) the filing pursuant to Section
412(c) of the Code or Section 302(c) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum
funding standard with respect to any Plan, (h) the incurrence by any Holding Company or any of
their ERISA Affiliates of any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of
any Plan, (i) the receipt by any Holding Company or any ERISA Affiliate from the PBGC or a
plan administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint
a trustee to administer any Plan, (j) the incurrence by any Holding Company or any of their
respective ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal
from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan, (k) the receipt by any Holding Company or any ERISA
Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from any Holding Company or
any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a
determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, “insolvent” or in “endangered”
or “critical” status within the meaning of Section 432 of the Code or Section 304 of ERISA, (1) the
occurrence of a non-exempt “prohibited transaction” with respect to which any Holding Company
or any of the Subsidiaries is a “disqualified person” (within the meaning of Section 4975 of the
Code) or a “party in interest” (within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA) or with respect to
which any Holding Company or any such Subsidiary could otherwise be liable, (m) any Foreign
Benefit Event or (n) any other event or condition with respect to a Plan or Multiemployer Plan that
could result in liability of any Holding Company or any Subsidiary.

“Escrowed Proceeds” means the proceeds from the offering of any debt securities
or other Indebtedness paid into an escrow account with an independent escrow agent on the date
of the applicable offering or incurrence pursuant to escrow arrangements that permit the release of
amounts on deposit in such escrow account upon satisfaction of certain conditions or the
occurrence of certain events. The term “Escrowed Proceeds” includes any interest earned on the
amounts held in escrow.

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule
published by the Loan Market Association (or any successor person), as in effect from time to
time.

“Euro” means the lawful currency of the Participating Member States introduced
in accordance with the EMU Legislation.

“Eurocurrency”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to
whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is bearing interest at a rate
determined by reference to the Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate.
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“Eurocurrency Rate” means, subject in all respects to Section 2.14(b), for any
Interest Period with respect to any Loan (a) denominated in any LIBOR Quoted Currency, the
LIBO Screen Rate as of the Applicable Time on the date that is two (2) Business Days prior to the
commencement of such Interest Period (b) [reserved] and (¢) denominated in any other non-
LIBOR Quoted Currency, the rate per annum as reasonably designated by the Administrative
Agent with respect to such Alternative Currency at the time such Alternative Currency is approved
by the Administrative Agent and the applicable Lenders; provided that, if a LIBO Screen Rate
shall not be available at the applicable time for the applicable Interest Period (an “Impacted Interest
Period”), then the Eurocurrency Rate for such currency and Interest Period shall be the Interpolated
Rate; provided, further, that, if any Eurocurrency Rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be
deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage” means, for any day during any Interest Period,
the reserve percentage (expressed as a decimal, carried out to five decimal places) in effect on such
day, whether or not applicable to any Lender, under regulations issued from time to time by the
Board for determining the maximum reserve requirement (including any emergency, supplemental
or other marginal reserve requirement) with respect to the Eurocurrency funding (currently
referred to as “Eurocurrency liabilities”). The Adjusted Eurocurrency Rate for each outstanding
Eurocurrency Borrowing shall be adjusted automatically as of the effective date of any change in
the Eurocurrency Reserve Percentage.

“Event of Default” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 7.01.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Exchange Rate” means, on any day, for purposes of determining the Dollar
Equivalent of any currency, the rate at which such other currency may be exchanged into Dollars
at the time of determination as displayed by ICE Data Services as the “ask price” or as displayed
on such other information service which publishes that rate from time to time in place of ICE Data
Services (or another commercially available source providing quotations of such rate as designated
by the Administrative Agent from time to time) for such currency (or to the extent applicable, the
rate at which Dollars may be exchanged into such other currency). In the event that such rate does
not appear on such applicable ICE Data Services screen (or another commercially available source
providing quotations of such rate as designated by the Administrative Agent from time to time),
the Exchange Rate shall be determined by reference to such other publicly available service for
displaying exchange rates as may be agreed upon by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower
Representative, or, in the absence of such an agreement, such Exchange Rate shall instead be the
arithmetic average of the spot rates of exchange of the Administrative Agent in the market where
its foreign currency exchange operations in respect of such currency are then being conducted, at
or about such time as the Administrative Agent shall elect after determining that such rates shall
be the basis for determining the Exchange Rate, on such date for the purchase of Dollars for
delivery two Business Days later; provided that if at the time of any such determination, for any
reason, no such spot rate is being quoted, the Administrative Agent may use any reasonable method
it deems appropriate to determine such rate, and such determination shall be conclusive absent
manifest error.
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“Excluded Contribution” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of
“Available Excluded Contribution Amount”.

“Excluded Property” means: (i) any lease, lease in respect of a Capital Lease
Obligation, license, contract, permit, instrument, security or franchise agreement to which such
Loan Party is a party, or any property subject to a purchase money security interest, or any property
governed by any such lease, lease in respect of a Capital Lease Obligation to which such Loan
Party is a party and any of its rights or interest thereunder, to the extent, but only to the extent, that
a grant of a security interest therein in favor of the Collateral Agent would, under the terms of such
lease, lease in respect of a Capital Lease Obligation, license, contract, permit, instrument, security
or franchise agreement or purchase money arrangement, be prohibited by or result in a violation
of law, rule or regulation or a breach of the terms or a condition of, or constitute a default or
forfeiture under, or create a right of termination in favor of, or require a consent (other than the
consent of any Loan Party and any such consent which has been obtained (it being understood and
agreed that no Loan Party or Restricted Subsidiary shall be required to seek any such consent)) of,
any other party to, such lease, lease in respect of a Capital Lease Obligation, license, contract,
permit, instrument, security or franchise agreement or purchase money arrangement, in each case,
solely to the extent such prohibition was not created in contemplation of this Agreement or the
other Loan Documents (except in the case of a lease in respect of a Capital Lease Obligation or
property subject to a Lien permitted pursuant to Sections 6.02(c) (to the extent liens are of the type
described in clause (e) of Section 6.02), (d) or (e), other than to the extent that any such law, rule,
regulation, term, prohibition, restriction or condition would be rendered ineffective pursuant to
Sections 9-406, 9-407, 9-408 or 9-409 of the UCC (or any successor provision or provisions) of
any relevant jurisdiction, the PPSA or any other applicable law (including the Bankruptcy Code
and Canadian Insolvency Law) or principles of equity, and other than receivables and proceeds of
any of the foregoing the assignment of which is expressly deemed effective under the UCC, the
PPSA or other applicable law notwithstanding such law, rule, regulation, term prohibition or
condition); provided that immediately upon the ineffectiveness, lapse or termination of any such
law, rule, regulation, term, prohibition, restriction or condition the Collateral shall include, and
such Person shall be deemed to have granted a security interest in, all such rights and interests as
if such law, rule, regulation, term, prohibition, restriction or condition had never been in effect;
(1) [reserved]; (ii1) any Equity Interests or assets of a Person to the extent that, and for so long as
(x) such Equity Interests constitute less than 100% of all Equity Interests of such Person, and the
Person or Persons holding the remainder of such Equity Interests are not Ultimate Parent or
Subsidiaries of Ultimate Parent (other than any such Person that becomes a non-wholly owned
Subsidiary after the Closing Date as a result of the issuance of directors’ qualifying shares) and (y)
the granting of a security interest in such Equity Interests in favor of the Collateral Agent is not
permitted by the terms of such issuing Person’s organizational or joint venture documents or
otherwise requires the consent (other than the consent of any Loan Party and any such consent
which has been obtained (it being understood and agreed that no Loan Party or Restricted
Subsidiary shall be required to seek any such consent)) of a Person or Persons who are not Ultimate
Parent or Subsidiaries of Ultimate Parent (other than to the extent that any such restriction or
requirement would be rendered ineffective pursuant to Sections 9-406, 9-407, 9-408 or 9-409 of
the UCC (or any successor provision or provisions) of any relevant jurisdiction, the PPSA or any
other applicable law (including the Bankruptcy Code and Canadian Insolvency Law)); (iv) any
Equity Interests in and assets of an an Immaterial Subsidiary (except to the extent a security interest
therein can be perfected by the filing of UCC or PPSA financing statements) or a Captive Insurance
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Subsidiary or other special purpose entity; (v) (A) any motor vehicles and other assets subject to
certificates of title (except to the extent a security interest therein can be perfected by the filing of
UCC or PPSA financing statements), (B) letter of credit rights (other than those constituting
supporting obligations of other Collateral) with a value of less than $2,000,000 individually
(except to the extent a security interest therein can be perfected by the filing of UCC or PPSA
financing statements), and (C) Commercial Tort Claims (as defined in the UCC) with a claim value
of less than $2,000,000 individually; (vi) any “intent-to-use” trademark or service mark
applications for which a statement of use or an amendment to allege use has not been filed with
the United States Patent and Trademark Office (but only until such statement or amendment is
filed with the United States Patent and Trademark Office), and solely to the extent, if any, that,
and solely during the period, if any, in which, the grant of a security interest therein would impair
the validity or enforceability of, or void or cause the abandonment or lapse of, such application or
any registration that issues from such intent-to-use application under applicable U.S. law;
(vii) [reserved]; (viii) those assets as to which the Required Lenders and the Borrower
Representative reasonably determine, in writing, that the cost of obtaining a security interest in or
perfection thereof are excessive in relation to the benefit to the Lenders of the security to be
afforded thereby (other than as a result of the provisions of section 18, Part XIII or section 212.3
of the Canadian Tax Act (or any successor provisions thereof)); (ix) any real property leasehold
interests (including any requirement to obtain any landlord waivers, estoppels and consents); (x)
those assets to the extent that a security interest in or perfection thereof would result in Adverse
Tax Consequences (other than as a result of the provisions of (x) section 18, Part XIII or section
212.3 of the Canadian Tax Act (or any successor provisions thereof) or (y) Sections 951 or 956 of
the Code) as reasonably determined by the Borrower Representative; (x1) those assets with respect
to which the granting of security interests in such assets would be prohibited by any contract
permitted under the terms of this Agreement (not entered into in contemplation thereof and solely
with respect to assets that are subject to such contract), applicable law or regulation (other than to
the extent that any such law, rule, regulation, term, prohibition or condition would be rendered
ineffective pursuant to Sections 9-406, 9-407, 9-408 or 9-409 of the UCC (or any successor
provision or provisions) of any relevant jurisdiction, the PPSA or any other applicable law
(including the Bankruptcy Code and Canadian Insolvency Law) or principles of equity, and other
than receivables and Proceeds of any of the foregoing the assignment of which is expressly deemed
effective under the UCC, PPSA or other applicable law notwithstanding such law, rule, regulation,
term, prohibition or condition), or would require governmental or third-party (other than any Loan
Party) consent, approval, license or authorization or create a right of termination in favor of any
Person (other than any Loan Party) party to any such contract (after giving effect to the applicable
anti-assignment provisions of the UCC, PPSA or other applicable law other than Proceeds and
receivables thereof, the assignment of which is expressly deemed effective under the UCC, PPSA
or other applicable law notwithstanding such prohibition); provided that immediately upon
obtaining the consent of such Person or of the ineffectiveness, lapse or termination of any such
law, rule, regulation, term, prohibition, condition or provision the Collateral shall include, and
such Person shall be deemed to have granted a security interest in, all such rights and interests as
if such law, rule, regulation, term, prohibition, condition or provision had never been in effect;
provided, further, that the exclusions referred to in this clause (xi) shall not include any Proceeds
of any such assets except to the extent such Proceeds constitute Excluded Property; (xii) all owned
real property not constituting Material Real Property; (xiii) Margin Stock; and (xiv) any assets
(other than assets owned by or Equity Interests in any Guarantor organized or incorporated in a
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Specified Jurisdiction) that are located outside of the Specified Jurisdictions or are governed by or
arise under the law of any jurisdiction outside of the Specified Jurisdictions, but in each case,
subject to the terms of the Agreed Security Principles (other than to the extent no additional action
needs to be taken with respect to any such assets to create or perfect a security interest in any such
assets). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, “Excluded Property” shall not include any
Proceeds, substitutions or replacements of any “Excluded Property” referred to in clauses (i)
through (xiv) (unless such Proceeds, substitutions or replacements would itself or themselves
independently constitute “Excluded Property” referred to in any of clauses (i) through (xiv)). Each
category of Collateral set forth above shall have the meaning set forth in the UCC or PPSA, as
applicable (to the extent such term is defined in the UCC or PPSA, as applicable).

“Excluded Subsidiaries” means any Subsidiary of any Holding Company that is not
itself a Holding Company or a Borrower and that is: (a) listed on Schedule 1.02 as of the Closing
Date; (b) [reserved]; (c¢) any not-for-profit Subsidiary; (d) a Joint Venture or a Subsidiary that is
not otherwise a wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiary (other than any such Person that becomes a
non-wholly owned Subsidiary after the Closing Date as a result of the issuance of directors’
qualifying shares); (¢) an Immaterial Subsidiary; (f) [reserved]; (g) a Captive Insurance Subsidiary
or other special purpose entity; (h) prohibited by any applicable Requirement of Law or contractual
obligation from guaranteeing or granting Liens to secure any of the Secured Obligations or with
respect to which any consent, approval, license or authorization from any Governmental Authority
would be required for the provision of any such guaranty (but in the case of such guaranty being
prohibited due to a contractual obligation, such contractual obligation shall have been in place at
the Closing Date or at the time such Subsidiary became a Subsidiary and is not created in
contemplation of or in connection with such Person becoming a Subsidiary); provided that each
such Restricted Subsidiary shall cease to be an Excluded Subsidiary solely pursuant to this clause
(h) if such consent, approval, license or authorization has been obtained (it being understood and
agreed that no Loan Party or Restricted Subsidiary shall be required to seek any such consent,
approval, license or authorization); (i) with respect to which the Required Lenders reasonably
determine (in consultation with the Borrower Representative) that guaranteeing or granting Liens
to secure any of the Secured Obligations could result in Adverse Tax Consequences (for the
avoidance of doubt, the exclusion in this clause (i) shall not apply to any Restricted Subsidiary that
is organized or incorporated in a Specified Jurisdiction and would be an Excluded Subsidiary
pursuant to this clause (i) solely as a result of the application of Section 951 or 956 of the Code
(or any successor provision) or the provisions of section 18, Part XIII or section 212.3 of the
Canadian Tax Act (or any successor provisions thereof) or such Restricted Subsidiary’s status as
a CFC); (j) with respect to which the Borrower Representative and the Required Lenders
reasonably agree that the cost and/or burden of providing a guaranty of the Secured Obligations
outweighs the benefits to the Lenders (for the avoidance of doubt, the exclusion in this clause (j)
shall not apply to any Restricted Subsidiary that is organized or incorporated in a Specified
Jurisdiction and would be an Excluded Subsidiary pursuant to this clause (j) solely as a result of
the application of Section 951 or 956 of the Code (or any successor provision) or such Restricted
Subsidiary’s status as a CFC); (k) a direct or indirect Subsidiary (other than any Restricted
Subsidiary organized or incorporated in a Specified Jurisdiction) of an Excluded Subsidiary; (1)
[reserved]; (m) organized or incorporated outside of a Specified Jurisdiction or, in each case, any
state, province, territory or jurisdiction thereof, (n) [reserved] and (o) any Restricted Subsidiary
acquired pursuant to a Permitted Acquisition or other permitted Investment that, at the time of such
Permitted Acquisition or other permitted Investment, has assumed secured Indebtedness permitted
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hereunder and not incurred in contemplation of such Permitted Acquisition or other Investment
and each Restricted Subsidiary that is a Subsidiary thereof that guarantees such Indebtedness, in
each case to the extent (and solely for so long as) such secured Indebtedness prohibits such
Restricted Subsidiary from becoming a Guarantor (provided that each such Subsidiary shall cease
to be an Excluded Subsidiary under this clause (o) if such secured Indebtedness is repaid or
becomes unsecured, if such Restricted Subsidiary ceases to be an obligor with respect to such
secured Indebtedness or such prohibition no longer exists, as applicable).

“Excluded Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Loan Party, any Swap
Obligation if, and to the extent that, all or a portion of the Guarantee of such Loan Party of, or the
grant by such Loan Party of a security interest pursuant to the Security Documents to secure, such
Swap Obligation (or any Guarantee thereof) is or becomes illegal or unlawful under the
Commodity Exchange Act or any rule, regulation or order of the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission (or the application or official interpretation of any thereof) by virtue of such Loan
Party’s failure for any reason to constitute an “eligible contract participant” as defined in the
Commodity Exchange Act at the time the Guarantee of such Loan Party or the grant of such
security interest would otherwise have become effective with respect to such related Swap
Obligation but for such Loan Party’s failure to constitute an “eligible contract participant™ at such
time.

“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to any Recipient:

(a) Taxes imposed on or measured by such Recipient’s overall net income or
profits, and franchise Taxes imposed in lieu of overall net income or profits Taxes and branch
profits Taxes, in each case imposed (x) by the jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof)
under the laws of which such Recipient is organized, in which its principal office is located or, in
the case of any Lender, in which its applicable lending office is located or (y) as a result of a
present or former connection between the Recipient and the jurisdiction of the Governmental
Authority imposing such Tax (other than any such connection arising solely from (i) such
Recipient having executed, delivered, enforced, become a party to, performed its obligations
under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, and/or engaged in
any other transaction pursuant to, any Loan Document, or (ii) such Recipient having sold or
assigned an interest in any Loan or Loan Document);

(b) [reserved];

(c) solely with respect to the Obligations, any United States federal withholding
Taxes that are imposed on a Recipient pursuant to a law in effect at the time such Recipient
acquired its interest in the applicable Obligation (or designated a new lending office) except, in
each case, (i) to the extent that such Recipient (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, immediately
prior to the designation of a new lending office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts
from any Loan Party with respect to such withholding Tax pursuant to Section_2.17 of this
Agreement or (ii) if such Recipient is an assignee pursuant to a request by the Borrower
Representative under Section 2.19;

(d) any withholding Taxes attributable to a Recipient’s failure to comply with
Section 2.17(e);
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(e) any withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA; and

63) any Canadian federal withholding Taxes imposed on a Recipient as a result
of the Recipient, at the applicable time, (i) being a person with which a Loan Party does not deal
at arm’s length (for the purposes of the Canadian Tax Act), or (ii) being a “specified shareholder”
(as defined in subsection 18(5) of the Canadian Tax Act) of a Loan Party or not dealing at arm’s
length (for the purposes of the Canadian Tax Act) with such a “specified shareholder”, except
where the non-arm’s length relationship arises, or where the Recipient is a “specified shareholder”
or does not deal at arm’s length with such a “specified shareholder”, in each case, on account of
the Recipient having executed, delivered, enforced, become a party to, performed its obligations
under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, and/or engaged in
any other transaction pursuant to, any Loan Document.

“Extended Revolving Commitment” has the meaning assigned to such term in

Section 2.24.
“Extended Revolving Loans” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section
2.24(a).
“Extended Term Loans” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.24.
“Extending Lenders” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.24.
“Extending Revolving Loan Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in
Section 2.24.

“Extending Term Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.24.

“Extension” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.24.

“Extension Amendment” means an amendment to this Agreement in form
reasonably satisfactory to the Borrower Representative and the Administrative Agent, executed by
each of (a) the Holding Companies, (b) the Borrowers, (c) the other Loan Parties, (d) the
Administrative Agent and (e) each Extending Revolving Loan Lender and Extending Term
Lender, as the case may be, in connection with any Extension.

“Extension Offer” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.24.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code as of the Closing Date
(or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more
onerous to comply with) and any current or future Treasury regulations or official administrative
interpretations thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code,
and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any

intergovernmental agreement entered into in connection with the implementation of such sections
of the Code.

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day, the rate calculated by the NYFRB based
on such day’s federal funds transactions by depository institutions (as determined in such manner
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as the NYFRB shall set forth on its public website from time to time) and published on the next
succeeding Business Day by the NYFRB as the federal funds effective rate; provided, that if such
rate shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for all purposes of this Agreement.

“Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s Website” means the website of the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source.

“Financial Officer” of any Person means the chief financial officer, vice president
of finance, principal accounting officer or treasurer of such Person (or, in the case of any Person
that is a Foreign Subsidiary, a director of such Person).

“First Lien Indebtedness” means Total Indebtedness that is secured by a Lien on
the Collateral, except by a Lien on the Collateral that is junior to the Liens securing the Obligations.
For the avoidance of doubt, First Lien Indebtedness includes any First Lien Senior Secured Notes,
the Term Loans and the Revolving Loans.

“First Lien Senior Secured Notes” means Additional Debt or Refinancing Notes, in
each case that are secured by any Lien except by any Lien that is junior to the Lien securing the
Obligations.

“Fixed Rate” means 2.00% per annum.

“Fixed Rate Borrowing” means a Borrowing comprised of Fixed Rate Loans.

“Fixed Rate Loan” means any Loan (or any one or more portions thereof) that bears
interest based on the Fixed Rate. It is agreed that on and after the Amendment No. 6 Effective
Date, all Amendment No. 6 Term Loans shall be comprised of Fixed Rate Loans.

“Flood Hazard Property” means a Mortgaged Property to the extent any building
comprising any part of the Mortgaged Property is located in an area designated by the Federal
Emergency Management Agency as having special flood hazards.

“Flood Insurance Laws” means, collectively, (i) National Flood Insurance Reform
Act of 1994 (which comprehensively revised the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 and the
Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973) as now or hereafter in effect or any successor statute
thereto, (i1) the Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2004 as now or hereafter in effect or any successor
statue thereto and (iii) the Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012 as now or hereafter
in effect or any successor statute thereto and any and all official rulings and interpretation
thereunder or thereof.

“Foreign Benefit Event” means, with respect to any Foreign Pension Plan, (a) the
existence of unfunded liabilities in excess of the amount permitted under any applicable law, or in
excess of the amount that would be permitted absent a waiver from a Governmental Authority, (b)
the failure to make the required contributions or payments, under any applicable law, on or before
the due date for such contributions or payments, (c) the receipt of a notice by a Governmental
Authority relating to the intention to terminate any such Foreign Pension Plan or to appoint a
trustee or similar official to administer any such Foreign Pension Plan, or alleging the insolvency
of any such Foreign Pension Plan, (d) the incurrence of any liability by any Holding Company or
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any Subsidiary under applicable law on account of the complete or partial termination of such
Foreign Pension Plan or the complete or partial withdrawal of any participating employer therein
that would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or (e) the occurrence of
any transaction that is prohibited under any applicable law and that could reasonably be expected
to result in the incurrence of any liability by any Holding Company or any of the Subsidiaries, or
the imposition on any Holding Company or any of the Subsidiaries of any fine, excise tax or
penalty resulting from any noncompliance with any applicable law, in each case that would
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

“Foreign Excluded Assets” means any asset or undertaking not required to be
charged or secured or not subject to any applicable Security Document pursuant to and in
accordance with the terms of the Agreed Security Principles.

“Foreign Lender” means a Lender that is not a U.S. Person.

“Foreign Loan Party” means a Loan Party which is a Foreign Subsidiary.

“Foreign Loan Documents” means (i) the Canadian Collateral Documents, the
Cayman Islands Collateral Documents, the Swedish Collateral Documents and the UK Collateral
Documents and (ii) any other Loan Document which is not governed by the laws of the United
States of America or any state, province or territory thereof.

“Foreign Pension Plan” means any benefit plan that under applicable law other than
the laws of the United States or Canada or any political subdivision thereof, is required to be funded
through a trust or other funding vehicle other than a trust or funding vehicle maintained exclusively
by a Governmental Authority.

“Foreign Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that is organized or incorporated under
the laws of a jurisdiction other than the United States, any State thereof or the District of Columbia.

“GAAP” means, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 1.04, generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States as in effect from time to time.

“Governing Body” means the board of directors or other body having the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person that is a corporation,
company, partnership, trust, limited liability company, association, Joint Venture or other business
entity.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States, any other
nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state, county, provincial, territorial, municipal,
local or otherwise, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank
or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative
powers or functions of or pertaining to government (including any supra-national bodies such as
the European Union or the European Central Bank) and any group or body charged with setting
financial accounting or regulatory capital rules or standards (including the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the Bank for International Settlements or the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision or any successor or similar authority to any of the foregoing).
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“Granting Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(e).

“Guarantee” of or by any Person (the ‘“guarantor”) means any obligation,
contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the economic effect of
guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the “primary obligor”) in
any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or
indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such
Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of)
any security for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for
the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof,
(c) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or
liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or
other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty
issued to support such Indebtedness or obligation; provided that the term “Guarantee” does not
include (x) endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business and (y)
standard contractual indemnities or product warranties provided in the ordinary course of business;
and provided further that the amount of any Guarantee shall be deemed to be the lower of (i) an
amount equal to the stated or determinable amount of the primary obligation in respect of which
such Guarantee is made and (ii) the maximum amount for which such guaranteeing Person may
be liable pursuant to the terms of the instrument embodying such Guarantee or, if such Guarantee
is not an unconditional guarantee of the entire amount of the primary obligation and such
maximum amount is not stated or determinable, the amount of such guaranteeing Person’s
maximum reasonably anticipated liability in respect thereof as determined by such Person in good
faith. The term “Guaranteed” has a meaning correlative thereto.

“Guarantors” means (a) each Holding Company and (b) any Restricted Subsidiary
that has Guaranteed the Obligations pursuant to the Guaranty; provided that, notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary, no Restricted Subsidiary that is an Excluded Subsidiary shall be
required to Guarantee the Obligations, and any Guarantee to be provided by any Loan Party
organized or incorporated outside the United States (or any state or territory thereof) shall be
subject to the Agreed Security Principles.

“Guaranty” means the First Lien Guaranty executed and delivered by the Loan
Parties party thereto, together with each supplement to such Guaranty in respect of the Secured
Obligations delivered pursuant to Section 5.10.

“Hazardous Materials” means all explosive or radioactive substances, materials or
wastes and all hazardous or toxic or dangerous substances, materials, wastes or other pollutants,
including, petroleum or petroleum distillates, asbestos or asbestos containing materials,
polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, infectious or medical wastes and all other substances,
materials or wastes regulated by or for which liability may be imposed pursuant to any
Environmental Law due to their dangerous or deleterious properties or characteristics.

“Holding Company” means Holdings and Ultimate Parent and any other Subsidiary
of Ultimate Parent that, directly or indirectly, owns a Borrower (other than Sandvine (UK)).

“Holdings” means Procera Holding, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
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“IFRS” means international financial reporting standards and interpretations issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board or any successor thereto (or the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, the Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants or any successor to either such Board, or the SEC, as the case may
be), as in effect from time to time.

“Immaterial Subsidiary” means, at any date of determination, any Restricted
Subsidiary that has been designated by the Borrower Representative in writing to the
Administrative Agent as an “Immaterial Subsidiary” for purposes of this Agreement; provided that
(a) for purposes of this Agreement, at no time shall (i) the consolidated total assets of all Immaterial
Subsidiaries as of the last day of the then most recent fiscal year of Ultimate Parent for which
financial statements have been delivered equal or exceed 10.0% of the Consolidated Total Assets
of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries at such date, determined on a Pro Forma Basis
or (i1) the consolidated revenues (other than revenues generated from the sale or license of property
between any of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries) of all Immaterial Subsidiaries for
the then most recent fiscal year of Ultimate Parent for which financial statements have been
delivered equal or exceed 10.0% of the consolidated revenues (other than revenues generated from
the sale or license of property between any of Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries) of
Ultimate Parent and the Restricted Subsidiaries for such period, determined on a Pro Forma Basis,
(b) at any time and from time to time, the Borrower Representative may designate any Restricted
Subsidiary as a new Immaterial Subsidiary so long as, after giving effect to such designation, the
consolidated assets and consolidated revenues of all Immaterial Subsidiaries do not exceed the
limits set forth in clause (a) above at such time of designation and (¢) if, as of the Applicable Date
of Determination, the consolidated assets or revenues of all Restricted Subsidiaries so designated
by the Borrower Representative as “Immaterial Subsidiaries™ shall have, as of the last day of such
fiscal year, exceeded the limits set forth in clause (a) above, then within ten (10) Business Days
(or such later date as agreed by the Required Lenders in their reasonable discretion) after the date
such financial statements are so delivered (or so required to be delivered), the Borrower
Representative shall redesignate one or more Immaterial Subsidiaries, in each case in a written
notice to the Administrative Agent, such that, as a result thereof, the consolidated assets and
revenues of all Restricted Subsidiaries that are still designated as “Immaterial Subsidiaries” do not
exceed such limits. Upon any such Restricted Subsidiary ceasing to be an Immaterial Subsidiary
pursuant to the preceding sentence, such Restricted Subsidiary, to the extent not otherwise
qualifying as an Excluded Subsidiary, shall comply with Section 5.10, to the extent applicable.

“Impacted Interest Period” has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition
of “Eurocurrency Rate”.

“Incremental Credit Facility” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section

2.20(a).

“Incremental Credit Facility Amendment” has the meaning assigned to such term
in Section 2.20(c).

“Incremental Facility Closing Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in
Section 2.20(c).
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“Incremental Loans” means, collectively, the Incremental Revolving Loans and the
Incremental Term Loans.

“Incremental Revolving Commitment” means, with respect to each Lender, the
commitment, if any, in respect of an Incremental Revolving Facility under any Incremental Credit
Facility Amendment with respect thereto, expressed as an amount representing the maximum
principal amount of the Incremental Revolving Facility to be made available by such Lender under
such Incremental Credit Facility Amendment, as such commitment may be (a) reduced pursuant
to Section 2.08 and (b) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to assignments by or to
such Lender pursuant to Section 9.04.

“Incremental Revolving Facility” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section

2.20(a).

“Incremental Revolving Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section

2.20(e).

“Incremental Revolving Loan” means a Loan made under an Incremental
Revolving Facility.

“Incremental Term Commitment” means, with respect to each Lender, the
commitment, if any, of such Lender to make an Incremental Term Loan under any Incremental
Credit Facility Amendment with respect thereto, expressed as an amount representing the
maximum principal amount of the Incremental Term Loans to be made by such Lender under such
Incremental Credit Facility Amendment, as such commitment may be (a) reduced from time to
time pursuant to Section 2.08 and (b) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to
assignments by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 9.04.

“Incremental Term Facility” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section

2.20(a).
“Incremental Term Loan” means a Loan made under an Incremental Term Facility.
“Incurrence-Based Amounts” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section
1.05.

“Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such
Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures,
notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title
retention agreements relating to property acquired by such Person, (d) all obligations of such
Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services, (e) all obligations of the
type described in clauses (a), (b), (c), (d), (f), (g), (h), (1), (§) or (k) of this definition of
“Indebtedness” of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing
unconditional right to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person,
whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed by such Person, (f) all
Guarantees by such Person of obligations of the type described in clauses (a), (b), (¢), (d), (e), (g),
(h), (1), (4) or (k) of this definition of “Indebtedness” of others, (g) the principal component of
Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (h) all reimbursement obligations of such Person as an
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account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty (except to the extent such letters
of credit, or letters of guaranty relate to trade payables and such outstanding amounts are satisfied
within thirty (30) days of incurrence), (i) all reimbursement obligations of such Person in respect
of bankers’ acceptances (except to the extent such bankers’ acceptances relate to trade payables
and such outstanding amounts are satisfied within thirty (30) days of incurrence), (j) all obligations
of such Person, contingent or otherwise, to purchase, redeem, retire or otherwise acquire for value
any Disqualified Equity Interests of such Person to the extent that such purchase, redemption,
retirement or other acquisition is required to occur on or prior to the Latest Maturity Date in effect
at the time of issuance of such Equity Interests (other than as a result of a Change in Control, asset
sale or similar event), and (k) to the extent not otherwise included in this definition, net obligations
of such Person under Swap Obligations (the amount of any such obligations to be equal at any
time to the net payments under such agreement or arrangement giving rise to such obligation that
would be payable by such Person at the termination of such agreement or arrangement); provided,
however, that (A) intercompany Indebtedness and (B) obligations constituting non-recourse
Indebtedness shall only constitute “Indebtedness” for purposes of Section 6.01 and not for any
other purpose hereunder. The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any
partnership in which such Person is a general partner to the extent such Person is liable therefor as
a result of such Person’s ownership interest in such entity, except to the extent the terms of such
Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no
event shall the following constitute Indebtedness: (u) deferred obligations owing to the Investors
and their Affiliates (including what would otherwise constitute Permitted Investor Payments), (v)
amounts owed to dissenting stockholders in connection with, or as a result of, their exercise of
appraisal rights and the settlement of any claims or actions (whether actual, contingent or potential)
with respect thereto (including any accrued interest), with respect to any permitted Investments to
the extent paid when due (unless being properly contested), (w) trade accounts payable, deferred
revenues, liabilities associated with customer prepayments and deposits and any such obligations
incurred under ERISA, and other accrued obligations (including transfer pricing), in each case
incurred in the ordinary course of business, (x) operating leases, (y) customary obligations under
employment agreements and deferred compensation and (z) deferred revenue and deferred tax
liabilities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Indebtedness” shall not include contingent
post-closing purchase price adjustments, non-compete or consulting obligations or earn-outs to
which the seller in an Acquisition or Investment may become entitled. The amount of Indebtedness
of any Person for purposes of clause (e) above shall (unless such Indebtedness has been assumed
by such Person) be deemed to be equal to the lesser of (i) the aggregate unpaid amount of such
Indebtedness and (i1) the fair market value of the property encumbered thereby as determined by
such Person in good faith.

“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or
with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party under any
Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in (a), Other Taxes.

“Indemnitee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.03.
“Information” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.12.

“Initial Revolving Commitments” with respect to each Lender, means the
commitment, if any, of such Lender to make Initial Revolving Loans, expressed as an amount
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representing the maximum principal aggregate amount of such Lender’s Initial Revolving
Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may be (a) reduced from time to time pursuant to Section
2.08, (b) reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender
pursuant to Section 9.04 and (c) increased from time to time pursuant to Section 2.20. The
aggregate amount of each Lender’s Initial Revolving Commitment is set forth on Schedule 2.01(b)
or in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant to which such Lender shall have assumed its Initial
Revolving Commitment, as the case may be. References to the “Initial Revolving Commitments”
shall mean the Initial Revolving Commitment of each Lender taken together. As of the
Amendment No. 6 Effective Date, the aggregate principal amount of Initial Revolving
Commitments held by the Revolving Lenders is $0.

“Initial Revolving Exposure” means, as to each Revolving Lender, the sum of (a)
the aggregate principal amount of the Initial Revolving Loans denominated in Dollars outstanding
at such time and (b) the Dollar Equivalent of the aggregate principal amount of the Initial
Revolving Loans denominated in an Alternative Currency outstanding at such time. The
Revolving Exposure of any Lender at any time shall be its Applicable Facility Percentage of the
aggregate Initial Revolving Exposure at such time.

“Initial Revolving Loan” means a Revolving Loan made by a Lender to a Borrower
in respect of an Initial Revolving Commitment pursuant to clause (c) of Section 2.01. As of the
Amendment No. 6 Effective Date, the aggregate principal amount of Initial Revolving Loans is

$0.

“Initial Term Commitment” means, with respect to each Initial Term Lender, the
commitment of such Initial Term Lender to make an Initial Term Loan, as amended hereunder, on
the Closing Date, expressed as an amount representing the maximum principal amount of the
Initial Term Loans to be made by such Initial Term Lender hereunder, as such commitment may
be (a) reduced from time to time pursuant to Section 2.08 and (b) reduced or increased from time
to time pursuant to assignments by or to such Initial Term Lender pursuant to Section 9.04.

“Initial Term Lender” means a Lender with an outstanding Initial Term
Commitment or an outstanding Initial Term Loan.

“Initial Term Loans” means the Initial Term Loans made hereunder on the Closing
Date, as amended on the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date, pursuant to Section 2.01(a). The initial
amount of each Initial Term Lender’s Initial Term Loan is set forth on Schedule 2.01(a). The
aggregate principal amount of the Initial Term Loans as of the Amendment No. 6 Effective Date
is $394,369,555.07.

“Intellectual Property” means all rights, priorities and privileges in or to intellectual
property, whether arising under United States, multinational or foreign laws or otherwise,
including copyrights, industrial designs, patents, trademarks, service marks, trade names,
technology, know-how, trade secrets and processes, all registrations and applications for
registration of any of the foregoing, and all goodwill associated therewith.

“Intercompany License Agreement” means any cost sharing agreement,
commission or royalty agreement, license or sub-license agreement, distribution agreement,
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services agreement, Intellectual Property rights transfer agreement or any related agreements, in
each case where all the parties to such agreement are the Borrowers and/or the Restricted
Subsidiaries, provided that any such agreement between a Loan Party and a non-Loan Party shall
be on arm’s length terms.

“Interest Election Request” means a request by a Borrower to convert or continue
a Revolving Loan Borrowing or Term Loan Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.07.

“Interest Payment Date” means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan or any Fixed
Rate Loan, (i) the last Business Day of each March, June, September and December and (ii) the
applicable Revolving Termination Date or Term Loan Maturity Date, as applicable, (b) with
respect to any Eurocurrency Loan, (i) the last day of the Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing
of which such Loan is a part and, in the case of a Eurocurrency Borrowing with an Interest Period
of more than three months’ duration, each day prior to the last day of such Interest Period that
occurs at intervals of three months’ duration after the first day of such Interest Period and (ii) the
applicable Revolving Termination Date, (c) with respect to any Term SOFR Loan, (i) the last day
of each Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part and, in the case
of a Term SOFR Loan with an Interest Period of more than three months’ duration, each day prior
to the last day of such Interest Period of more than three months’ duration, each day prior to the
last day of such Interest Period that occurs at intervals of three months’ duration after the first day
of such Interest Period and (i1) the applicable Revolving Termination Date or Term Loan Maturity
Date, as applicable, and (d) with respect to any Daily SOFR Loan, (i) each date that is on the
numerically corresponding day in each calendar month that is one month (or, at the Borrower’s
option, three months) after the borrowing date of such Daily SOFR Loan (or, if there is no such
numerically corresponding day in such month, then the last day of such month) and the date on
which such Daily SOFR Loan is repaid or converted in full and (ii) the applicable Revolving
Termination Date or Term Loan Maturity Date, as applicable.

“Interest Period” means, (i) with respect to any Eurocurrency Borrowing, the period
commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in
the calendar month that is one, two, three or six months thereafter (or 12 months thereafter if, at
the time of the relevant Borrowing or conversion or continuation thereof, all Lenders participating
therein agree to make an interest period of such duration available), as the Borrowers may elect,
or, if the Administrative Agent and the Borrowers agree, such other period whose end would
coincide with a payment due date on the Term Loans pursuant to Section 2.10 or the payment
under Swap Obligations and (ii) with respect to any Term SOFR Borrowing, the period
commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in
the calendar month that is one, three or six months thereafter, as the Borrower may elect, or such
other period that is twelve months or less requested by the Borrower and consented to by all the
Lenders participating therein and the Administrative Agent (in the case of each requested Interest
Period, subject to availability); provided that (a) if any Interest Period would end on a day other
than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day
unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case
such Interest Period shall end on the preceding Business Day and (b) any Interest Period that
commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no
numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the
last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. For purposes hereof, the date
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of a Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing is made and thereafter shall be
the effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

“Interpolated Rate” means, at any time, for any Interest Period, with respect to any
Loan denominated in any LIBOR Quoted Currency, the rate per annum (rounded to the same
number of decimal places as the LIBO Screen Rate) determined by the Administrative Agent
(which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) to be equal to the rate
that results from interpolating on a linear basis between (i) the LIBO Screen Rate for the longest
period (for which the LIBO Screen Rate is available for the applicable currency) that is shorter
than the Impacted Interest Period and (ii) the LIBO Screen Rate for the shortest period (for which
the LIBO Screen Rate is available for the applicable currency) that exceeds the Impacted Interest
Period, in each case, at such time; provided, that if the Interpolated Rate shall be less than zero,
such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“Investment” means (i) any purchase or other acquisition by a Borrower or any of
the Restricted Subsidiaries of, or of a beneficial interest in, any Equity Interests or Indebtedness
of any other Person (including any Subsidiary), (ii) any loan (by way of guarantee or otherwise)
or advance constituting Indebtedness of such other Person (other than accounts receivable, trade
credit, prepayments to, or deposits with, vendors), or (iii) any other capital contribution by a
Borrower or any of the Restricted Subsidiaries to any other Person (including any Subsidiary);
provided that the foregoing shall exclude, in the case of the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries, their
